Growing

Garden-Based Educators

A Thesis presented to the Faculty of Education

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the Degree, Masters of Education

Jacob Eli Kearey-Moreland

Lakehead University, Orillia, Ontario, Canada

January 15, 2023

Acknowledgements

I have many people to thank for their support and encouragement thus far. My parents for raising me to be who I am today, and to my aunt Ruth for impressing upon me the value of literacy, i.e., offering to pay to play scrabble with her growing up. I would also like to thank: my supervisor Michael Hoechsmann for inviting me to participate in this program and for guidance along the way; my committee member Ellen Field and internal reviewer Charles Levkoe for your thoughtful, timely scrutiny and recommendations; all of those who participated in my research; those whose works I've cited and grown alongside with; Laura who provided me with a refuge on which to focus to complete the pre-final leg of this journey; Mark and Josh who never forgot about me and motivated me to resume my academic aspirations as to keep par; M, my fellow garden-educator through this process, without you I would have given up years ago; and Madeleine for reminding me why I started this work in the first place. The bees, trees, seeds and all the garden beings.

Abstract

Garden-based learning (GBL) is resurging in popularity in reaction to a confluence of crises. These crises, involving social inequity, vast economic disparity, ecocide, and mass extinction, threaten human well-being and survivability of countless species. GBL is positioned by proponents as a means of empowering participants to mitigate and adapt. Often unprepared and unsupported, educators seek to sustain and scale success to enjoy the cornucopia of well documented GBL benefits. Through eight in depth interviews with diverse garden-based educators across three provinces and varied settings, we interrogated the meaning of success in the educational garden while mapping an ecosystem of current and imagined support. Cultivating joy, engaged learning, empowerment, and fostering healthy relationships within and between students and their community and environment were highlighted as the primary goals of gardenbased educators. Educators interviewed desired GBL-friendly policies including funding and infrastructure, curriculum-integrated GBL resources, training at all career stages, and community-based support. Consequently, Faculties of Education are uniquely positioned to cultivate and support a thriving GBL ecosystem. Ultimately, critical garden pedagogy adds to the transformation of education to promote the well-being of all humans and diverse life on Earth.

Keywords: Garden-based learning, school gardens, pre-service teacher training, food literacy

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
Table of Contents	4
Chapter 1: Introduction	8
1.1. Personal Introduction	8
1.2. Research Context	10
1.3. Purpose of Study	13
1.4. Research Questions	14
1.5. Study Significance	15
Chapter 2: Literature Review	18
2.1. Introduction to literature review	18
2.2. History of GBL	19
2.3. Situating "Critical Garden Pedagogy"	22
2.3.1. GBL as Hands-on, Experiential, and Place Based Education	
2.3.2. Climate Change Education & Food	27
2.3.4. Public Pedagogy	28
2.3.6. Ecopedagogy	29
2.3.7. Indigenous Pedagogy	30
2.4. Measuring Success	31
2.5. Benefits of GBL	32
2.5.1. Civics, Inclusion, & Social Justice	
2.5.2. Health	35
2.5.3. Academics	36
2.6. Barriers to Garden-Based Learning	38
2.7. Support for Garden-Based Educators	40
2.7.2. Non-profits, Partners & Community	40
2.7.3. Formal Teacher Training	44
2.7.4. Board Policy & Professional Development	45
2.7.5. Informal Teacher Training	46
2.8. Conclusion	46

Chapter 3: Methods "The Seed Model of Research"	48
3.1. Rationale for Qualitative Research Design	48
3.2. Phenomenological Research & Grounded Theory	48
3.3. Descriptive Research	49
3.4. Transformative Approach	49
3.5. Benefits to Participants	50
3.6. Benefits to Society	50
3.7. Interview Setting	51
3.8. Population Selection.	51
3.9. Research Toolshed	52
3.9.1. Semi-Structured in Depth Virtual Interviews	53
3.9.2. Interview Structure	53
3.10. Ethics	53
3.11. Data Handling Protocols	54
3.12. Secondary Data from SCDSB, Focus Group	55
3.13. Results & Analysis	55
3.13.1. Reflexivity of Researcher	57
3.14. Study Limitations	58
Chapter 4: Results	61
Part 1. Participants' Context.	61
Part 2. Defining Success?	63
Part 3. Documenting Support for Educators.	66
Thematic Analysis of Word Usage	73
Summary of Findings	77
Chapter 5: Discussion	80
Introduction to Discussion	80
Part 1 - Formative experiences	80
Part 2 - Success & measurement	82
Part 3 - Support systems	86
Recommendations for a critical garden pedagogy	88
Recommendations to establish a thriving and resilient GBL ecosystem	90
GBL advocates & demonstration sites	90
Post secondary institutions & faculties of Education	90
Municipalities	93

Food Policy Groups	94
Public Health Departments	94
Ministry of Education, Curriculum and Educational Policy	95
Individual Schools	96
Administrators, Trustees & School Boards	97
Teachers	98
Parents	98
Students	99
Third-party organizations	100
Summary of Discussion	102
Chapter 6: Conclusion	104
Contested Space	104
Recapping Research Question & Purpose	105
Why this research is important	105
Research methodology and limitations	106
Concluding thoughts about the potential of GBL to transform education	107
Thesis Epilogue	109
References	110
List of Tables	125
Table 1	125
Table 2	127
Table 3	128
Table 4	129
Table 5	131
Table 6	133
Resources	134
Funding Sources	135
School Garden Resources, How to Guides, Best Practices, Activities and Lesson Plans	s 135
Formal Teacher Training (B.Ed.)	137
Ongoing Professional Development	137
Community Organizations & Networks (Canada)	137
Policy Statements	138
Appendices	140
Appendix A: Certificate of Completion for the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Co for Research Involving Humans Course on Research Ethics (TCPS 2: CORE)	

Appendix B: Invitation and informed consent form for interview	140
Appendix C: Interview questionnaire template	143
Appendix D: Email Invitation	146
Appendix E: Social Media Interview Invitation	146

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Personal Introduction

Imagine a school in every garden and a garden in every school. As a community gardener, seed librarian, farmer, and a student of education, I have witnessed firsthand an increasing interest and participation in garden-based learning (GBL) across society and within educational institutions. GBL has been defined as "an instructional strategy that utilizes a garden as a teaching tool" (Desmond, Grieshop, & Subramaniam, 2004, p. 9). In its broadest sense, GBL takes place wherever and however people garden. As a lifelong gardener - a toddler in my father's overflowing balcony garden in Toronto, a child in our big backyard vegetable garden on the family farm, a community gardener around Orillia and Toronto, and now a farmer-educator - I have found meaning and purpose by growing food and community.

My entry into adulthood, and my first year away from home at the University of Toronto, coincided with the 2008 financial crisis. As I soon learned, crises and gardens tend to grow together (Calvet-Mir & March, 2019). The following winter on February 28th, 2009, I attended a Seedy Saturday seed exchange at Wychwood Barns in Toronto, co-organized by the Toronto Community Garden Network (Newman, 2001). I was so inspired by the hive of urban gardening activities that the next day I decided to seed the idea of a community garden network in Orillia, a project I called the Orillia Community Gardens. It was through community gardens that I had hoped to promote a more socially and ecologically just world that I so often envisioned. Through a letter to the local newspaper and a Facebook group by the same name, it wasn't long before hundreds of people in Orillia and nearby communities had responded to the idea. Within weeks we held our first meeting at a non-profit housing complex which would serve as the location of our first community garden. The diversity of community members and their motivations

represented at this meeting inspired me unlike anything else I'd experienced, and I felt a calling to work to cultivate a community of community gardens - to connect people with each other and the knowledge and resources to grow their own food. Participants expressed interests in health and wellness, climate change and the environment, education, recreation, spiritual and cultural connections, economic concerns, and many others.

It wasn't long before parents, social workers, health professionals, and teachers came to participate in the community gardens hoping to connect children to meaningful learning opportunities. As a 20-year-old man, I, too, thought that this youth-led gardening movement should prioritize youth leadership, engagement, and participation, given the higher proportion of children and youth experiencing food insecurity compared to adults (Tarasuk et al., 2019). Subsequent community gardens were created explicitly in partnership with youth organizations like the Orillia Youth Centre, the Boys and Girls Club of Simcoe Muskoka, and others focused on youth criminal justice, youth social services, and local schools. In these contexts, as a volunteer and without preparation or official training, I was thrust into the position of a gardenbased educator for youth, especially for youth-at-risk, and in the end, people of all ages. Witnessing transformations in attitudes and behaviours among youth participants through their engagement in the community garden further encouraged me along this path. Through my undergraduate studies in sociology, I began mapping community gardens, school gardens, and the local food movement more broadly - so that I could better serve as a pollinator - connecting and supporting otherwise disconnected people and communities through the sharing of seeds, food, resources, and knowledge.

Through this passion for garden-based learning, I have become more than just a garden-based educator (GBE) - I help to educate garden-based educators. Through the Faculty of

Education at Lakehead University Orillia, I have personally engaged with hundreds of teacher candidates at the primary and junior level on the topic of GBL and school gardens. As a community member, I have facilitated over a dozen professional development opportunities for over 250 teachers and outdoor educators on GBL in Ontario, with organizations like the Simcoe County District School Board (SCDSB), the Ontario Society of Environmental Educators and the Council of Outdoor Educators of Ontario. Along with teachers in the SCDSB, our team at Bass Lake Farms regularly engages elementary school students for GBL opportunities, upon which students have expressed transformative results to their teachers and parents, and from them to us. Building upon this success, in October of 2019 we hosted a dozen Student Success (SS) teachers and the principal of the SCDSB SS program for an introduction to GBL. Once the Covid-19 pandemic struck, we pivoted to developing virtual GBL programs for local schools at both the elementary and high school levels. It has become clear to me and others (Blair, 2009) through these experiences that many teachers in the SCDSB and beyond do not have the benefit of personal and professional training in GBL.

1.2. Research Context

Over the past thirty years, gardens in their various forms have been experiencing a comeback appearing everywhere there is space including churches, parks, schools and even surviving the transfer of power at the White House starting with Michelle Obama and through the Trump and Biden presidencies (Bryant, 2021). Since the 1990s, school gardens have emerged as responses to the so-called childhood obesity epidemic and malnutrition (Johnson-Jennings et al., 2020). "If kids grow kale, kids eat kale" (Finley, 2013) is a popular refrain among advocates aiming to empower children and everyone with the knowledge and skills to make better food choices to reduce the likelihood of diet-based negative health outcomes.

By the time of the Great Recession in 2008, local food gardens took on a sense of necessity amid growing economic uncertainty and an opportunity to counter the dominant trend towards privatization and model a commons-based economics (Cangelosi, 2015). By the early 2000s *The Last Child in the Woods* coalition (Louv, 2008), offered school grounds including gardens as a place where increasingly urban, and more specifically, sedentary, and screen-addicted youth could experience nature and an outdoor education nostalgically embraced by previous generations. Environmental awareness, especially around the climate crisis, continues to drive interest in school gardens and the broader local food movement.

In the spring of 2020, Covid-19 shut down schools and economies across North America and the world as part of an unprecedented pandemic response, sending panicked and masked families into overcrowded grocery stores. The sight of empty grocery store shelves, and the widespread stay at home orders, helped to inspire a record number of people to start a food garden that spring (Agri-Food Analytics Lab, 2020). According to the Agri-Food Analytics Lab (2020), nearly one fifth of Canadians, predominantly well-educated people with land access, started growing food at home for the first time. Of this group of new gardeners, two thirds who had children were motivated to teach them new skills and knowledge (Agri-Food Analytics Lab, 2020). As schools return to in-person classes, school gardens could be a strategy to bring students outside - not just to learn about healthy food, nature, and essential life skills - but to ensure adequate physical distancing. A similar conclusion was made by school garden proponents over a century ago, understanding the health benefits of open air and physical exercise in preventing and recovering from tuberculosis and other transferable diseases (Potts, 1914).

In its 2014 report, "Achieving Excellence: A Renewed Vision for Education in Ontario," the Ontario Ministry of Education (2014) included promoting wellbeing as one of its key goals for education, noting the important links between holistic wellbeing (cognitive, social, physical, and emotional) and academic success. School gardens are mentioned several times throughout the Ontario Ministry of Education's "Foundations for a Healthy School: A companion resource to the K-12 School Effectiveness Framework" (2014) as an activity that can improve the social and physical learning environment and student engagement to promote wellbeing.

In the fall of 2020, Progressive Conservative MPP Daryl Kramp introduced Bill 216, Food Literacy for Students Act, 2020 into the Ontario Legislature where it received all party support in its first debate (Food Literacy for Students Act, 2020). Bill 216 explicitly aims to amend the Education Act in Ontario to make food literacy programs, including garden-based learning, mandatory for all grades in an effort to impart the "essential life skills and the knowledge and confidence to grow, prepare and choose healthy food that will support positive health outcomes and help reduce health care costs" (Food Literacy for Students Act, 2020, p.3).

More recently, the Ontario government updated its Kindergarten to Grade 8 Science and Technology curriculum to include food literacy (Ontario Education, 2022). This update explicitly highlights and encourages educators to plan programs surrounding food literacy as one of a few distinct and important areas of focus that promote cross-curricular and integrated learning for "effective and inclusive science and technology programs" (Ontario Education, 2022, p.79).

Supported by the Coalition for Healthy School Food (n.d), the federal government is in the process of establishing a Canada-wide school food program, which could transform food literacy programming encouraging more experiential food skills education including GBL (CBC, 2022).

As the conditions which have preceded the rise of learning gardens press on, we may expect an ever-greater demand for the foreseeable future. On the precipice of learning gardens becoming mandatory sites of learning in a modern Ontario curriculum (Food Literacy for Students Act, 2020) and the fall out of the pandemic, teachers are asked to adapt to a radically different learning environment. As teachers face increasing expectations to integrate food literacy, including gardening, into the curriculum and their classrooms - many lack the benefit of formal evidence-based training and support.

1.3. Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study and this thesis is to explore the phenomenon of GBL from the perspective of educators, predominantly within formal educational settings. More specifically, this research asks the question of how supporting GBE can influence GBL success. As a Master of Education student at Lakehead University in Orillia, I am surrounded by educational researchers, teachers, and teachers in training. As a local farmer I am surrounded by people wishing to learn about food and how to grow it themselves. It has come to my attention that many educators lack access to formal and informal garden-based learning support systems and resources. Therefore, they may not provide their students with this timely, integrative, and potentially mandatory curriculum expectation. If educators do offer GBL opportunities, they may not be prepared to apply GBL to its full potential, or worse, negatively affect students and their learning environment. Gardening programs that fail to acknowledge or challenge oppressive educational forces can perpetuate them. Without adequate training and support, there is a risk of blighting the landscape with abandoned and overgrown school gardens and or cynical students, teachers, parents, and administrators due to wasted resources. In my experience, overgrown or weedy school gardens have often been seen as synonymous with failure especially by

administrators, some teachers and onlookers. However, we must appreciate the opportunity to reframe our conceptions of success to be more inclusive beyond western agrarian or productivist measures that may consider only readily quantifiable outcomes and surface level appearances, such as how many pounds of produce was grown – or how well weeded the crops are or the uniformity of the surrounding lawn. Educators that measure their success narrowly based around how nice the garden looks, may be forever chasing an unachievable and perhaps counterproductive aesthetic ideal, which may detract focus and attention away from the deep value that learning gardens offer. Teachers are first and foremost educators, not horticulturalists, as such, the learning garden is not simply a horticultural exercise, it is about education first and foremost.

The rich, well aged, and turned compost pile that is the GBL literature showcases its potential to deliver a diversity of beneficial opportunities to students and society, increasing health and wellbeing, ecological and social justice, academic scores, and more. The primary goal of this research project differs from the bulk of recent GBL research which mainly explores the benefits of GBL for students. This research considers teachers and educators experiences in garden-based learning and specifically their visions of success, their access to support, and in what ways support for them can influence the success of garden-based learning. The results of this research are intended to illuminate existing support systems available to garden-based educators, and to gather experiences and visions from educators wishing to dig deeper and improve GBL teacher training to meet their various and serious challenges.

1.4. Research Questions

My initial question at the outset of this research was to determine how support for educators can influence the success of GBL. Within this question, there arose another, that is, what does success look like for educators? The research then evolved to probe the perspectives

of educators, and from this the research project settled on these two interrelated research questions:

- 1. How to define success in GBL?
- 2. How can support for educators influence the success of GBL?

1.5. Study Significance

As will be discussed throughout the literature review, GBL initiatives serve as an evidence-based public health intervention to increase physical activity, mental health and nutrition. GBL can also help to raise awareness and participation in environmental stewardship including climate change education, improving our shared ecosystems for the benefit and continuance of diverse life forms. Finally, as a backstop to food scares and shortages resulting from global economic and political disruptions, pandemics and climate change, GBL can help to prepare individuals and communities to achieve food security ensuring human survival.

It is evident through this research and the literature, that there are as many GBL goals as there are ways of measuring them. Defining GBL success depends on the values and mission of an individual or organization, and effective support must be catered to these specifics. In some cases, the goals of students, teachers, parents, administrators and community members can vary wildly, potentially being a source of perceived conflict and failure. The information gathered through educators' experiences could help to strengthen existing recommendations for GBL sustainability (Huelskamp, 2018) and build upon existing GBL planning and evaluative latticeworks that accounts for diverse primary and secondary objectives (Burt et. al., 2014, 2017, 2018, 2019; Diaz et. al., 2018). Through this research we can make recommendations towards the implementation of an educational farm at Lakehead University, to model best practices in GBL. If food literacy education through gardening is to be a mandatory component of the

Ontario curriculum, accompanied by the professional development for teachers to prepare them for this new requirement, we must develop a toolset whereby success can be broadly defined and measured in order to professionalise and improve support for educators.

With the notable exception of Ostertag (2015) there has been limited research conducted in Ontario and across Canada focusing on the experience of garden-based educators and how to effectively support them in developing a critical garden pedagogy. Despite this limitation there is a growing body of literature that will be explored that speaks to the ways in which GBL may purposefully or inadvertently reinforce dominant worldviews and unjust social hierarchies. This research presents a more comprehensive picture of the available and envisioned support systems for teachers wishing to, or required to, introduce critical GBL programs into their practice. Besides fulfilling a legislated mandate, the increasing interest in GBL across society suggests that the role and scope of garden-based educators will continue to grow in popularity and significance.

Through the creation of a more confident and competent teaching force, GBL initiatives can more readily achieve the intended benefits for students and society (Blair, 2009). Research on GBL consistently supports its proponents' claim that it can positively influence students' understanding of and ability to address complex, interrelated challenges. However, limitations in the longevity, scale and scope of GBL projects, can prevent them from achieving the dramatic and transformative results they seek (Blair, 2009; Ohly et al., 2016). To improve the yields of GBL to inspire transformations sought, educators, as key actors within GBL initiatives, must be effectively trellised like plants in a garden, and a new crop of garden-based educators successively sown and cultivated to extend the season. The project aims to identify any gaps or limits to GBL, especially those associated with equity. Finally, this research will dig deep and

explore the motivations, experiences, and perspectives of garden-based educators to develop a better understanding of who these educators are, what success looks like to them - and how to better support them in achieving that success.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1. Introduction to literature review

As a student in the Master of Education program specializing in Social Justice Education, I have deployed a critical lens to this literature review to better understand how social inequalities and crises influence and are influenced by GBL throughout history. As a white, male, English speaking, settler identified Canadian, I have dug up and screened the phenomenon of GBL from my unique perspective as a Euro-Canadian. I acknowledge however that there exists GBL history beyond a Eurocentric frame, and ancient Indigenous agricultural teachings and understandings, although, to meaningfully consider these teachings and stories would require time, relationships and standing that goes beyond this thesis. However, due to the growing role of Indigenous initiatives in the Canadian educational ecosystem, it is important to acknowledge Indigenous pedagogies that are worthy of deeper reflection and attention. Noted especially here is the role of Indigenous learning gardens, including "Three Sisters Gardens" and "Medicine Gardens" which are increasingly popular in the context of Truth and Reconciliation (Matys, 2015; The University of British Columbia. n.d.), driven in part by advocates of decolonization calling for the return of Land to Indigenous stewardship (Tuck & Yang, 2012; Manuel, 2017). Further attention towards Indigenous understandings of this issue of GBL is especially important given the prominent role that European agricultural education plays throughout the colonization of this country and the moral imperative to learn from and remedy injustices.

This review appreciates previously conducted historical reviews on the topic of school gardens (Burt, 2016; Foxcroft, 2017; Green, 2003; Harrison-Vickars, 2014; Hayden-Smith, 2006; Ostertag, 2015; Subramanium, 2002; Trelstad, 1997). Additionally, the review covers concepts such as place-based, experiential education, ecopedagogy, agroecology and public

pedagogy and how these frames have influenced contemporary GBL philosophies and their practical underpinnings, as well as attempts to establish approaches and tools for measuring the success of GBL initiatives. Finally, I will note the well documented benefits and barriers to GBL and explore the role of educators and support available to them.

2.2. History of GBL

The story of the development of a scheme of teaching Agriculture in the elementary schools of Ontario is a long and interesting one. All the story cannot be told here. The sketching of a few outstanding features will show, however, the relationships between the past and the present and how our educational history in this matter is repeating itself.

S.B. McCready (McCready, 1915), Director of Elementary Agricultural Education, Department of Education, Toronto

The deeper I dug into the history of GBL the more I began seeing wave upon wave of people and movements emerging passionately proclaiming GBL as a progressive and timeless human affair. For its greatest proponents GBL serves as an answer to the question of how to best educate children to respond to the challenges of the day. I found it interesting that someone who is so passionate and dedicated to this pursuit as I am, was so ignorant to its origins and complicated histories. In my experience most teachers I've spoken with are unaware of the prominent and recurring role of gardens throughout the history of education, and by extension, the history of our societies. Here in so-called Canada, and more specifically Ontario, there is more GBL or agricultural educational history to be unearthed in the various editions of the Nature-Study Review (Minton, 1980), the first textbooks on agricultural education in Ontario (Ryerson, 1870), and annual reports of government agencies including the Horticultural Societies of Ontario (Potts, 1914), the Department of Indian Affairs (Canada Department of Indian Affairs, 1918), Ontario Department of Agriculture and Food (1915), and the Ontario Agricultural College (O.A.C.) Review (McCready, 1915). Reviewing seminal texts like *Children's Gardens for*

Pleasure, Health and Education (Parsons, 1910) it is evident that many of the same concerns from the turn of the last century which drove interest in school gardens then, are with us today. Specifically, the increasing costs of living, health including mental, physical and the spread of infectious diseases, issues of urbanization and economic instability, the rise of nature-study or environmental education, questions of morality and the most effective form of education for the whole child (Parsons, 1910).

Ostertag (2015) was the first to introduce me to, and complicate gardens' etymological origins stating that "the English word for garden is related to the word for enclosure" (p.3). This complication will be discussed below as we tend towards a critical garden pedagogy. The learning garden then within this traditional conceptual framework aims to cultivate plants and people within an enclosed, and typically outdoor space. As a deliberate educational approach, GBL tends to be focused on formal school settings from daycares to post-secondary institutions, but it is increasingly popular in informal settings such as community and home-based gardens (Agri-Food Analytics Lab, 2020).

Gardens, for as long as they have existed, have served as sites of learning. As early as 300 BC in Epicurus' Garden School (Ostertag, 2015) philosophers and educators have deliberately utilized the garden as both classroom and teacher. According to Ostertag (2015) GBL as it's practiced in schools today is deeply rooted in the Eurocentric classical education philosophies of Comenius, Rousseau, Pestalozzi, Dewey, and Montessori.

Harrison-Vickars (2014, pp. 15-18) along with Subramaniam (2002) discuss school gardens formal pedagogical history from the Middle Ages to the present day, especially the structured union of schools and gardens in Europe and North America inspired by the works of educational theorists like Comenius, Dewey, Montessori, and Fröbel. As early as the 17th

century, Comenius called for a garden in every school (Subramaniam, 2002) a call repeated by Schwab (1879) in The School Garden: Being a practical contribution to the subject of education and reflected today as a stated policy goal of many governments from California (Hazzard et. al., 2012) to Cuba (Bucher, 2017). Fröbel is credited with the creation of the pre-school learning centre known as kindergarten - translated from German to mean child's garden or a garden of children (Harrison-Vickars, 2014, p. 15). Like his predecessors and contemporaries, Fröbel believed that children learn best through experiential, self-guided inquiry and hands-on play in a natural garden (Harrison-Vickars, 2014, p. 15). Kindergartens are now joined to practically every elementary school yet mostly are ironically divorced from actual gardens. In Canada, it was the intention of Egerton Ryerson (1870), the Chief Superintendent of Education for Upper Canada in 1844, that agriculture be taught in every school. To this end, an elaborate garden was established at the first normal school in Toronto to teach teachers how to instruct for agricultural education in 1847 (McCready, 1915). Ryerson, who has posthumously become an increasingly controversial figure, and whose statue at the formerly named Ryerson University was recently decapitated and removed, is also noted as an early proponent of universal public education – including that of Indigenous children through the Industrial and later Residential School systems. In the mid-late 19th century Ontario, some of the first textbooks for the newly formed normal schools in Ontario were written to support teachers in providing agricultural education to emerging normal schools for settler children, which at the time was a core subject (Ryerson, 1870; McCready, 1915; Spencer, 1916).

The philanthropic educational Robertson-McDonald movement at the turn of the 20th century is credited with helping to infuse the school garden movement in the five eastern Canadian provinces (Green, 2003). This work was picked up by governments, notably in Ontario

Agricultural Education. McCready (1915) who served as the first Director of Elementary Agricultural Education. McCready (1915) was in charge of special agricultural teacher training programs which included special courses and monetary grants for school gardens and their teachers who completed the training, established gardens and fulfilled the annual reporting requirements. Spencer (1916) provides us with a thorough overview of the school garden movement in each province across Canada. Around this time, south of the border in response to the existential crisis posed during WWI, the War Department established the United States School Garden Army (Hayden-Smith, 2006) enlisting over one and a half million children, fifty thousand teachers in the cultivation of over sixty thousand acres. Though the popularity of school and community gardens waned following WWII, community gardens began its more recent resurgence in the 1970s, and school gardening picked up again in the 1990s (Gardner Burt, 2016).

2.3. Situating "Critical Garden Pedagogy"

Critical pedagogy, as articulated by Freire (1970), helps teachers and students to critique and overcome structures of power and oppression within their lives. Educators do not always acknowledge and work from the position that society is stratified unjustly "...along social group lines that include race, class, gender, sexuality, and ability" (Sensoy & DiAngelo, 2017, p.20). Gruenewald (2003) invites critical pedagogues to notice and respond to how structures of power are embedded and reinforced within our relationships to place and how critical place-based education can uproot and supplant these structures. Ostertag offers us perhaps the most recent and critical history of GBL in Canada, by detailing how garden-based learning has been utilized by those in power to reinforce structures of power in society (2015, p 52).

Ostertag (2015), as a German-Canadian, takes particular interest in the ways in which school gardens have been utilized to advance patriarchal, nationalistic, colonial and genocidal programs notably in Nazi Germany and Canada. One of Nazi Germany's most popular slogans *Blut und boden* (Blood and Soil) romanticized and celebrated the German peasantry. The Nazis utilized school gardens to embolden youth with the belief in the superiority of the German race and the importance of controlling the land, to justify its violent territorial expansion and genocidal campaigns against Jewish people and other threats to racial and social purity. (Ostertag, 2015).

In Canada, it is widely accepted that the church-run and state sponsored "Indian Residential Schools" (along with Day and Industrial Schools) were intended to assimilate Indigenous children as part of a cultural genocide (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015). It was within these schools that Ryerson and his contemporaries asserted that Indigenous children could learn how to be like white Europeans, in particular more like settlerfarmers (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2015) and where food, more broadly, was used as a weapon of colonization (Owen, 2015) and genocide (Daschuk, 2013). While there, children were forced to labour on school gardens and farms, causing them to run away fleeing (Levy-Mclaughlin, n.d). Meanwhile the children experienced malnourishment and the produce was often sold to the benefit of the state (Levy-Mclaughlin, n.d). Many children died as a result of their mistreatment in Residential Schools and mass, unmarked graves continue to be unearthed. Gardens were grown locally and Waite (1915) in the O.A.C. Review documents her experience as a teacher at the Rama Day School setting up and running a school garden, representing one of the earliest written details of school gardening in my region besides that noted on Chief Island in the 1840s (Town, 2016). To this day, Indigenous children and

communities in Canada remain among the most food insecure while food is central to Indigenous sovereignty, wellbeing and lifeways and its reclamation helps drive contemporary Indigenous movements (Settee & Shukla, 2020).

More widespread research and understanding is needed and forthcoming on the role that gardens and farms played in Residential and Day Schools, how these gardens were perceived by survivors and families, and what role gardens and farms may play in healing moving forward (Toronto Metropolitan University, n.d.).

A critical garden pedagogy is one that recognizes the garden as a place in which the dominant and oppressive ideas of a society can be planted in the minds of children and takes care to cultivate an awareness that these structures are not natural, inevitable, or immutable. Cairns (2018) challenges educators to think critically and consider "...children's different relationships to food, land, and farming given their positioning vis-à-vis histories of slavery or colonization" (p.522), and how these relationships contextualize their learning within gardens. For Ostertag (2015) a critical look at the history of gardens is necessary:

to bring needed complexity and criticality to our understanding of contemporary school gardens and, in bringing this oftentimes difficult past into our obscure relationship with the present, compel garden-based educators to explore and enact our responsibilities in response to social and ecological traumas and their ongoing impacts. (p.51)

McClintock (2018) has detailed how urban agriculture initiatives, while positioning themselves as sustainable and socially virtuous may contribute to ecogentrification, disproportionately benefiting privileged white middle class participants while pushing racialized and lower-income residents further to the margins. Too often in the food movement our organizational boards, staff, meetings and subsequent programs are composed almost exclusively of white settler-identifying people despite a growing awareness that Black, Indigenous and People of Colour (BIPOC) are most impacted by food injustice (Dhunna & Tarasuk, 2021).

Authors like Guthman (2008) and Tarasuk (2001) have identified how these often voluntary, ad hoc, and non profit spaces within the food movement are created and curated by wealthier and whiter people. Furthermore, these programs often exist for the explicit purpose of helping racialized and or low income people overcome some perceived individualized deficit, like a lack of food skills, ignoring or denying the causes of this structural inequality and subsequent deprivation (Guthman, 2008; Tarasuk, 2001). Separate from and in response to these white interventions, Black farmer-educators like Penniman (2018) and White (2018) have articulated why and how food justice and liberation can and ought to take place in ways that address the systemic root causes of social inequalities through interventions that centre BIPOC leadership, and cultivate power through mutual aid, culture, and community.

The literature below argues that GBL lends itself to other pedagogies including place-based, experiential, hands-on, sustainability and climate change education, public pedagogy, critical ecopedagogy, and Indigenous pedagogy. Through these distinct and interrelated approaches to GBL, educators can cultivate their learning environments to meet the diverse needs of their students and the broader community. Kelly and Nash (2021) note through a systematic scoping review of food literacy interventions in elementary schools that while all interventions focused on functional food literacy and over three quarters attended to interactive food literacy, just over one quarter engaged in critical food literacy, such as what we've discussed here.

Growing beyond a critical garden program, agroecologists deploy a methodology that "...inflects a critical pedagogy framework with a land-based decolonial politics, emphasizing the capacity of traditional peasant production and agrarian ways of knowing to address emergent environmental, social, and political problems" (Moore, 2017, p.253). Moore's (2017) critical

pedagogical framework discussion and analysis is especially useful for supporting educators working in and with historically and presently marginalized and oppressed communities, like Indigenous students, whose lives and futures are threatened by colonial educational systems.

GBL initiatives can support a movement to promote agroecology (Ferguson et al., 2019; Isaac et al., 2018; Laforge and Levkoe, 2018) by integrating and normalizing agroecological values, principles and practices among a general population where such exposure is often limited.

Ultimately, it is important to integrate a critical perspective to support educators in acknowledging the broader historical and ethical considerations embedded within school gardens and to adopt critical garden pedagogies that can lead to deeper learning for all students, empowering them to confront persisting injustices beyond the school garden to affect greater and longer lasting change. Fundamentally, it is essential for all actors seeking to foster social justice to listen closely to and empower those experiencing the injustice by addressing root causes in policy and ensuring their representation in leadership and decision making.

2.3.1. GBL as Hands-on, Experiential, and Place Based Education

Garden based learning is seeped in what Greenwood (2011) calls place-conscious thought and experience, which seeks to positively transform students' learning environments. According to Greenwood (2011)

The real challenge to education posed by place-conscious thought and experience is to question the relationship between schooling and the quality of places that all life forms inhabit. Schools, I argue, should be involved in improving the quality of these places, and when they are not, when they are outright ignoring places, they are failing to educate for worthwhile purpose.

GBL can be described in many ways including as a form of hands-on, experiential, and place-based pedagogy. I have heard these terms used together, interchangeably, or in complement, as they relate to GBL, despite their unique theoretical underpinnings and implications.

GBL can be considered a hands-on (Fifolt et al., 2018), constructivist approach to learning (Klemmer et al., 2005, p.452) in which students construct knowledge through their gardening experiences. Monaghan et al. (2017), reflecting on John Dewey's (1938) experiential learning theory, and Kolb's (1984) more recent contributions, make the case that "students learn best when they are active and engaged in topics relevant to their personal interests and goals" (2017). It may seem obvious that students learn more by doing something, rather than by simply reading about it. However, the theory of experiential learning is more than just learning by doing. As laid out by Kolb, experiential learning theory involves four distinct processes: concrete experience (CE), reflective observation, abstract conceptualization, and active experimentation (Monaghan et al, 2017, Kolb, 1984, p.30). According to Monaghan (2017), pedagogical approaches that rely on the mere hands-on experience of an activity may "lead to an overemphasis on CE and a failure to provide students with the complete set of learning experiences required to construct meaningful mental models of what they learn in the lab or field setting and encourage higher cognitive thinking" (p.751).

Green (2007) argues that food gardens help to develop a "sense of place that involves an attachment, a belonging and commitment to the garden" (2007, p.6). Sobel (2004) documented through the ground-breaking Standards for Excellence in Educational Research (SEER) Report how place-based education that engages service learning outside of the physical and metaphorical walls of the classroom, such as within a school garden, can improve a host of scores related to school achievement.

2.3.2. Climate Change Education & Food

Climate Change Education (CCE) aims to teach students about the causes and impacts of anthropocentric climate change and ways to mitigate and adapt to the imminent and existential

threats it poses (Stevenson et al., 2017). Food systems as a whole are claimed to account for approximately one third of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions, and agriculture/land use account for 71% of that (Crippa et al., 2021). Given the significant and intimate relationship between food production and climate change, and devastating climate impacts on agriculture and food security, there is a growing body of research that documents the potential of learning gardens as tools for climate change education (Armstrong et al., 2018; Sellman & Bogner, 2013). However, this intersection of food, gardens and climate remains a relatively underexplored component of CCE (Corrochano et al., 2022.). Meanwhile, a majority of educators surveyed in Canada report feeling unprepared to teach climate change (Field, Schwartzberg & Berger, 2019), let alone teach climate change education through GBL. This gap represents a significant opportunity to support teachers to round out their approaches to CCE through a comprehensive program to promote climate justice and sustainable food systems (Lee, 2010).

2.3.4. Public Pedagogy

To contextualize the re-emergence of GBL during the late twentieth and early twenty-first-century, community gardens can be situated within a broader food movement which seeks transformations across food systems and society to meet pressing local and global challenges (Datta, 2016; Finley, 2013). Walter (2013) highlights the public pedagogical place occupied by community gardens for the food movement, especially valuable for adult learners in non-school settings. Finley (2013) demonstrates through his popular Ted Talk how a small boulevard garden in South Central L.A. can serve as a site of public pedagogy, where everyone is invited to learn and engage in a new and just food system. Datta (2016) explains the role of community gardens as both formal and informal sites of cultural learning and exchange between diverse people and non-human beings. Public pedagogy according to Walter (2013) encompasses all the types and

sites of learning that take place outside of formal educational institutions, including popular culture, libraries, museums, galleries, social activism and community gardens. Walter (2013, p.522) suggests that adult learning within social movements can be categorized into four streams: informal, self-directed, incidental and non-formal. Where much of the literature on GBL focuses on school gardens that occur in conjunction with formal education, critical learning opportunities abound for all participants whether they be students or community members. Using a public pedagogical lens enables a clearer view of all the ways in which community and school gardens, as much as they involve the community, exist outside of formal educational structures and can be seen as valuable sites of GBL.

2.3.6. Ecopedagogy

Writers like Kahn (2010) have watered the seeds of critical pedagogy sown by Freire and Illich, developing a potential resolution through ecopedagogy to the perennial domination of humans over one another, and humans over nature and other life forms. Not only critical of oppressive social hierarchies, ecopedagogy is a diffuse response to the existential ecological crisis (Kahn, 2010). Ecopedagogues integrate social and ecological justice education, decentering humanity through a biocentric worldview, recognizing the inherent value and worth of all living beings towards an interspecies harmony (Kahn, 2010). Kahn positions the "TEK" or Traditional Ecological Knowledge of Indigenous Peoples as a "real science for planetary citizenship and sustainability" (2010, p.107). TEK is foundational to agroecology described by quantum physicist and Earth Democrat, Vandana Shiva (1993). Shiva (1993) is critical of agricultural, social and mental monocultures advanced through western science, capitalism and colonialism to the exclusion and extinction of bio-cultural diversity, which she claims is necessary for life, health and wealth. Ecopedagogy on the other hand is diverse and evolving

(Kahn, 2010) and is an emergent concept taking numerous forms (Nakagawa, 2017: Norat, Herrería, & Rodríguez, 2016) including, towards an ecophilia or "love of nature" (Hung, 2017, p.45).

2.3.7. Indigenous Pedagogy

The First Nations Holistic Lifelong Learning Model (Stroink et al., 2010) offers that the purpose of learning, in short, is "to develop the skills and wisdom that will ensure the sustainability of life" (p.24). Through the design and implementation of an Indigenous health promoting learning garden in partnership with two Anishnawbe First Nations in northwestern Ontario, Ginoogaming and Aroland, Stroink et al. (2010) detail an alternative conception of gardening beyond tending to a bounded, enclosed space. Specifically, gardening is conceived as

the sustainable tending of any environment, forest, backyard, or community field, to produce indigenous healthy foods. As such, learning in the Learning Garden is viewed through the lens of the cyclical, interconnected, life-and health-sustaining garden, and is therefore profoundly placebased, experiential, and holistic. (Stroink et al., 2010, p.24).

Indigenous pedagogies envision the Land as teacher and call for decolonization and a deep respect and reciprocity towards all of creation (Simpson, 2014). "Aki" (Simpson, 2014, p.7) means the Land in Anishinaabemowin and is the primary source of education and intelligence for Indigenous peoples. Gardens, or Gitigaan in Anishinaabemowin (meaning "Spotted Earth" (Paradigm Pictures, 2019)), play the role of teacher in William Kingfisher's curation of *enawendewin/relationships*, acting as entities with whom we may communicate and learn from (Artspace, 2019). Those who inhabit the garden are also teachers and students, like spiders who teach us to spin threads, life lessons and stories (Ostertag, 2018), and plants, who according to Kimmerer (2013) "...teach in a universal language: food" (p.129). Wiseman (2018) and White (2018) challenge the dominant colonial view that seeds are inanimate commodities by acknowledging them as teachers and relatives whom we share sacred duties and reciprocal

relationships central to Indigenous learning and lifeways. According to Shiva (1993) "The diverse seeds now being pushed to extinction carry within them seeds of other ways of thinking about nature, and other ways of producing for our needs" (p.6). An Indigenous pedagogical lens invites us to see the Earth itself and every inhabitant as both teacher and student, resisting oppressive, top-down and monocultural education in favour of life affirming alternatives (Simpson, 2014) that together promote mino-bimaadiziwin or the good life for Anishinaabe and other Indigenous peoples (Klein, 2013; Landry et al., 2019).

A number of Indigenous-led gardens are being planted at post-secondary and other educational institutions, including Lakehead University (Matys, 2015), often taking the form of medicinal gardens that promote traditional plant medicines (The University of British Columbia, n.d.) among other teachings. Gardening has been demonstrated to be an effective holistic health intervention for Indigenous peoples and children (Johnson-Jennings et al., 2020; Stroink et al. 2010). The organization First Nations Child and Family Caring Society (2020) have launched the campaign *Honouring Memories, Planting Dreams* encouraging children to plant "heart gardens" to honour survivors and those lost to Residential Schools, with the hope of advancing the calls to action of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission.

2.4. Measuring Success

How success is conceived and measured in GBL is largely taken for granted in the literature, as researchers consider success largely as measurable outcomes in individual student achievement (Cairns, 2018). Cairns challenges this mainstream measure of success as a neoliberal encroachment into the alternative food movement (2018). Neoliberalism in this case is understood as a hegemonic ideology and political-economic system that seeks to undo state regulation in the economy and society in favour of free market exchange for all goods and

services (Hayes-Conroy, 2010). Cairns offers an alternative analysis based on social reproduction feminism that considers student empowerment through identity formation, relationships, and broader socio-cultural, ecological and political impacts as the more significant and long-lasting benefits of such interventions (2018). This tendency to measure individual and ignore systemic outcomes is typical not only in education but also agriculture (Shiva, 1993), as is the case in other spheres dominated by neoliberal monoculturalism. According to Cairns (2018), "the lens of social reproduction feminism does not limit our analysis to measurable outcomes, such as more nutritious choices or higher test scores" (p. 533). Ultimately, Cairns (2018) is concerned not just with how garden-based learning affects students as individuals, but how garden-based learners reproduce the world around them through their life's work beyond the garden.

Tools to measure the success of school gardens have been developed by Burt et al. (2014) and Diaz et al. (2018). Through a comprehensive study of the various components of school garden initiatives, Burt et al. (2014; 2017; 2018; 2019) have developed what they call the Garden Resources, Education, and Environment Nexus [GREEN] Tool. As a means to measure the successful integration of school garden programs, the GREEN Tool (Burt et al., 2017) outlines through a visual map 19 different components, how they are related, and when to implement them, along with a scorecard to assess the success of each component and overall integration of the GBL program. Diaz et al. (2018) through a Delphi study involving 74 GBL-adjacent practitioners in Florida, distilled 38 key measurable outcomes that can be used for the evaluation of school gardens. Outcomes were selected in a three-round process by consensus (two-thirds) from a larger list of 77, ranging from immediate, intermediate, and long term (Diaz et al. 2018).

2.5. Benefits of GBL

According to R.B. Whyte, a supporter of the Horticultural Societies of Ontario and its school garden programs during the 1910s "It is impossible to overrate the benefit of school gardens" (Taylor, 1914, p.51). Without a transfer and advancement of resilient food systems knowledge from one generation to another, and productive spaces in which to practice such knowledge (Barthel et al., 2013), human populations have and could continue to experience deadly food insecurity in the event of crisis events that disrupt existing food supply lines. On a macro-level, for agricultural societies, past and present, survival is a fundamental benefit of GBL in its various forms. This is especially well documented in times of existential or compounding crisis events, evident in the rise of the United States School Garden Army in WW1 among other wartime gardening initiatives (Hayden-Smith, 2006) and throughout the modern history of school gardens (Burt, 2016). In addition to the reproduction of agrarian societies, diverse and interrelated individual, social and ecological benefits are well defined in the literature (Blair, 2009; Farm to Cafeteria Canada, 2018; Ohly et al., 2016). Understanding the full range of benefits of GBL is essential to supporting educators to determine their teaching goals and subsequent pedagogical approaches. The following section is a breakdown of several categories of benefits cited in the literature.

2.5.1. Civics, Inclusion, & Social Justice

Discussing the objectives of the school garden, Joyce says that the "final goal is that of all education — the making of a good citizen" (1915, p 363). The most fervent supporters and evangelists of school gardens and GBL are those who believe that its goal is to cultivate children into happy, healthy, intelligent, curious, capable and caring adults, in essence, what they perceive to be model citizens necessary for building a prosperous nation (McCallum, 2015; Parsons, 1910). As noted through the history of GBL, who and what constitutes a model citizen is not uncontested. The ideal is often determined by groups in power - the imposition of these norms

can generate negative outcomes for those experiencing social injustice (Sensoy and DiAngelo, 2017). The ability to teach civics and democracy is not lost on modern scholars like Levkoe (2006) and Walter (2013) who make the case that urban agriculture used as public pedagogy can facilitate all ages learning on critical topics ranging from regenerative agriculture, social justice to grassroots participatory democracy or food democracy (Hassanein, 2008). Looking at more formal educational institutions like pre-schools, Casey et al. (2018) detail how through self-guided inquiry, gardens can serve as fertile grounds of democratic citizenship and social studies education for children as young as three and four years old. Wolsey and Lapp (2014) speak to the connection between school gardening and Global Citizenship education, an expansive notion of citizenship that can go beyond borders and help students to consider issues such as human rights including the right to food (De Schutter, 2012) as part of a new food citizenship (MacRae and Welsh, 1998).

Dyment and Bell (2008) argue for the potential of GBL initiatives to promote social inclusion with respect to race, class, gender and ability. GBL has been demonstrated to promote school connectedness and transformative benefits for marginalised students like those engaged in the Jones Valley Teaching Farm in Birmingham, Alabama (Fifolt et. al, 2018) or the high school dropouts who through the re-creation of a traditional Native American Yaqui garden, found restorative healing for themselves (Sandler et al., 1995). Similarly, the Farm School NYC was founded to "train New York City residents in UA in order to build self-reliant communities and inspire positive local action around food access and social, economic, and racial justice issues" (Reynolds, 2017). Guerrero (2017) provides a relatively comprehensive resource guide for inclusion in school gardens especially for learners with diverse physical and cognitive abilities. Case studies like these demonstrate how life-saving lessons that combine environmental and

social justice can be successfully learned through GBL for all ages in formal and informal settings.

2.5.2. Health

Creating healthy schools is at the forefront of growing interest in GBL (Community Garden Council of Waterloo Region, 2016). Health through nutrition, in particular, is cited as a primary benefit and driver of the latest wave of GBL by proponents including teachers, parents, community members and public health workers (Harrison-Vickars, 2014; Huelskamp, 2018). Ohly et al., (2016) document various health benefits of GBL, and the factors that help or hinder their success in a systematic literature review. Such benefits include physical health stemming from exercise (Wells et al., 2014), diet and healthy eating habits, (Graham et al., 2004; Hebert et al., 2014; Wright & Rowell, 2010), mental health (Hall & Knuth, 2019) and wellbeing (Malberg Dyg & Wistoft, 2018) related to what Williams (2015) calls regenerative hope, a unique brand of hope cultivated through agency and action inspired in learning gardens. A lack of curriculum integration and external support may limit benefits (Ohly et al., 2016).

Horticultural therapy (Bruce, 2013), worth noting, is a unique approach that aims to improve mental health through the practice of horticulture. Ohly et al. (2016) in their review determined that while most of the quantitative research suggested modest health benefits, their conclusions were weakened by methodological limitations, especially the size and duration of the interventions. Where the qualitative studies suggest even more significant health benefits, these conclusions again were generally unsupported by the quantitative evidence (Ohly et al. 2016). Notably, Ohly et al. (2016) suggest that the greatest health benefits are available to students with unique educational needs, including lower income, racially diverse or otherwise marginalized students (Greer, 2019; Ruiz-Gallardo, 2013) and who are not served well by traditional classroom instruction.

2.5.3. Academics

Where GBL takes place within formal educational settings like schools, educators need to understand and demonstrate the academic value of GBL (Graham et al., 2005) as a key element of success, especially in the eyes of administrators. According to Harrison-Vickars (2014) "A fairly well-rounded evidence base has been established in regards to academic achievement supported by GBL" (p.19) a sentiment confirmed through a systematic review of research into the academic benefits of GBL (Williams and Dixon, 2013). Much has been said about the benefits of GBL towards science education (Williams and Dixon, 2013) and science teachers' strategies (Cross & Khan, 2018), where it has been shown to result in the greatest benefits (Williams & Dixon, 2013). While less has been said about other subjects like math, literacy, and arts, the garden provides ample opportunity to integrate curriculum expectations from any subject matter.

2.5.3.1 - Science

Naturally, science is another major area of interest for GBL. Rye et al., (2012) make a strong case and offer resources for the integration of GBL and science instruction for all grade levels. Rahm and Grimes (2005) detail a unique youth gardening initiative that merges entrepreneurship and science education in a way that embeds the learning within the everyday activities of the program. This embedded learning is a common thread running through GBL, offering opportunities to learn by experimenting, inspiring the idea that gardens are not just classrooms but laboratories (Burns and Miller, 2012; Life Lab, n.d.). In support of scientific achievement, according to Harrison-Vickars (2014) "Blair (2009) conducted a meta-analysis and found 9 of 12 studies revealed a positive difference in test measures between gardening and non-gardening students. School gardening increased the science scores in all reported studies (Blair 2009)"

(p.19). Lebo and Eames (2015) share how educators can utilize a permaculture approach, especially through interactive field trips, to make science education more relevant and engaging for students.

Outside of schools, botanical gardens are a popular place in which science education occurs (Zhai and Dillon, 2014). Zhai and Dillon (2014) critically examine the pedagogical approaches of botanic garden educators who in their survey typically deployed a non-interactive and authoritative approach to science communication. Zhai and Dillon (2014) recommended a more educator-student dialogic approach involving more open-ended questions and opportunities for students to meaningfully engage in the learning process, rather than simply being told what to learn, an approach common under the banking model of education described by Freire (1970).

Science and technology frequently appear together, and the garden provides many opportunities to develop and deploy technologies. Jon Schneller et al., (2015) document the role of technology in the creation of an indoor hydroponic and aquaponic garden initiative and how the use of technology can engage students' diverse interests, but also expand the potential for GBL for learners in northern communities or other places limited by space and climate.

2.5.3.2 - Math

The design and layout aspects of gardens in particular provide opportunities for understanding concepts related to measurement (Selmer, 2016), but countless questions may arise that advance diverse math objectives (Ürey et al., 2013). My friend, fellow community gardener and colleague at Lakehead Orillia, Linda Grant (Grant, 2017) has described in depth her case study that contextualized math education for First Nations students in a school garden. Grant states, "garden-based learning contextualizes mathematics in real-world examples, which gives students concrete activities within which they can use their mathematics skills" (2018, p.34). As a core

subject area in school curriculums, integrating math and GBL is an important approach given the tendency of school boards to measure student success based on academic achievement in core subject areas like math and literacy. For this Indigenous community, in particular, Grant documented the rich and varied learning opportunities enabled through outdoor, culturally responsive and holistic mathematical inquiry contextualized in a school garden (Grant, 2018).

2.5.3.3 - Literacy and Other Subjects

Whether through verbal or written instruction, reading seed packets, daily journaling of one's gardening experience (Parsons, 1910), literacy instruction can happen both explicitly and incidentally throughout school gardens (Pascoe & Wyatt-Smith, 2013). Furthermore, according to Green, "garden-based learning should not be viewed as an adjunct to the primary curriculum but rather as an interdisciplinary portal through which places and subjects can be explored and woven together" (2008, p. 15). The diversity of types of learning gardens and the activities that they encourage provide opportunities for ambitious educators to integrate all curricular subjects including literacy (Pascoe & Wyatt-Smitt, 2013), ecoliteracy (Gaylie, 2008), food literacy (Kelly and Nash, 2021), agricultural literacy (Desmond et al., 2004), arts (Inwood, 2006), special education (Rye et al., 2012) and more (Williams and Dixon, 2013).

2.6. Barriers to Garden-Based Learning

GBL has recurring challenges that contribute to their failure and discontinuation (McCready, 1915). For starters, in our cold northern climate, one of the first hesitations I hear from educators is what happens to and who looks after the garden during summer vacation, or after the teacher who started it moves on. McCready discusses in an O.A.C. Review article titled *Care of school gardens during summer vacation* (1915) that summer care ought to be one of the

first considerations and that planning ought to occur a year ahead and in cooperation with the broader school community among other useful suggestions. McCready also offers this warning:

It is better not to commence a garden at all in most cases, than to demonstrate only a failure. One year's failure will ordinarily be more convincing of the uselessness of school gardening as an educational enterprise than several years of successful gardening will be convincing of their usefulness. (1915, p.452)

I know McCready's prophetic warning to be valuable as the frequent discontinuation of GBL initiatives is something I have personally witnessed in the Orillia area, as have others including Harrison-Vickars (2014, p.118).

Such barriers were well understood a century ago and they are similar today (Austin, 2017; Haase, 2020, Yu, 2012). Austin (2017) confirms through their research such challenges, including garden maintenance, curriculum overload and linkages, risk management, weather & climate, resources, transitions of key personnel, vandalism, and the unique challenges experienced by new teachers. In terms of supporting educators, Austin (2017) noted a key discovery through her survey of teachers in Ireland engaged in GBL, that while challenges may arise and persist, teachers surveyed believed that "...benefits of the garden completely outweighed the challenges faced" (p.46). Stempel (2019) offers us a discussion and suggestions for overcoming unique challenges affecting lower income communities in sustaining GBL initiatives, such as best practices and resources for teachers to make efficient use of what they have available. Yu (2012) examines barriers to garden-based learning by investigating the common reasons for which they are discontinued, illuminating a gap in the research regarding the longevity and sustainability of school gardens. Yu's (2012) research has the benefit of a relatively large sample size of garden-based educators (n=1,301) including extant (n=1166) and discontinued (n=135) initiatives, albeit with the vast majority based in the USA (p.12). A detailed questionnaire allowed Yu (2012) to more confidently uncover the primary challenges

perceived by educators, which generally correspond to the existing literature and expert consensus on school garden barriers (Webb, Diaz & Campbell, 2018). Yu (2012) however distills these challenges into two essential concerns "...a lack of broad-based support and a lack of strategic planning" (p.62). Hoover et al. (2021) through a review of over 100 school gardens in the Austin area suggest that unsuccessful school gardens were far more likely to lack funding, community and student engagement, garden committees, teacher training and curriculum supports, and adequate school board and administrative support. Haase (2020) has reached similar conclusions after conducting the most recent and local investigation into the challenges and opportunities for school gardens in Ontario by gathering and discussing the experiences of ten teachers and garden facilitators.

2.7. Support for Garden-Based Educators

The major question of this thesis is to determine in what ways can support for educators influence the success of garden-based learning. To that end, I have categorized the various types of support currently available to garden-based educators. There is a growing ecosystem of support that exists to better prepare future garden-based educators and it is interesting to compare these with what has existed historically (McCready, 1915; Spencer, 1916) to help us envision what a robust and resilient system of support may look like in the future.

2.7.2. Non-profits, Partners & Community

School gardens invite many opportunities for community support and engagement from parents and families, neighbours, local businesses and non-profit organizations (Desmond et al., 2004). Harrison-Vickars of Green Thumbs Growing Kids, a neighbourhood non-profit organization in Toronto, helped launch the "Imagine a Garden in Every School" campaign (2014). This campaign is a part of a re-emerging networked food literacy movement represented

provincially by organizations like Sustain Ontario's "Ontario Edible Education Network" (Harrison-Vickars, 2014, p.71) and nationally through organizations like Farm to Cafeteria (2022), Coalition for Healthy School Food and others internationally (Desmond et al., 2004).

Farm to Cafeteria Canada's Farm to School Map (2022), is a "self-reported, real-time tool," that shows at present 589 school garden initiatives across Canada. Mapping what exists offers the ability for garden-based educators to create community and support one another. Accordingly, non-profit organizations and school-community members (parents, neighbours, local gardening groups, public health agencies, etc.) often play a critical role in supporting school gardens and garden-based educators (Harrison-Vickars, 2014). Harrison-Vickars (2014) offers a glimpse of this relationship through a comparative study between two school gardens in Toronto, one that had a community partner (Green Thumbs Growing Kids) and one that did not. Notably, Harrison-Vickars (2014) spoke of the role that the Ontario EcoSchools certification program plays in motivating, and in a way, rewarding school gardens through points towards their EcoSchools certification, even though EcoSchools doesn't offer physical resources.

Innovative approaches to GBL recognize that gardens provide us with lifelong and intergenerational bonding and learning opportunities. Bolshakova et al. (2018) position teenagers as teachers to their younger peers, providing them with a powerful learning opportunity through teaching. This type of teens as teacher program, especially in an after-school or summer break context, can help to overcome some structural barriers to GBL, especially the expectation on teachers to lead extracurricular garden learning activities and lack of funding for facilitators (Bolshakova et al., 2018).

2.7.2.2. Curriculum Links & How-to Guides.

Standardizing GBL can be challenging, given it is inherently diverse, however, there are sufficient commonalities that can inspire recommended lessons aiding curriculum integration (McCready, 1915). The local chapter of the national organization Canadian Organic Growers (Coorsh, 2017) has helped develop curriculum-linked gardening workshops they offer to schools in the Ottawa area through their Growing Up Organic program (Haase, 2020). In British Columbia, The Society Promoting Environmental Conservation (SPEC) has produced an extensive lesson book for teachers (Gordon, 2014). More recently, The Centre for Sustainable Food Systems at UBC Farm has created seven food justice modules to support educators to bring a critical food systems education into their classroom (The University of British Columbia, n.d.).

For educators seeking theoretical and practical steps on their school gardening journey and GBL, there are a growing number of how-to guides freely available on the internet which I've curated in the resources section of this thesis. My list however, pales in comparison to the list of nearly 100 food literacy resources collected by Sustain Ontario (n.d.), to engage children and youth, a majority of which revolve around gardening, soil and compost. Numerous organizations have produced guides and lesson plan resources recommending best practices and ideas for starting and running school garden and farm programs. These include for profits (Eartheasy, n.d.), industry affiliated non-profits (Nutrients For Life, 2022), community-based non profits (Gordon, 2014), public institutions such as regional health units (Durham Region Health Department, 2018), city parks (GreenThumb, 2009), conservation authorities (Toronto Region Conservation Authority, n.d.), school boards (Vancouver School Board, 2018), universities (Cornell University, n.d.) and intergovernmental organizations like the FAO (Desmond et al., 2004).

These guides range in complexity and focus, some providing regional or institutionally specific instructions - like how to start a garden within the Vancouver School Board (2018), to more comprehensive guides meant for a global audience such as that produced by the FAO (Desmond et al., 2004). Each guide carries implicit values surrounding the focus or goals of the GBL initiatives, for example, the health unit guides prioritize health and nutrition elements like that produced by the Durham Region Health Department (June, 2018) and the Community Garden Council of Waterloo Region (2016). Guerrero (2017) has made a unique guide focusing on accessibility and inclusion in school gardens for learners with diverse abilities from a Universal Design for Learning framework. The guide produced by Nutrients For Life emphasizes the importance of plant nutrients, no doubt to build public support for the products produced by the fertilizer industry which finances its educational programs (Nutrients For Life, 2022).

Some researchers, like Dyment (2004), have explored the possibilities of expanding such initiatives at the board level, in this case, within Toronto District School Board sites. Beyond traditional how-to booklets, others have narrated their experiences and identified best practices for how to start a school farm or garden project (Slotnick, 2010). Slotnick (2010), the founder and director of the PEAS farm in Missoula, Montana writes about the basic replicable tenets of a community education farm at a university with the intention of providing a primer for those looking at establishing their own community education farms. Slotnick's (2010) work and that of Sayre & Clark (2011) detail the history of the student farm movement in North America. Among other pieces of advice, Slotnick (2010) makes a salient point emphasizing the need to "hire a farmer - someone with real agricultural skills and experience - who can also teach" (p.227). In this case, Slotnick (2010) is describing a production integrated educational farm, which depends

in part on the production of food as a source of purpose, funding and sustainability. This school farm concept differs from that of a school garden in scope, but the basic premise rings true: the need to involve an actual gardener, someone with horticultural skills and experience but who can also teach (Slotnick, 2010). Harrison-Vickars (2014) also makes the distinction between school gardens and market gardens, where the latter is typically reserved for high schools or higher education and integrates food production, and entrepreneurship education. Desmond et al., (2004) along with the FAO (2009) have created popular, lengthy and detailed discussions of GBL for the beginning and experienced garden-educator, offering a global perspective, relatively unique among the academic literature on the topic. Finally, we can look to history for still informative guides towards organizing successful garden-based learning initiatives (Jarvis, 1916; Parsons, 1910; Schwabb, 1879; Spencer, 1916).

2.7.3. Formal Teacher Training

As Urban Agriculture Coordinator at the University of Toronto, I met Hilary Inwood at the Ontario Institute for Studies in Education (OISE) and helped plant garden boxes to inspire teacher candidates there to explore garden-based learning in powerful, yet small and symbolic spaces within the concrete jungle (Jagger et al. 2006). The OISE Learning Garden is just one of a growing list of examples I've compiled in the resources section, as to how Faculties of Education are integrating GBL into their formal teacher training programs, as they once did over a century ago in Ontario (Dearness, 1915). Both Zandvliet (2019) and Burns and Miller (2012) offer alternative views of how teacher training programs can integrate GBL and provide a fertile foundation for teachers as they enter the classroom. Specifically, Zandvliet (2019) offers "... a discussion of the potential for using botanical gardens for place-based forms of teacher education" (p.146) based upon an innovative environmental education field course placed in

Hawaii. Through a recollection of her coming to understand Indigenous food/scapes, and a reflection of teacher training assignments exploring "endogenous foodScapes," Ma Rhea (2018) articulates a movement towards critical, Indigenist and Gaian eco pedagogies. Burns and Miller (2016) in particular speak of their experience at the highly acclaimed Learning Gardens Lab (LGL), a partnership between the University of Portland, University of Oregon and others. The LGL acts as a center for sustainability education, offering teacher training in GBL, numerous youth GBL programs, and as home to the Learning-Gardens Educational Assessment Group, which conducts research into the benefits of GBL (Burns and Miller, 2016).

2.7.4. Board Policy & Professional Development

Some Boards of Education in Ontario, such as the Limestone District School Board (2021) have actual school garden statements or policies, which can encourage and provide resources to educators to establish and maintain GBL initiatives like professional development opportunities offered historically (McCready, 1915; Spencer, 1916). Locally, the Simcoe County District School Board, through their seasonal professional development sessions, have made space for garden-based educators, like me, to facilitate resource sharing and professional development opportunities for teachers. Through their work and research Harrison-Vickars (2014) has solicited feedback from teachers, who expressed an interest in attending professional development workshops days on the topic of GBL, to accompany them as they grow from season to season. Presently, it is apparent that much of the professional development that is offered to teachers and other educators for GBL stems from individual enthusiasts through books, online resources, and non-profit organizations and post-secondary institutions. Some examples in the USA include REAL School Gardens (McCarty, 2013), Lifelab's "Garden Educator Certification" (Life Lab, n.d.) and the University of Texas Nutrition Institutes teacher training program (UT

Nutrition Institute, n.d.). In Canada, organizations like Green Thumbs Growing Kids (Harrison-Vickars, 2014), Canadian Organic Growers (Coorsh, 2017), and VanDusen Botanical Garden (n.d.) in Vancouver provide more formal training opportunities to teachers, but much more can be done.

2.7.5. Informal Teacher Training

Teachers informally learn from each other through the day-to-day school experience. Teachers also learn through online and non-academic networks by accessing resources and grey literature (Harrison-Vickars, 2014). Harrison-Vickars (2014) was taken aback by learning how many teachers "...go it alone" (p.120) when it comes to having little or no community support for their GBL initiatives. This do-it-yourself attitude suggests that teachers, if motivated, are capable of acquiring the knowledge and skills to create GBL opportunities through whatever formal and informal means are available to them.

2.8. Conclusion

This literature review demonstrates the cyclical nature of GBL throughout history (McCready, 1915) and its association with social crises (Parsons, 1910). Further, we discussed the dark side of GBL (Ostertag, 2015) and its profound embeddedness within the history and practice of education throughout the last 150 years in North America (Burt, 2016) and elsewhere. Noted here were the various benefits and approaches to measuring the success of GBL, as well as a view of the current system of support for garden-based educators. Timeless texts on the subject reveal a potentially transformative educational practice that is notably adaptable to diverse places, times and goals which is concerned less with teaching how to cultivate plants, and more with cultivating children. While the literature is extensive on this topic, the research

hopes to fill a gap in our current understanding of the role of educators within GBL programs in order to support their further development and success.

Chapter 3: Methods "The Seed Model of Research"

As a seed saver, I could not ignore the similarities between collecting and analyzing research data and collecting and cleaning seeds. I approached both the literature review and the collection and analysis of this large body of information in a similar way that I approach a collection of seeds from the field. Not only are seeds coded packets of information, but for me, their collection and processing represent a similar process to that of data collection and analysis. Rarely am I able to harvest just the clean, pure seed when I am harvesting from the field. Typically, all the seeds and chaff (all the other parts of the plant) are thrown together in one large bin to be sorted at a later date, as was the case for the information collected for this research. The following describes in more detail the methodological process undertaken for this research.

3.1. Rationale for Qualitative Research Design

Qualitative research, compared to quantitative research, allowed me to effectively draw out the experiences of garden-based educators in conversations stemming from in depth semi-structured interviews. As noted by Seidman (2006), the purpose of the in depth research interviews is to draw out the lived experiences of garden-based educators and the meanings they ascribe to those experiences. The data collected through this qualitative study was primarily verbal.

3.2. Phenomenological Research & Grounded Theory

This research is primarily inspired by a phenomenological inquiry aiming to simply describe the experiences of garden-based educators (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). With a desire to go beyond merely describing the phenomenon, I've been further inspired by a grounded research approach that guides the researcher in developing a deeper understanding of phenomena aiming to arrive at a "general, abstract theory of a process, action or interaction grounded in the

views of the participants" (Creswell & Creswell, 2018, p.13). By assuming a grounded approach to this research, I did not want to predetermine or overly shape the participants answers by narrowly defining the research questions to fit within my pre-existing understanding on the topic. According to Creswell & Creswell, "such grounded findings emerging from the data themselves, are frequently among the most interesting and important results obtained during research, even though they may have gone unnoticed during the data-collecting phase" (2018, p.148). For example, while conducting a literature review, I uncovered what I thought were the main goals of GBL, but rather than presenting what I thought were the main goals and asking the participants which they would agree with, instead I asked them what their main goals were, which elicited unexpected results.

3.3. Descriptive Research

I have also been inspired by a descriptive research design (Stangor, 2011) in order to gather a more in depth picture of what currently exists in the way of support for garden-based educators. Descriptive research tends to precede explanatory models, given it is important to describe a phenomenon before explaining how or why it occurs. Stangor (2011) defined descriptive research as "Research designed to answer questions about the current state of affairs", which provides "a snapshot of thoughts, feelings, or behaviors at a given place and time" (p. 14). It is my intention through this research to not only help explain the phenomenon of GBL through the perspective of educators but gather numerous examples and resources to provide a snapshot in time of current GBEs and their GBL ecosystem, findings that are offered in the Resources section of this work.

3.4. Transformative Approach

As a critical theorist working in the field of social justice education, my approach to this research project has been guided by a transformative worldview that seeks to "confront social oppression at whatever level it occurs" (Creswell & Creswell, 2018, p.9). The approach is manifested through the focus of the study, aimed at empowering both teachers and their students towards creating a more just and sustainable society in the face of intersecting crisis events. While research participants were not directly involved in the crafting of the research questions or design, through my position as a Graduate Assistant in the Faculty of Education at Lakehead University in Orillia, I was able to engage numerous teacher candidates in formulation of the research proposal. Through my participation as a garden-based educator, I am aware firsthand of the transformative potential of this work and the limitations on educators to realize it. This research emerged after years of movement organizing and is intended to document the gains made and to propose strategies for advancement towards a more equitable and sustainable future, which includes a garden at every school.

3.5. Benefits to Participants

It was evident during interviews that participants were prompted by the questions to engage in meaningful introspection. This introspection allowed them to consider their work in new ways, along with feeling encouraged to know that their work has meaning and value to the broader community. Some participants noted that through our conversation they felt more confident and knowledgeable. The final results, including recommendations of this research and this paper are intended to be shared with all the participants, their colleagues and the broader GBL community.

3.6. Benefits to Society

This thesis and key results will be presented to the community through a public event and ongoing GBL workshops, as well as be made available in its entirety for public access. The research is intended to benefit society through the improvement of professional development of educators working in the field of garden-based education, related fields, and education more broadly. The findings will also be useful for policy and program development at institutional and organizational levels including school boards, municipalities and other levels of government, and NGOs.

3.7. Interview Setting

Interviews took place throughout January and early February of 2021. At this time, for the majority of participants, their educational settings were snow covered, offering a natural time for reflection. For a couple participants on the Pacific West Coast, their climates allowed for year round outdoor activities, no doubt contributing to their more advanced programs they described. Interviews were originally intended to occur at the educators' sites where they practice GBL, but due to Covid-19, they were instead conducted through the Zoom platform, which allowed for virtual face to face interactions. In some cases, interviewees used pictures of their gardens as backgrounds for added context and to help describe their projects.

3.8. Population Selection

The target population for this research were self-identified Canadian GBEs. As an active member of the local school gardening community, I sent invitations to a number of active local garden educators along with an invitation to share with colleagues. Invitations were also sent to the Outdoor Environmental Education and Healthy Active Living Coordinator at the SCDSB and posted to the Facebook group of the Council of Outdoor Educators of Ontario. These channels yielded over a dozen interested participants, of which, eight responded to follow ups and were

subsequently selected. The first five were selected based on a first-come first serve basis, and two additional participants were selected based on recommendations from other participants, suggesting that they could offer important insights for this research. Furthermore, one participant was selected based on their demonstrated and published interest in this work.

Participants represented diverse educational contexts including roles in non-profit and public education, in both rural and urban settings across three provinces. These participants represented a balance of local representation and a diversity of geographic and professional locations. It was important for this research that participants were drawn from diverse positionalities within the GBL ecosystem, along with strong local influence, in order to produce a fuller picture of the range of experiences of garden-based educators and recommendations that would be valuable both locally and further afield. Furthermore, Seidman (2006) warns of the potential downsides of interviewing acquaintances or friends, in so far as the interviewer may compromise certain aspects of the interview, knowingly or not, in order to maintain the other ongoing relationship. Given my active role in the local GBL movement, it was important for me to ensure that a significant portion of the interviewees were people with whom I had not met or had limited or no ongoing relationships.

3.9. Research Toolshed

Prior to Covid-19, it was my intention to utilize a combination of tools to perform the research including site visits as a tool for data gathering, especially observations, pictures, and video of the sites in which the garden-based educators operated. This visual information was to help contextualize the experiences of GBE, illuminated through semi-structured interviews. In the absence of site visits, participants were asked to describe in detail their garden spaces, as well as submit images or pictures they had taken previously. Educators were also encouraged to

contribute other data relevant to their experiences including lesson plans, policies, and other sources of inspiration.

3.9.1. Semi-Structured in Depth Virtual Interviews

Semi-structured in depth virtual interviews were the sole means of data collection for this research. A semi-structured interview was selected to allow for a group of questions that would remain consistent and guide all of the interviews. However, such an approach allowed for the openness necessary to grow with the flow of the conversation, to ask probing and clarifying questions as needed.

3.9.2. Interview Structure

Before beginning the interview, participants were re-introduced to the research project and its main question, along with the interview timeline and logistics. The interview was structured in three parts. The first part aimed to gather the personal context of each educator's GBL activities, mapping their journey of becoming a GBE, in addition to laying out their current projects, students, roles and responsibilities. The second part of the interview questioned the educator's definition of GBL success, and how they may conceive of and measure it. The final part documented support for GBE, including what support they desired, and how these supports may contribute to the success of GBL as envisioned. In total, 10 broad questions and 19 sub questions were prepared and posed at each interview, however due to the semi-structured nature, unique additional questions were posed to different interviewees. All of the interviews took at least forty minutes and up to an hour and five minutes to complete.

3.10. Ethics

In preparation for this research, I applied and was granted permission from the Lakehead University Research Ethics Board to engage human research participants. The purpose of this

application was to ensure that this research was carried out in an ethical manner, specifically, treating research subjects with respect, and concerning the promotion of welfare and justice. For example, it was important that research participants were not in any way under my authority, such as B.Ed. students whom I may work, or employed by me in other capacities. To avoid more complicated ethical scenarios, I made the choice to not focus my research on or with Indigenous Peoples or organizations, despite the fact that Indigenous Peoples and Indigenous gardens are increasingly active and engaged in this space and deal directly with some of the most pressing issues. With that said, it was likely that Indigenous Peoples may be incidentally engaged as educators themselves or as members of communities engaged by educators researched for this project.

Prior to their participation, each subject was required to provide informed consent acknowledging their willingness to participate and familiarity with potential risks, of which there were few. The potential risks to participants were mainly psychological, including the potential for potentially harmful thoughts, memories and reactions provoked through potentially triggering research questions. Opportunities for healing and psychological growth were also present and both potentials were acknowledged and risks to harm were actively mitigated through consent and researcher attentiveness to the needs of participants. By anonymizing research participants, there is a further reduced risk of injury stemming from a result of potentially personal or embarrassing or otherwise socially harmful information being revealed by this research.

3.11. Data Handling Protocols

The audio for each interview was recorded through Zoom and automatically transcribed, being available for me to download through the Zoom platform. I also recorded the audio on a separate audio recorder in the event of technical failure of the primary platform. These

recordings and transcriptions were downloaded, anonymized, and stored on a secured USB and through my password protected Lakehead University google drive account. Single letter pseudonyms, capitalized, in alphabetical order (omitting "A" and "I"), were given to each participant to better protect their identity within the results chapter.

3.12. Secondary Data from SCDSB, Focus Group

At the beginning of this research, I had intended to include the use of quantitative and qualitative secondary data that was being gathered by the SCDSB for internal and external purposes. However, Covid-19 suspended the ability for the SCDSB to complete the research. The research aimed to gather details regarding the current state of school gardens across the school board, including the number of and nature of garden based learning initiatives ongoing. This secondary data if and when it becomes available would be a useful backdrop against which we can contextualize the in depth experiences of garden-based educators. Other organizations such as the Simcoe County Food Council have also expressed interest in measuring this data as a key metric against which to measure food literacy and related food security in the community (Eco-Ethonomics, 2019). I had also intended to include an in-person focus group to take place at Lakehead Orillia, providing an opportunity to cultivate a professional learning community and to showcase the learning gardens on campus. However, due to Covid-19, in person focus groups were cancelled.

3.13. Results & Analysis

My analysis began with re-listening to the recordings and correcting transcripts for errors. Upon my second review, I began "winnowing" the data (Creswell & Creswell, 2018, p.192) to separate important and less useful information, while manually coding the interviews due to the small data set. In this step I highlighted interesting ideas, quotes, references to specific names,

organizations, and recurring language as part of a *First Cycle* coding process (Saldana, 2009). During this first cycle I deployed a "live coding" technique (Parameswaran et al., 2020), where I coded while listening to the audio recordings and reading the transcript, in order to better capture the voice, tone and feelings that may have been missed if I focused solely on the written transcript. Immediately following each interview, I would write how I was feeling, what I was thinking about and my key takeaways. I began assigning codes for different groupings of information, for example, while participants were describing their own experiences growing up or learning how to garden, I assigned the code "first gardening experience". Later during the *Second Cycle* (Saldana, 2009) original codes were further subdivided to categorize the settings and relationships in which their first gardening experience occurred, for example, at school, home, with parents, grandparents, or at work (such as on a farm, or landscaping company). Results in these categories were collected and displayed in the form of tables presented in Chapter 4. Through this second look I was able to further extrapolate patterns that gave me further insight into the motivations and experiences of garden-based educators.

From there, I collected the highlighted sections and annotations from each interview into a larger document and began grouping them based on emergent themes that corresponded to the distinct interview question themes. In addition, and after reviewing all the interviews individually, I compiled them into one large document where I could perform specific keyword searches. Curious as to how many times certain keywords were mentioned, or not mentioned, as well as by how many participants, and in what contexts, I began compiling a list of keywords based on my previous rounds of coding. An additional list of keywords was auto generated using a word cloud application, providing me with a comprehensive listing of the frequency of each word from which I could note any missing from my original list. Similar keywords grouped

together to form categories from which further meaning could be derived. I have included a full listing and notes on keywords within Chapter 4.

3.13.1. Reflexivity of Researcher

It is important to acknowledge that as a participant in the GBL movement, and as a GBE with a deep academic, professional, financial and personal interest in this subject, this relationship influenced my research approach and interpretation of the results. The information gathered and presented was therefore of personal interest and value to me as I continue to work in this sphere in a professional capacity. Most significantly, I approached this subject from the position that more needs to be done to support educators and that I, among a movement of people, am well positioned to provide that support.

In addition, my positionality as a younger, white, male, settler-identifying person operating in this field presents additional biases – such as the relative importance of this subject and my power to affect change. The participant selection and questions that I have asked are based upon these assumptions. For example, when deciding on participants to interview, I chose only existing GBEs who were easy to reach and who I assumed would likely indicate that they need more support – rather than choosing participants, like administrators for example, that may have other priorities. In hindsight I did not make any special effort to recruit participants from diverse demographics that may have presented challenges to these research assumptions. Given these assumptions and the potential for confirmation bias, I am less likely to have looked for and highlighted findings that may diminish my potential future roles or occupations in this field or arrive at a conclusion that challenges my initial understanding of the topic.

Due to this personal bias, it is fair to be critical of the validity of the findings given the strong incentive I have had to frame questions and interpret the data to confirm my assumptions

of the problem and solutions on offer. However, I believe that the experiences offered by interview subjects leave little room for misinterpretation and that the conclusions reached may be justified independently of my own personal interests.

3.14. Study Limitations

The study was limited in various ways, including by selection and researcher bias described above and below, as well as the small and geographically diverse study population, the lack of previous research into the topic, the uncritical nature of the research questions, and Covid-19 pandemic restrictions on research protocols.

Researcher bias presents limitations for this study, given my role as a garden-based educator (Creswell & Creswell, 2019). With my stated intentions of wanting to actively support other GBE, there is serious potential for bias as I personally know a few of the participants, I have strongly held views on the topic, and I am implicated in the outcome of the research. Another form of bias is response bias (Creswell & Creswell, 2019). It is likely that those who responded to the invitation to participate in the study do not represent typical garden-based educators but are rather people who are similarly passionate and eager about popularizing the practice. Given this response bias, it is likely that research participants, unlike the general population of garden-based educators, may have far more resources and support at their disposal, thus skewing the results.

The narrowly targeted study group was largely restricted to existing self-identified garden-based educators working in primary grades. Given the purpose of this study was to better understand how support for educators can influence the success of garden-based educators, it could have been more illuminating to have included garden-based learners, non garden-based educators, or those who desire to become garden-based educators, to better understand what

barriers currently exist for them to achieve success. Only eight relatively homogenous participants were included in this study (mostly middle-aged women, teachers), which is a relatively small sample size making it difficult to ensure that the experiences, perspectives, and recommendations of participants could be applicable to other educators in this space.

Furthermore, participants were also geographically dispersed in terms of the physical and cultural locations; multiple provinces, urban/rural, public schools, private schools, community based non-profits, thus broadening the scope, again making it more difficult to generalize applicable results. Whereas, if all participants were located in one geographic and cultural zone, like teachers in a specific school board, the findings may be more reliable and useful towards making specific recommendations for teachers in that community.

The study was limited since I was motivated to perform this study to complete the requirements for the M.Ed. program. This limited the scope and scale of the research, as well as the potential timeframe to minimize the overall cost to the researcher through additional tuition fees. This was reflected in a decision to limit the participant number to eight, reduce the data collection methods to focus solely on participant interviews, as well as try to avoid vulnerable populations to simplify ethics requirements. With the benefit of hindsight, I can see now how research design should mesh more closely with the theoretical framework. Given that this was the first formal research I have led, I may have stepped too lightly around the subject matter. Thus, the set of questions chosen may not have dug deep enough into the terrain of community activist garden pedagogy, to adequately reflect the critical nature of this research project. For example, while participants were asked questions probing what support they've had or experienced, they weren't asked why. Consequently, questions of power and justice were not included, which limited the transformational potential of the research.

The study was also limited in so far as this was a broad exploratory study of a topic in which very little research exists as most research into garden-based learning focuses on benefits to students, and not on the experiences of educators. The interview questions were exclusively qualitative in scope, however, in reflection I could have integrated a Likert scale (Creswell & Creswell, 2018), especially as it pertained to the types of support accessed by educators and how much they valued specific avenues of support relative to one another.

Finally, the study was limited due to the introduction of Covid-19 pandemic restrictions on research protocols, including the suspension of in person and focus group interviews, as well as the availability of secondary data through the SCDSB. Notably, the lack of focus groups may have diminished the transformational potential of this research by individualizing participants, limiting their opportunity to form a more cohesive community of practice and together work towards imagining and building upon the recommendations of this research. While hosting an online focus group was considered, the uncertainty raised by the pandemic led me to undertaking a simpler approach to this project.

Chapter 4: Results

Eight in depth semi-structured interviews culminated in over six hours of conversational data, which is primarily subdivided based on the three parts of the interview: the participants' context, their conception of success and what actual and desired supports they have accessed or envisioned. Through comparison tables (Creswell & Creswell, 2018) participant responses to key questions are grouped and presented for ease of review and analysis. Cells occupied by dashes (-) indicate a lack of response by a participant to that category. The pseudonym for each GBE is listed in the left column. For each section, a selection of contextualized quotes from participants conveys their experiences in their own words. Finally, a summary and discussion of search word results overviews central themes emerging from the interviews.

Part 1. Participants' Context.

This section of the interview gathered background information on both the educators themselves, in terms of their own experiences that led them to become garden-based educators (see Table 1, attached), as well as their current roles and responsibilities (see Table 2, attached).

When asked to describe their own experiences learning in gardens, all eight participants described "formative experiences" of gardening as children, seven of which were mentored by family. Of those who were taught by family members, three of the seven credited one or more of their grandparents and the other four cited their parents. G spoke about how they have a "genetic disposition" to gardening saying "... my mother was always a gardener. I come from a long line of farmers and crafters that immigrated from Europe and northern Europe...So I think I have a genetic disposition for it". E described how their love of gardening began with their discovery of mint saying

So my parents were gardeners, my dad, in particular, loved to garden. I remember that he saved marigold seeds from one year to the next. And I thought that was the coolest thing on earth. We had mint growing in a shady spot and it was my favorite plant. I think I discovered mint at like, age, I don't know, three, four. And just like fell in love with the plant and, so it was my first sort of, you know, plant love.

Two cited an influential non-family member with whom they sourced early inspiration, while one stated the "garden was my teacher" and another credited the Land as teacher. Five took part in some type of formal gardening program, three of which participated in a Master Gardener program, which compels gardeners to complete a requisite amount of volunteer hours every year. Two cited permaculture, one in the form of a book and the other took a Permaculture Design Course. Three had an opportunity to work on farms or for landscaping/horticultural companies and three cited influential authors that had inspired them. None mentioned anything about learning about gardening in a school setting as children.

Of the eight participants, two in British Columbia occupied positions within a public school where they had an outdoor classroom and worked as a School Gardening Teacher. One of these school gardening teachers is also enrolled as a PhD student, working as a researcher and consultant in related fields in support of other garden-based educators. This unique position saw these school garden teachers working every class period outdoors and in a garden setting, with different classes. Two participants were classroom teachers in the primary grades but who made use of garden beds at their schools - one of them was also a farmer who runs garden based educational programming through their farm and a local farmers' market, and the other has authored a book on the topic of school gardens and supports other teachers and schools to start their own. Two participants worked for urban non-profits (in Toronto and Saskatoon respectively) that provide garden-based learning programs connected with schools and extracurricular, afterschool settings, one as a program coordinator and the other as a

founder/executive director. One participant recently moved on from the role of a Student Success / experiential teacher where they often organized field trips for students to a local farm and now works as a vice principal for an elementary school who is now supporting their teachers in experiential and GBL related programming at their school. Finally, one participant worked as an educator at a private outdoor focused school where they managed the garden and developed a curriculum linked food literacy program for children in grades K-8.

Part 2. Defining Success?

In order to better understand how to support educators for garden-based learning, it was critical to understand how they perceived and measured the success of their programs. Each participant was asked about their primary and secondary goals as garden based educators (see Table 3, attached) along with how they measure success (see Table 4, attached).

Every participant noted multiple goals they have as garden-based educators. When asked what their main goals were, half of the respondents said that it was fundamentally to cultivate joy in their students. Using the language of joy, E noted how "The garden is a place of safety & joy." B stated emphatically "My main goal, I think, above all else is for the students to experience joy. I want them to have a really positive emotional response and connection to what we're doing - everything for me is secondary."

B further connected how the experience of joy can create a positive and engaging learning environment saying:

... if every time they're out and they're experiencing something new and it's positive, and there's those times when they feel genuine joy or pride or a real sense of accomplishment. Then their connection to the natural environment ... is a good place. This is where I feel good. And if I feel good here. Then I want to help look after it and take care of it and learn more about it and think about it.

H summed up the importance of happiness and wellbeing in learning stating,

I think that's really, really important that kids are actually happy learning, yeah it's hard to learn when you're sad, you know it's hard when you're not wanting to learn so yeah I do I just think student well being, community well-being is important.

G associated being comfortable with pleasure, joy and success stating, "I think for me the measure of success is joyfulness ...It's that simple". Two others said that their main goals were to either foster "student engagement and curiosity", or setting and achieving "student-centered goals", as varied as they may be. One participant's main goal was cultivating horticultural related skills and knowledge and one considered nature connection and stewardship as their main goal.

No one ranked academic/curriculum goals as most important, one participant saying conclusively "it should be a starting point as teachers...but isn't for most." Common secondary goals cited by participants included health and wellbeing (7/8), nature connection and stewardship (5/8), horticultural skills training (4/8), academic/curriculum based goals (4/8), and cultivating joy (2/8). Additional goals cited by participants included: promoting economic self-sufficiency among students, building a sense of teamwork, cooperation, empathy, and care, supporting healthy relationships between people and place, between fellow students, between Indigenous and non-Indigenous students, self-confidence among students and teachers, and a sustainable program that is well utilized by fellow teachers. Unlike the majority, F thought differently about goals saying that success "looks different for everybody." F as a former teacher and now Vice Principal acknowledged the importance of goal setting and how our goals influence our approach to teaching saying

^{...} I think we have to be aware in education of what our goals are, as educators, right, like what was my intention and my purpose for going there. Then the more powerful stuff really comes from where the kids take it, and if you give them the freedom they will take it where they needed to go and that maybe you have a class of 30 kids going in, you know, 15, 20 different directions.

Participants were asked more specifically to describe what they believed success looked like in GBL programs and for their approaches to measuring it. All eight participants noted the role of student feedback in measuring the success of their programs, two of which cited more formal expressions such as through outgoing surveys, whereas the remainder spoke more broadly about student engagement including students clearly having fun, laughing, smiling, and speaking positively of their experiences after the program. Two spoke about the role of parental feedback in measuring success of their programs. Two cited food production as a measure of success, specifically tracking the overall production of produce. Whereas, two cited production as conditional measures of success depending on the goals set by students or garden organizers, and more specifically it is successful if the produce actually feeds the students and their families, even if it's "just a taste" as one pointed out. One participant explicitly stated that production is not a measure of success and warned against using it as such, especially in a school setting. One participant spoke about the triangulation of data for measuring success, and one suggested that photos and videos could be used to help measure success. Two participants noted the importance of changing food related behaviours, for example, students being more likely to try new foods or desire local and sustainable options. One noted how a successful program goes full circle to include planting, harvesting, and eating of the produce and C made the case that success and "real rich learning" stems from cross-curricular programming. One spoke of the use of positive feedback from other teachers who have observed benefits for students. Finally, one said that a successful program is one that is well supported.

E encapsulated sentiments of several interviewees who were critical of the mainstream assessment policies saying, "You're asking a former student success teacher who wants to change the entire assessment policies...". J who works for a non profit corporation outside of a

school setting also spoke to the difficulty of assessment saying bluntly, "That's a tricky one because it's hard to measure." However, they measure success using a mixed methods approach conceding "it's a lot of tracking, we do both quantitative and qualitative" including production goals and qualitative impacts on participants.

B speaking about the feedback they've received from their colleagues says

...I have had teachers come and say, oh, they're so much more focused when they come back, or I can tell, like the way they came back, I can tell. Whatever you did they had so much fun because they were just smiling and happy and talking about it... oh my gosh, they love it, like they couldn't stop talking about whatever it was we did that day, like, you know, making bird feeders, or that the bird landed on their hand.

H spoke to the interplay between support and success, in which a successful program is one that is well supported, that is, it is successful because it is supported, and it is supported because it is successful.

...success is creating a program that's sustainable and you've got all the tools and equipment that you need for the kids and all that. To make it run well but also being supported, I think... to be able to do so, and continue to do so successfully, you have to be supported by your school board. And then the outcome being - is it reaching the community, is it reaching the kids, is it important to them, are they talking about an outside of class, they definitely are, and is it impacting them in any way and I think it is.

As someone who works supporting fellow GBE, G's success in this regard is when teachers become "self-sustaining in their own ability to learn and use their gardens as classroom spaces." G was especially critical of third party organizations who often fill this space, who can bring with them their own goals and agendas that may be contrary to those of teachers and students. For G, success comes when one understands that gardens demand a "growth mindset" acknowledging that "I don't know how to plant corn - yet...".

Part 3. Documenting Support for Educators.

The final section of the interview aimed to document all the currently available support offered and taken up by educators to develop their capacity as garden-based educators (see Table

5, attached), in addition to what they would like to see available in the future (see Table 6, attached).

While six of eight participants received their B.Ed., only two were able to draw any links from their formal education to their current role. Speaking about their B.Ed. experience and whether any of it related to GBL, B said confidently "No, it was non-existent. It wasn't even spoken about." Of the two who noted the connection, one had an opportunity to do a course-related project running a campus garden program, the other noted how their training in experiential education at both the B.Ed. and M.Ed. prepared them for GBL. The other four who received their B.Ed. degrees were uncertain what, if any, preparation they received from their program for their current roles as GBEs. It was the lack of formal support that led G to seek to change that stating:

my teacher training was way back in the mid 90s. I don't know that we had a lot of or any education as a pre-service teacher on how to use school gardens. Although I will say that I have made it my life's work to make sure that resources are available for pre-service and practicing teachers that I wish I'd had. So, for example, my website is full of cross curricular ways to teach in school gardens.

While seven of the eight participants engaged in various forms of professional development in both formal and informal means, B said that while these opportunities are out there, they are not obvious and "it's what I seek." Three had taken part in a master gardener course in order to improve their horticultural knowledge and skills. Three were members of some type of PLC with other garden-based educators. Two offer training for other GBE. One noted that they attended two GBL related conferences and one found support in a Permaculture Design Course and their degree in environmental studies. One also spoke about the support they'd received from their local university, as well as a national seed saving non profit corporation. Five spoke about the support they have received from community garden groups in their areas, one of which noted the

support of a major botanical garden, one cited their local food bank and a city-wide garden related committee. All eight said that they learned through trial and error and personal experience gardening and educating others.

In this realm, the garden itself was a source of support and encouragement and one noted how the garden serves as a third teacher and creates a new power dynamic within the classroom, one in which both teacher and student are learning from the garden. The internet was also a source of support and information for five participants, one going so far as saying that the "internet was my best friend…because… I like to work really independently…I could just find what I wanted to know quickly."

On the internet, participants found community and support in Google and Facebook groups, websites and twitter accounts mostly to access curriculum based resources and lesson planning ideas. Seven spoke about the support they receive from their organizations. Two were thankful to be able to work as full time outdoor-garden educators with very supportive colleagues, administration, school districts and policy frameworks. Two worked for non-profit organizations whose mission included GBL, so they obviously received significant support from their organizations to develop and deliver their programs. Three noted that while their organizations have offered some support, it was generally insufficient, and they found this to be frustrating and an impediment to their success. Speaking to this frustration, C said that there is "No mandate or policy...It's all individual teachers just trying to promote it... on their own." However, one of these three noted that they received significant support from a local gardenbased educator/farmer with whom a successful partnership made up for a lack of organizational support. Two also spoke of the support of their parent advisory councils, and two noted support of local businesses in providing resources and infrastructure. Seven of the eight participants

spoke about the external funding they have received for their programs, five of which received relatively small grants from large corporations, and the two who work in non profit organizations both relied on funding from the federal Canada Summer Jobs grant program. All seven spoke about how relatively easy and reliable these granting sources are and how they usually receive what they ask for.

Discussing what kinds of support the GBE would like to have available to improve the success of their GBL programs, participants spoke to a range of different possibilities. Four participants called for the creation of full time paid garden educators, either in individual schools or as district wide consultants who can support teachers within a given jurisdiction. One suggested more opportunities to integrate GBL within planning times of teachers, or within other subject areas like science, health and physical education. One participant suggested that local farmers and gardeners and their farms and gardens could be partnered with to serve as GBL consultants. On this note, F added that it can be particularly inspiring for students to engage with a passionate full time farmer/gardener who can engage the students in ways their teachers may not be able to. F acknowledged the knowledge gaps of teachers in this field saying "... we can't know everything. So when we bring together a team of people who have different sets of knowledge... and put it together we definitely get some product for kids that's way better than what we can do individually...". E added that it is important for there to be lower adult to child ratios "so that all the children have a hands-on experience that they're not waiting in line" implying a need for more teacher, parent or volunteer engagement in programs.

Seven of the participants spoke clearly about the need for more funding and resources to support the work of GBE. Participants proposed a range of needs to be supported, two of which noted specific infrastructure pieces like having a storage shed to keep equipment or irrigation to

reduce labour, especially in the summer months, one other wanted funding for capital projects in general. One spoke to funds either in the form of specific "maintenance grants" or "start up grants", two called for funding in general to scale up the existing programs. Two wanted to see more funding for field trips to local farms and gardens, one with a clear tie into experiential learning opportunities. Two wanted funding targeted to developing partnerships, one between schools and farms and another between schools and Indigenous Elders and communities. One wanted to see municipal support and funding of GBL programs, especially filling the summer gaps when schools are not in session. Finally, one wanted to see more access to land to establish GBL programs and suggested that farmers/landowners may be subsidized or supported financially to make space available for such programs.

Five participants made reference to their desire for curriculum based, GBL resources especially in the form of kits with resources and lesson plans. One wanted to see a booklet or catalogue of resources made available and another suggested these kits could tie in broader outdoor education interests as well. One suggested that a district-wide GBE could help to develop and coordinate these kits to ensure they are relevant and well utilized.

All eight participants wanted to see more support for professional development, for themselves and their colleagues. One in particular wanted a specialized program for GBL and an associated bursary to support the attendance of low income practitioners. Two spoke specifically about PD days, one wanted them to happen more during school hours, so they didn't have to volunteer for it on their weekends, and another wanted to see a greater emphasis on outdoor education during their PD days. Six respondents spoke to specific content they would like to see offered as part of their professional development including outdoor education, risky play, confidence building for teachers, nutrition education, crop planning and gardening logistics, and

Indigenous and climate change related content. J wanted a structured opportunity to participate in planning for a whole garden program from start to finish, and in different settings, as they had only joined a program that was already established. E and G especially spoke to the idea of confidence building, noting it's not necessarily about gaining gardening specific knowledge, but rather confidence in themselves as educators and learners alongside their students. To this point J spoke about the reticence of educators to join GBL programs for fear of failure and killing plants and the importance of getting comfortable with taking risks, "... if you make a mistake and you kill it, it's fine. Just put it in the compost and that's a win, too." Two participants spoke of their desire to have an active, local professional learning community to support them, one specifically wishing their colleagues were more interested.

Speaking more broadly about what kind of support they'd like to see from their administrations and community the participants offered a range of ideas. Two spoke specifically about how they'd like to see a "garden at every school". Towards this end, two suggested that it would be helpful if there were garden policies and protocols at the board level, providing clear and simple instructions for how to start a school garden along with a start up package including lesson plans. From their administration, one wanted to see a greater recognition and appreciation of the overall educational benefits provided by the gardens for the students. Three spoke to the need for community support - one saying that their programs would benefit from having a group of a minimum size of four to manage it. One participant specifically wanted more community involvement, from parents and neighbours, during the summer months. Finally, one wanted to see more opportunities for inter-provincial networking and virtual knowledge sharing among GBE.

Reflecting on how lucky they were to receive the types of support to work as a full time garden teacher, B reflected that school gardens typically depend on "really passionate committed teachers, kind of doing it on their own" or "champions", a word used by three participants. B provided a link to their school boards Outdoor Greening Guidelines which they developed after a well-spring of "gung-ho teachers" were just "going ahead and doing it themselves", then having to remove or relocate the gardens because they were improperly located. According to B, the guidelines provide direction on how to organize the physical and social components of the garden, as well as manage it throughout the school year, including summertime. G agreed with B stating "... the biggest thing that I see that makes a difference for school gardens ... is having that specific targeted support at the district level."

Speaking of the lack of school board support, H mentioned

... if I was working at the board office I would be looking at this model and saying what's going on with this and how can we be replicating it, that's just the way that I am. And, and again like, how is it successful or not, but there really hasn't been much intervention or support like that at all.

When asked whether there has been any support from the board H responded:

No, no, not except for funds that I've asked for....I know there's a school garden at but it's totally overrun and they need some workshops for teachers to actually learn how to teach in the garden. Which is what I'm hoping to do.

Explaining why it is difficult for teachers to upkeep and program gardens at their school H goes on to say:

... teachers have a really heavy workload for the most part, and, um, it's like one more thing on top of that workload, if you have the knowledge or the interest to do it, you got to take it on yourself, right, yeah, really like at this point that's sort of the dynamic of it. And even all those committee members that we worked with a bunch of them are teachers, they hardly ever get into the garden. It's kind of sad really.

A few spoke to the role played by mentors in the gardens. Trying to incorporate more Indigenous content including Indigenous language learning opportunities, E spoke about the need to engage

"Indigenous mentors and knowledge keepers into the programming" but said the barriers to that are often the time it takes to build relationships and then funding. In this direction, J spoke of the importance of building reciprocal relationships with mentors, especially Indigenous mentors. J says "...whenever we're going out for a field trip to a garden site or to a mentor for a workshop or whatever we always offer or create an opportunity to give back. So, whether that means we're turning soil for an afternoon or helping them to prune or harvest".

B reflects on the potential for more experienced GBE to mentor less experienced ones in the school by stating "So I think ... in an ideal world, you'd have a mentor, where you're working alongside someone who's an experienced outdoor educator." B's reflections on her colleagues' reluctance to want to bring their students outside stems a lot from fear and a feeling of insecurity in how to manage or teach outdoors, beyond the four walls of the classroom where she said things may seem more complex and unfamiliar. B was confident that having an experienced mentor alongside for the beginning can help to alleviate potential fears and anxieties of new teachers exploring GBL for the first time.

Thematic Analysis of Word Usage

Inspired by a grounded theory approach (Creswell & Creswell, 2018), a thematic analysis of words used by participants was deployed to derive deeper insights into the phenomenon of GBL and in particular the experiences of educators. A word search was performed on over 160 words related to the subject focusing on a range of themes emergent within the interviews.

Words were noted for their overall frequency (f) of occurrence, as well as the number (n) of participants who used them, and the general contexts in which they were used. The word search helped to reveal interesting and common ideas as well as revealing those less common or absent from the discussion.

For example, eight participants (n=8) used the language of "love" (f=40) mainly to describe their own love for gardening and that which they witnessed in their own parents and their students. The language of "joy/enjoy/ing, happy" (f=49) was used by six participants (n=6).

The only specifically garden-related words spoken of by all eight participants (n=8) were "seed" (f=91), "soil" (f=43), "plant/ed/ing" (f=63), "grow, growth, growing" (f=108), "food" (f=155), "farm, farmer, farming, farmed" (f=112), "garden, garden based learning" (f=>300). Some words like "harvest/harvesting" (f=10) were used by six participants (n=6), however the other two (n=2) used the language of "picking" (f=4) instead.

Non-garden specific language noted by all eight participants (n=8) included "curriculum / curricular" (f=58), "education" (f=80), "experiential, experience" (f=75), "fund/s/ing/raising" (f=64), "learn" (f=200), "program, programs, programming"(f=164), "school/s" (f=300), "skill/s" (f=20), "student/s (f=115), "teach/s/er/ing/" (f=379), "work/er/ed/ing" (f=280) and "connect/ed/ing/ion" (f=60).

Regarding the seasons, seven participants (n=7) spoke about "winter" (f=13), "spring" (f=23), and "summer" (f=55), while comparatively, "fall/autumn" (f=7) was spoken about by four participants (n=4). Of the references to summer, about two fifths of the references spoke about the participants' own personal experiences gardening during summer, the rest spoke to the unique challenges that summer presents to school gardens especially. References to winter were focused on aspects related to planning, meetings, learning and growing, whether indoors, or outdoors where climates allow.

On specific material needs and inputs, again, all spoke about "seed/s" (f=91) and "soil" (f=43) whereas four participants (n=4), mostly those with more professional backgrounds in horticulture tended to prefer the language of "compost" (f=30). "Soil" was spoken of in the

context of learning about it, bringing it in, and improving it. Most (n=6) acknowledged "water/ing" (f=16), "plants" (f=36) and "land" (f=40). References to "greenhouse/s" (f=15) were made by five participants (n=5), notably as a space to extend the season and programming opportunities. Only two (n=2) referenced the "sun/light" (f=2) and it was about the positive feelings of sunlight on our bodies when we go outside.

Speaking about specific curriculum subjects, predictably, "science" received the most mentions (f=25) by five participants (n=5), the same number who spoke of "math" (f=18). "Biology" (f=5) was mentioned by four of them (n=4). "Literacy" (f=3), "language" (f=7) and "art" (f=6) were both mentioned by three (n=3), and one of those references to language was regarding learning Indigenous languages in the garden. "Social studies" (f=2), "food literacy" (f=7), "ecosystems/ecology" (F=8) were each mentioned by two (n=2). One person each mentioned "music" (f=1), "history" (f=1), whereas there was no reference to "drama" (f=0) or "geography" (f=0). The music reference however was in a suggestion that a position be created, like an itinerant music teacher, but for gardening.

Only one participant (n=1) used the word "pedagogy" (f=4), who was also a PhD candidate in Education. "Outdoor education/learning" (f=7) was referenced by five participants (n=5), three (n=3) referenced both "hands-on" (f=7) learning and "land based learning" (f=5), while (n=1) one participant talked about "Indigenous learning" (f=1) in particular. "Health based learning" (f=1) was cited by one participant (n=1); however, all eight overwhelmingly used the language of "experiential/experience" (f=75). References to garden-based learning were excluded due to the prevalence of this language throughout the interview questions.

On the theme of institutional authorities and specific figures in the school setting, seven (n=7) referenced "school boards / districts" (f=57) and six (n=6) cited "staff" (f=22),

"principal/s" (f=23) and "admin/istration/s/istrators" (f=19). Most of the references to principals and administration spoke about how the absence of support can make it difficult to start and sustain GBL programs. Only three (n=3) participants spoke of "policy/ies" (f=6) and "politic/s/al" (f=4), one saying that they don't follow politics, one speaking about the critical thinking they've developed through their political science degree and oneself identifying as a "radical" who engages their students with critical food issues. Only one (n=1) spoke about the role of the "grounds department" (f=1), while none referenced janitors or school board trustees specifically.

On relationship building beyond the school, seven (n=7) referenced the importance of "family/ies" (f=31) and "community/ies" (f=77) in supporting the garden, but also noting how the garden supports them. "Parent/s" were specifically mentioned by six people (n=6), especially the role of parent groups or individual parents supporting the garden program. Meanwhile five (n=5) spoke about the role of "volunteer/s" (f=11) and having a strong "network" (f=25). Only three (n=3) spoke of building "partnerships" (f=28), and (f=27) of those were cited by two of the three (n=2), whereas one (n=1) warned about the role of "third party organizations" (f=3), especially in public school based gardens.

As I had approached this research from a critical social justice lens, I was curious to know to what extent critical garden issues, as discussed within the preceding literature review, were referenced by participants throughout the interviews. "Indigenous" (f=23) was referenced, as it relates to Indigenous peoples, by three participants (n=3), however most of the references were from two of them, one who works directly with Indigenous youth. "Native" (f=5) was referenced by one person (n=1), and that was in the context of native plants in the garden. "Land acknowledgement/s" (f=3) was discussed by one person (n=1) as was "colonialism" (f=2),

"global south" (f=2), "slave/ry" (f=1), "rac/e/ism/ist" (f=1), "equity/equitable" (f=1). The words "settler", "residential schools", "black/African", "justice", "equal/ity", "land access", "democracy", and "minority/ies" received zero mentions. Only two (n=2) spoke explicitly about issues of justice. One was vocal about their efforts towards anti-racism and decolonization, as they work in a culturally diverse community, often with newcomers, Indigenous and refugee students, whereas another spoke about accessibility and equity as a motivator for establishing raised beds at the school.

The search word results from the interviews, when combined, string together the essential activity of all participants in their garden-based learning practice which is the process of planting and growing seeds and plants for food. The thematic analysis revealed certain words utilized by all eight participants, and when strung together brings forward their collective focus: working (f=280) to connect (f=60) curriculum (f=58) based, student-centered (f=115) experiential education (f=75) and skills (f=20) learning (f=115) programs (f=164) in schools (f=300).

Summary of Findings

All of the participants grew up gardening and most currently work within the elementary school setting where half run regular (daily) gardening activities with their students, one runs an extracurricular program with teenagers and the others engage in occasional GBL programs. All but one works primarily with learners in the primary-junior grade level. The focus of these programs according to participants tends to emphasize engaging students with planting and growing activities in the spring and less so with harvesting related activities in the fall. The diversity of educators produced a range of responses when it came to understanding how they measure the success of their programs. Half considered their primary goal to be cultivating joy in

their students, and the other half considered other goals like student engagement and student success, horticultural skills and environmental stewardship.

Most of the participants relied on qualitative evidence, especially in the form of informal student feedback to measure the success of their programs. A minority considered the use of quantitative data, such as overall productivity measured in weight or harvest as an indicator of success, but an equal number warned against relying on such quantitative measures. Most participants found little or no support in their B.Ed. programs to support them directly in GBL programs; however, a minority were able to make connections between what they learned in other courses more specifically to horticulture or the environment, and graduate level education programs.

While five out of eight found a high level of support from their organizations, two working explicitly as garden based educators in a public school, one as an outdoor educator in a private school, and two working for non profits focused on GBL, the other three noted a lack of support received from their administrations. All participants however sought out and received support from their communities, both online, in person and professionally, and continued their own personal practices of gardening to develop their own skills and comfortability in the garden. A majority would like to see the creation or expansion of full time garden-educator positions, or district-wide GBE consultants. All would like to see additional funding and resources, especially in the form of start up and maintenance grants and curriculum-based lesson planning kits. All spoke to their interests in a range of professional development opportunities and most wanted more supportive administrations and board policies and protocols in support of GBL programs. Several participants spoke about how they often feel alone in their practice and how they would

benefit from a more reliable support system in the form of an active, local professional learning community.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Introduction to Discussion

This discussion will interpret the findings within the context of the established literature on the topic. I have divided the discussion into sections corresponding to the findings, specifically part 1 will discuss the formative experiences of GBE, part 2 considers how they conceive and measure success, and part 3 looks at their support systems. Then I will present limitations and recommendations for future research and a critical garden pedagogy, and then recommend actions to support the GBL ecosystem, from individual practitioners to institutions.

Part 1 - Formative experiences

According to the findings, all participants experienced formative garden-based learning opportunities as children, with nearly all of them gardening with adult family members at home. This phenomenon was noted by famed horticulturist and educator Liberty Hyde Bailey over a century ago saying, "Yet I fancy that more than one human being has been led to a love of plants from having first known them in some grandmother's garden." (Bailey, 1901, p. 275).

While the literature on school gardens tends to focus on the experiences of children (Nury et al., 2017) there is a subsection which focuses on teachers' perceptions of teaching in gardens (McMillen et al., 2019). Jorgenson (2013), through a phenomenological study of garden educators' motivations, shows how teachers tend to re-enact their foundational beliefs about teaching and learning, beliefs based in their own childhood memories, which in this case helps to explain the motivations of the educators interviewed for this research. In the context of early childhood GBL programs, McMillen et al. (2019) documents the importance of educators being comfortable outdoors in nature as one of several causal factors influencing teachers' adoption of school garden programs, alongside administrative support, a focus on safety, and knowledge and

skills. It was noteworthy that all of the participants spoke at length about their experiences gardening as children where many developed a "love" for it, a love often shared by their parents or grandparents. All participants continued their practice of gardening throughout their lives, most of whom either worked professionally in horticulture related fields or have sought additional formal education to improve their knowledge, skills and comfortability. Speaking about the causal condition of being comfortable in nature, McMillen (2019) noted that "participants indicated that someone with interest and comfort in nature needs to show initiative to get the preschool garden started and if that person is not identified, the preschool garden might not get started or be sustainable."

The need for a champion was frequently cited by participants, and nearly all of them were themselves champions who initiated or dramatically expanded the GBL programs they're currently engaged in. Without a strong personal or familial connection to gardening, new teachers may depend even more on formal training, or the informal, community sphere in order to gain exposure, confidence and skills to be successful. This lack of accessible pathways into the garden figuratively and literally, may prevent more diverse educators from engaging in the gardens, thus limiting the range of possibility and success. Participants made several references to the lack of comfortability that their colleagues had in the garden, as a reason why more don't engage in the GBL programs with the enthusiasm they do. The underlying trend that one needs to be brought up in this space threatens the success and sustainability of GBL programs by reducing the eligibility of potential leaders who come from diverse backgrounds, including those without close family ties or formative childhood experiences. When the space is dominated by those who have spent their entire lives learning in the garden, it can be intimidating for newcomers to enter and assume positions of leadership. To address this lack of comfort from

gardening newcomers, one participant suggested more mentorship opportunities between experienced GBE and those new to the field.

Part 2 - Success & measurement

It was evident from the findings that all participants had multiple goals and only a minority were absolutely clear about their main goal, which is in line with the research findings on other GBL programs, which shows that programs are rarely, if ever, only about one thing (Blair, 2009; Ohly et al., 2016). For instance, one of the teachers set out with a goal of fostering a holistic mind-body connection in students, but when asked what success looks like, reflected that success looks different for each student - and that success depends on satisfying students needs and goals that they have set for themselves. Participants, like those in Haase's recent study involving GBEs in Ontario, clearly found it hard to reduce their goals to a "single theme or component", but rather articulated it as a "combination of values and learning outcomes" (2020, p.53). When pressed further for their main goal, half of the participants stated that it was cultivating joy in their students. This emphasis on eliciting a positive emotional response to learning is supported by evidence contributing to improved educational environments and attainment (Waite, 2011). This connection between joy and success was not lost on some of the earliest and strongest proponents of school gardening, like Bailey, who said "to make a garden in which one finds joy cannot be successless", and that joy stems mainly from the "satisfaction of causing things to grow" (1901, p.275).

Wake has spoken on the need to lessen our emphasis on adult agendas when planning for successful and sustainable garden programs, and instead focus on children's needs (2018). When asked for their opinions on what they thought the purpose of school gardens were, a collection of children in a school garden program in Amsterdam, by a clear majority, stated that it was to have

fun (Nury et al., 2017). While having fun and cultivating a joyful learning environment was noted as the main goal - there were many similar motivations cited by both students and teachers in the research study (Nury et al., 2017), such as horticultural training, healthy eating and environmental stewardship. Whereas most participants approached GBL with specific motivations and goals that they wanted to achieve as educators, a minority of participants focused specifically on empowering students to set and achieve their own goals.

A minority of participants' reflections leaned heavily on self-determination theory which has helped to support and predict achievement in school garden programs (Skinner et al., 2012). According to Skinner et al., self-determination theory states that people are motivated to act based on three core needs "relatedness (to feel they are welcome and belong), competence (to feel they are efficacious), and autonomy (to feel self-determined in their learning)" (2012, p. 18). GBL programs are well suited to provide these basic needs to students, which can inspire student engagement in gardens and in other related aspects of their lives such as school achievement (Skinner et al., 2012).

A teacher's learning goals, or outcomes should influence their pedagogical approach. If teachers are approaching with their own outcomes in mind, whether they are to teach horticulture, curriculum, or to cultivate joy, they may deploy a different approach than if the intention is to engage students to set and achieve their own goals. For example, for teachers whose goal is to cultivate joy - the question is what can make for a more joyful garden? How might the GBL program look if the main goal is to focus on children's needs (Wake, 2018) and empower students in their own learning journey? In either case these may be questions best put to students themselves. Teacher-led or student-led goals are not mutually exclusive, but they can

be mutually supportive. For example, a more joyful student may be more inclined in pursuing academic success, or in stewarding the environment in which that joy takes place.

When asked what their favourite activities were, students in Amsterdam said that they most enjoyed harvesting activities, followed by planting and sowing seeds (Nury et. al., 2017). This is interesting to note, because harvesting was one of the least referenced activities that our GBE engaged their learners with, similarly, fall was the season least referenced, and is typically most associated with harvest time (in Canadian climates). One participant noted how they would like additional support for crop planning and the logistics of gardening in order to improve opportunities for harvesting, which in my experience, can be achieved through a diversification of crops, including seeds. By improving opportunities for harvesting, more students can experience the joy and varied benefits of tasting the harvest - a key activity cited by participants and a core component of successful school garden integration, along with the core component of crop vitality and diversity, cited by Burt et al. (2017) in their GREEN Tool.

Only one participant indicated that they have an evaluation form that they use to evaluate their program, a standard form that their non profit organization uses for its varied programs. Most participants however did not cite a coherent evaluative framework for measuring the success of their program, unsurprising given most of these programs are stand alone, and disconnected with a broader systemic initiative. There have been efforts made, especially by Burt et al. (2014, 2017, 2018, 2019) and Diaz et al. (2018) to develop tools for measuring the successful integration of school garden programs, both tools developed in concert with a city or with a regional network of practitioners. Both examples by Burt et al. (2017) and Diaz et al. (2018) involve many considerations for evaluators, including 19 components and four domains for Burt et al., and 38 outcomes (distilled from many more) proposed by Diaz et al. to be used for

program development and evaluation. The range of components and outcomes is indicative of the range of activities that take place within GBL programs. Skinner et al. (2012) have developed measures to assess student engagement in GBL programs, including student and teacher reporting tools, and note that student engagement can be a driving factor of student success.

Proving the success of a program is often necessary to justify its continued existence, along with justifying continued program resourcing. For one of the participants, having teachers coming back to the program year over year, was itself a clear indication of success. Ensuring that programs have a transparent set of measurable outcomes up front can support program development and implementation long term by providing a roadmap and milestones along the way. Burt et al.'s (2017) GREEN Tool is structured around four domains: resource and support, physical garden, student experience, and school community. According to Burt et al. (2017) resources and support are the first domain of consideration in which budget and resource requirements are the first component determined in light of the physical garden's goals and values. Evaluation and feedback together form a core component of what Burt et al. (2017) have classified as a well integrated school garden program.

The values of an educator or educational institution can be reflected in their goals and evaluative frameworks. For example, Diaz et al. (2018) sourced their 38 outcomes from a diversity of educators in the state of Florida. While these evaluative frameworks can be used as inspiration for other GBL networks and educators, they are not necessarily transferable from one location and time to another, as is evident from the varied responses of each of our participants. Each jurisdiction, even every individual program, would do well to establish their own expectations surrounding outcomes in order to have a clear understanding of what their programs are trying to achieve and how to achieve it.

Having approached this research project through a critical lens, I was curious to what extent participants considered issues of social justice in their programs or engaged in what Kelly and Nash (2021) would classify as critical food literacy and the related concept of critical garden pedagogy (Cairns, 2018). Only one participant, as a self described "radical", spoke significantly about issues of justice such as racism, colonialism and climate change education in their GBL program, whereas another spoke critically about the globalized food system in general. This minor level of engagement with critical garden pedagogy and critical food literacy, roughly relates to its limited prevalence within the wider world of food literacy programs that Kelly and Nash surveyed (2021). Most of the GBL activities described by participants would fall under the functional and interactive food literacy categories (Kelly and Nash, 2021), focusing on basic food related knowledge and skills developed through hands-on experiences. In order to effectively integrate all three types of food literacy, GBE could utilize the analytical grid developed by Kelly and Nash (2012), which clearly articulates the descriptions, key terms, and examples of activities typical of functional, interactive, and critical food literacy interventions.

Part 3 - Support systems

Within the broader yet still emerging literature focusing on teachers' perceptions of teaching outdoors, Pedretti et al.'s (2012) baseline study of outdoor educators in Ontario offered some key findings that correspond to those articulated here. Specifically, Pedretti et al. (2012) spoke of the desire among outdoor educators for more professional development opportunities and noted how such opportunities must be tailored to meet educators where they are. Such opportunities according to Pedretti et al. (2012) may include membership within professional learning communities with diverse peers, along with participation in programs at well established centres for outdoor education. All the educators interviewed in this study already had a strong

personal interest and experience in outdoor education, whereas this may not be the case for all educators.

Centres for GBL - in the absence of purpose built spaces - may include local farms and community gardens, and along with the gardeners and farmers who tend to these spaces, these partnerships could help to form that professional learning community where new teachers can gain formative experiences, comfortability and self-confidence. Furthermore Pedretti et al. (2012) spoke to the need for further outdoor education opportunities within pre-service teacher training, either through dedicated courses or integrated within related courses. This call to address the gaps in pre-service teacher training was echoed by at least one participant, who has made it her mission to fill that gap, as it relates especially to GBL. Haase (2020) noted similar suggestions for support desired by Ontario based garden educators, including the hiring of garden coordinators to support teachers and school garden programs, as well as teacher education and ongoing support.

Five of our participants in our study spoke about their desire for having more resource kits available to them to support their GBL programs. Such kits can be divided into two main categories. Firstly, resources that are designed to educate and empower teachers, such as books, best practices, lesson plans or ideas for activities. Secondly, resource kits that include the physical materials necessary to run the program, such as seeds, journals, tools, activity sheets, microscopes, etc.

Whereas local libraries and the internet are overflowing with supportive literature to inspire and educate GBE, such resources may not be well curated or contextualized for educators according to their unique socio-cultural-ecological climate. Speaking about the wide-spread availability of ready-made kits for environmental educators, Pedretti et al. (2012) agreed that

such kits may not consider teachers' standpoint and reality. Going further, Pedretti et al. (2012) suggested that beyond kits, teachers would benefit from having additional time "supporting research and educational opportunities to nurture the development of strong communities of environmental educators in schools" (p. 11).

Recommendations for a critical garden pedagogy

The study was limited in several respects as previously mentioned in chapter 3, which leaves many opportunities for further exploration. From a critical garden pedagogy perspective (Cairns, 2018), future research would benefit from more specific inquiry into the issues more relevant to unpacking the question of who is engaged in this work and why, and from there, go on to consider who is not represented in this work and how that impacts all learners. Learning from Penniman (2018) and White (2018), it is essential that critical garden pedagogy centres BIPOC people and seeks to build community power based on economic cooperation and selfsufficiency rooted in the land, so as not to reproduce white and wealthy spaces and systems that do not serve oppressed peoples. It is essential that critical garden pedagogues question the roots of land ownership and dispossession on which GBL programs take place, or don't, and consider ways to meaningful reconnect people with their ancestral lands and food systems, especially Indigenous peoples and Indigenous food systems (Settee & Shukla, 2020). While it was not the focus of this research to take detailed demographic data on the participants, positions in education are dominated by relatively middle class, middle aged, white women. How may people from different backgrounds come to grow in the garden and how may more diverse representations among GBE influence students? In addition to perspectives of race, class, and gender, it is also important to consider educators who may be linguistically diverse, such as fluent in Indigenous languages that are taught within and through GBL programs, and with

diverse physical, mental or learning abilities who can bring their intimate real life experiences to improve inclusion for all students.

Given the fact that all of the participants enjoyed formative experiences gardening as children, it would be interesting to explore how people may arrive at GBL without having experienced it themselves as children. With the increasing urbanization and resulting disconnection from the land, it may be the case that more and more new teachers will have less experience gardening as children compared to their older counterparts. Emerging teachers may be coming to teach with drastically different backgrounds and lived experiences compared to established teachers. New teachers may have grown up in a world in which access to green space and the outdoors may be far more limited than previous generations, this issue of spatial equity, determines in part who has access to green spaces suitable for a wide variety of growing activities (Louv, 2008).

Future research may consider asking more specific questions inquiring how intersecting social group differences may manifest through GBL programs - and thus expand or limit the range of successful outcomes for learners. Studies have shown a greater range of positive impacts on students from lower income or other marginalized backgrounds participating in GBL programs (Ruiz-Gallardo, 2013; Sandler et al., 1995). Critical garden pedagogues should also stay grounded in recognizing the limitations of GBL programs. Schools are not an island - and in order to effect meaningful long term change, consideration must be given to empowering students to challenge systems of domination in all aspects of their lives, not just the few hours they may be in the school. Future research may explore how GBL programs could empower students to bring forth long term transformations in other areas of their lives (Ohly et al., 2016). Future research ought to further consider how to grow beyond the garden, integrating parents and

the community, cultural leaders for underrepresented groups, and working towards building systemic changes in the relationships between people in, around, and beyond the garden.

Recommendations to establish a thriving and resilient GBL ecosystem

Below is a summary of recommendations targeted towards the main constituencies engaged in this work: GBL advocates, students, teachers, parents, school boards, administrators, other staff, community organizations, municipal, provincial and other public institutions such as public health and post secondary institutions. The recommendations are based on a relatively comprehensive scan of the existing literature, insights derived through this research and from my personal experience as a GBL practitioner and advocate.

GBL advocates & demonstration sites

To advance and sustain GBL programs within a community, it is important that GBL advocates push to establish a demonstration site. To ensure resilience, such a site ought to be integrated across diverse sectors (such as education and health) and can be used for year round all ages programming, teacher training, networking and capacity development. Such a site can support a deeper societal integration of the values and practices associated with GBL within local institutions and form a central node within an ecosystem of GBEs and organizations.

Post secondary institutions & faculties of Education

Campus food systems act as microcosms for the wider food system and are hotbeds for a wide range of critical food system interventions, including campus gardens or farms (Levkoe et al., 2019). There are many different campus garden or farm initiatives within Canada with some campuses maintaining different initiatives of various size and focus, including student-led, faculty-led, program based, and community engaged. Few examples exist in Canada where faculties of education have utilized gardens in pedagogical instruction in significant and

sustained ways, with the notable exception of the Learning Garden at UBC Okanagan (The University of British Columbia, n.d.) or the Orchard Garden and the Cultivating Learning Network at The University of British Columbia (n.d.). Additional linkages to faculties of education exist elsewhere, such as alternative placements at the Learning Garden at Ecology Park through Trent University (n.d.) or the Learning Garden at OISE at the University of Toronto (n.d).

Within Ontario, certified teachers are required to attain a professional degree known as a Bachelor of Education or Diploma of Education (for teachers of technical subjects). In all cases, they must attend and graduate from a recognized faculty of education, including a supervised training portion. Post-secondary institutions, especially those with faculties of education like Lakehead are ideal sites for the development of GBL programs that can serve to support preservice teachers beginning their teaching careers (Burns & Miller, 2012; Campigotto et al. 2022). For example, the Lane Middle School Garden-Based Education program at the Learning Gardens Lab located at Portland State University provides land and support for a program embedded within a neighbouring elementary school (Burns & Miller, 2012). Post-secondary institutions may support GBL programs in their communities by making land available, program support through student placements, conducting GBL related research, cultivating curriculum, resources, and community and partnership development between local schools and programs.

While Lakehead Orillia offers required B.Ed. courses in GBL friendly fields such as Environmental Education, Indigenous Education, and Social Studies, there are no specific in depth opportunities for education students to dig in, other than that which is offered by our student club called Lakehead Farm Club. While various course instructors for these classes and others (like Environmental Education, Democracy and Education) have made attempts to

integrate GBL concepts, field trips and approaches, this is not their main or explicit focus. Thus, it would be possible for a teacher candidate to experience two professional years in the B.Ed. program and graduate without ever hearing the words "garden-based learning", make the historical connection between kindergarten and actual gardens, or be confident to start or engage a GBL program once they begin teaching. Campigotto et al. (2022) recently explored the potential for integrating food literacy programming within pre-serving teacher training in Ontario, as a bridge to making environmental education more relevant and accessible for new teachers. Campigotto et al. (2022) identified a clear interest among pre-service teachers in learning more about food literacy but acknowledged that a cultural shift is necessary within faculties of education. Towards this culture shift, faculties of education could develop and offer elective courses that focus explicitly on food literacy, including GBL. They can integrate GBL more regularly within required courses, advocate for the creation of a food literacy and or GBL additional qualification (AQ) to offer to existing teachers and provide diverse opportunities for teacher candidates to complete their supervised teaching portion of their degree with a GBL program and experienced mentor. Considering the addition of food literacy expectations within the new Ontario curriculum, it is reasonable to expect that food literacy and GBL by extension should play a larger role within faculties of education.

As noted, post-secondary institutions within Canada showcase a wide array of GBL programs, and often, numerous examples within the same institution such as I experienced at both Lakehead Orillia and the University of Toronto. According to Slotnick (2010) the goal of such potentially transformative projects is to "provide an experience of sustainability, a palpable sense of being bonded to a place and a group". Many of the same benefits exist for students in post-secondary GBL programs as for younger students. Such projects are used to teach many

different subjects, like agriculture, sciences and interdisciplinary studies. They are also used to promote Indigenous and other cultures, student connectedness and wellbeing, or even for the benefit of employees like the new Employee Community Garden at Queen's University (2022) among other foci. Post-secondary institutions due to their unique calendars typically notice a migration of students off campus in the spring from May-August, creating an even bigger gap of student presence than is experienced by elementary schools whose students are gone from July-August. Laycock-Pedersen et al. (2019) has performed an extensive study of the phenomenon of transience in student growing programs and issued a collection of recommendations for improvement, such as involving more deeply rooted participants like student unions and staff.

Municipalities

Municipal governments have a key role to play in establishing a supportive environment in which a diversity of GBL programs and organizations can thrive. Municipalities are in charge of local land-use planning, determining allowances for GBL related structures, but more importantly protecting agricultural lands near to urban areas for GBL programs. Municipalities are themselves often the largest landowners within each community, possessing and managing a network of parks and other public spaces upon which GBL programs may take place like community gardens, community greenhouses, or urban farms. In his book *Food For City Building*, Wayne Roberts, an inspiration of mine and many in the food movement, presents in great detail the role of food systems, including food production towards remedying a host of urban ills (Roberts, 2014). One participant in our study cited Wayne during their interview as he once told them the solution to the summer question was that "school gardens are curriculum based from September to June and they're a civic responsibility in July and August."

provide resources such as water, compost and other synergies with municipal infrastructure, personnel (like horticulture staff) and programs, like school garden summer camps (Johnston, 2014) and opportunities for youth and seniors. Seed libraries, often located within public libraries, also support school gardens and GBL programs by making seeds and seed literacy freely available.

Food Policy Groups

Food policy groups, typically acting within municipal or regional jurisdictions, bring together food system actors across sectors, through "participatory governance mechanisms" (Levkoe et al., 2021), to discuss, develop and advocate for sustainable, local food policies and projects. It was the Growing Orillia's Food Future Report (Growing Orillia's Food Future, 2013), that first corralled local food security organizations and proponents, including emergency food programs, community gardeners, health professionals, educators and youth to begin envisioning a network of school gardens around our community to promote food literacy, a common goal of food policy groups. Such groups can provide a wide range of support and benefits to GBL programs, through networking, resource sharing and advocacy. For example, through the Simcoe County Food Council (n.d), I am an active member of the food literacy working table - this provides a near monthly meetup of diverse players within local educational institutions and food literacy proponents, like school gardeners. Going further, such food policy groups would benefit from encouraging youth leadership platforms, such as what I experienced with the Toronto Youth Food Policy Council (n.d.), the first of its kind where youth can learn how to advocate for their own interests.

Public Health Departments

Public health departments have shown a key interest in supporting GBL programs as successful public health interventions to encourage healthy lifestyles including improved diet and exercise (Chan et al., 2022). Public health organizations can be vocal advocates for GBL programs and provide critical evidence, as well as resources to support GBL programs, such as how-to guides, nutrition and other health promotion related activities. While beyond the scope of many health programs, the connection between mental health and school gardens could benefit from greater focus in the future. While GBL interventions have shown moderate success in promoting health through increased healthy food knowledge and skills, they do not substantially increase healthy food intake Chan et al. (2022). Chan et al. (2022) recommends utilizing more multidisciplinary approaches involving teachers, parents and community members to increase their overall health benefits, such as integrating both growing and cooking programs and across subject areas.

Ministry of Education, Curriculum and Educational Policy

It is evident how provincial curriculum documents including specific statements and expectations can create the conditions for GBL programs and permission for educators to focus on these approaches. In Ontario, for example, the new Science and Technology K-8 curriculum, updated in 2022, now includes numerous references to food literacy, including expectations well suited to GBL programs. Other subjects in the curriculum could easily be edited to include opportunities for GBL as is evident from the wide range of subjects connected to GBL such as literacy (Parsons, 1910; Pascoe & Wyatt-Smith, 2013) and many more (Williams and Dixon, 2013). GBL however should be understood as a holistic approach to education, and gardens seen as interactive and living classrooms that can animate any subject matter (Green, M., 2008, p. 15). Provincial funding for purpose built facilities, local farm to cafeteria programs (Farm to

Cafeteria Canada, 2019), and specifically trained educators and resources could support schools who wish to integrate these programs but may lack the resources, infrastructure or personnel to implement them. For example, expecting teachers to integrate food literacy into their classrooms, without providing spaces to grow or cook food (like gardens and kitchens) or opportunities for professional development impoverishes students' learning environment and undermines stated learning objectives. Finally, food literacy and GBL programs are often ostensibly motivated by concerns about health and food security but fail this objective if not paired with broader food systems and cultural shifts which guarantee the right to food for all people, especially students in schools. Just as one participant said that it is hard to learn when you're sad - so too is it difficult to learn when you're hungry.

Individual Schools

GBL programs tend to exist within formal educational institutions like schools. Existing as a community, successful GBL programs tend to experience widespread community support and are integrated within various aspects of the school environment and curriculum. For example, schools may consider supporting a garden club or committee to govern the program, ensuring representation from students, teachers, staff, admin, parents and community members. Having a clear plan, schedule, signage and communications (like website, announcements, posters, etc.) about the garden and what it is for and how to participate, will help to ensure engagement. Signage can create opportunities to integrate art and student engagement and ownership. Integrate the garden within other programs, such as a seed library, an offsite garden/farm for more extensive field trips, a greenhouse, indoor growing space, or a culinary program that can extend the learning throughout the fall and winter months, which often offer less opportunities than the spring and summer.

Far too often schools return in the fall and gardens are overgrown and overlooked, seen as a spring thing. The experiences expressed amongst participants revealed a potentially significant gap in fall programming for GBL initiatives, compared to spring initiatives. A focus on fall and winter would benefit GBL programs in order to complete the cycle initiated every spring bringing programs full circle from seed to harvest to seed again. Starting fresh with store bought seeds is just not the same as students growing seeds they've grown and saved themselves the previous season.

Administrators, Trustees & School Boards

As leaders within educational institutions, authorities like vice principals, principals, superintendents, and elected trustees play a pivotal role in shaping the policy, procedural and evaluative frameworks in which GBL programs may exist and thrive. Interviewees spoke about the support they received or would like to receive from their own principals in experimenting with GBL programs at their schools and how a lack of support can frustrate their initiatives leading to a waste of energy and resources (Hoover et al., 2021). Elected trustees are in a unique position to advocate and implement school garden policies, protocols (Vancouver School District, 2018) and permanent funding sources, like those that exist in some jurisdictions, which can positively affect entire districts and school boards making it easier for individual teachers and schools to create successful and long lasting GBL programs. Within Simcoe County, Ontario, as a GBE, I am not even familiar with all the currently existing programs as no such map or registry exists despite existing similar recommendations (Eco-Ethonomics, 2019). School boards should have a map and track existing initiatives which can help support them over time, by enabling communication, networking, and PD opportunities. Finally, administrators are responsible for ensuring a transparent system for reviewing and evaluating the success of GBL

programs within their jurisdictions. Having clear and relevant assessment criteria is essential to establishing a successful program (Burt et al., 2017; Diaz et al., 2018).

Teachers

Haase (2020) detailed the work of Growing Up Organic, an organization that supports 50 school gardens in the Ottawa area noting that in order for them to partner with schools they require at least 3 teachers to commit to the program. As passionate as individual educators may be, they should consider resisting the urge to go it alone, instead taking more time to build buy-in and collaborative relationships with their peers before launching a garden-based learning program. GBE interviewed noted specifically the value of peer-peer relationships they have with their fellow teachers and the importance of building professional communities of active practitioners. This collaboration is often key to the long term resilience and success of GBL programs, by facilitating broad-based support and strategic planning to avoid common pitfalls (Yu, 2012).

Enterprising teachers may consider advocating towards the creation of more dedicated positions within their jurisdictions such as full or part time garden educators. Often it is through partnerships like the one between City Sprouts and schools around Boston (Hirschi, 2015), which sees a professional Garden Educator hired one day each week during the year to ensure the school garden is planted and maintained. Ideally, such a position may be sourced from qualified teachers within the school board, so as not to be dependent on externally funded or motivated organizations.

Parents

Parents have been noted as instigators and supporters of GBL programs at their children's schools and guides have been created with them in mind (Friesen, 2011). The story of the

creation of City Sprouts (Hirschi, 2015), an organization in Boston that supports illustrates how one parent's passion for school gardens can snowball and evolve into a city-wide initiative involving over 20 schools and hundreds of classrooms. More than instigators, parents, as key constituents within the school community, are often invited to donate their time, resources, or skills in the creation of the garden infrastructure, such as building raised beds or distributing compost and other heavier tasks required. Parents can also be counted on to provide ongoing support, especially after school or throughout the summer when school is closed.

There is a difference between parental involvement and parental engagement (Heinrichs, 2018), the former considers parents as just volunteers, the latter conceptualizing parents more as co-educators. It is well established that individual parents and caregivers, parent councils, committees and the like, can be valuable partners in supporting student success in schools (Ippolito, 2012), especially among marginalized communities. Cultural events like gardening and food sharing in particular (Ippolito, 2012) can provide a platform for meaningful parental engagement that transcends the classroom by engaging families outside of class-time, including after school, weekends and during summer vacation. By engaging parents, caregivers, and families in GBL programs, like participating in school garden committees or garden at home opportunities, success and benefits to students may be multiplied and extended further - especially in changing food consumption behaviours (Schreinemachers et al., 2020) a stated goal of many health motivated GBL programs.

Students

Students are the centre of learning and play starring roles within GBL programs. Every aspect of the GBL program including its physical design (Wake, 2008) represents a learning opportunity for students - not just that which they experience during class time - but how they

interact with the garden before and after school, at recess, during summer or beyond. Students should be encouraged to form their own garden clubs and projects. Students should be guided by the principles of starting small to ensure early success, self confidence and momentum towards bigger projects. By leading, learners gather a greater diversity and share of the harvests.

Third-party organizations

There are in many communities third party organizations, from the non-profit and for profit spheres that are all too eager to gain access to mouldable minds within schools by offering GBL and related programs. Where teachers and schools lack the knowledge and resources to deliver these programs, third party organizations may be counted on to step in so that such opportunities and their benefits are made available to students. Horticultural societies and Master Gardeners exist in hundreds of communities which provide free horticultural related knowledge and resources, as do conservation authorities, especially relating to ecosystem restoration. EcoSchools (n.d.) is another which offers support and certification for schools who engage in various ecological activities including composting, gardening. A more extensive list of such organizations can be found in our resources section. Our study revealed some hesitation among teachers for involving third party organizations, who come with their own agendas that may or may not align with that of the schools. Even one of our participants who founded and leads such a third party group which partners in school garden programming, advocates for publicly funded and delivered programs, as to ensure quality, universality and sustainability. Should we expect math education to be dependent on the goodwill of third party organizations? If involving third parties it is recommended to ensure adequate opportunities for capacity building among the host institution, teachers and students alike, so that such programs do not become overly dependent on external support but can be sustained on their own like any other core school program.

Summary of Discussion

All the research participants and garden-based educators surveyed themselves experienced formative learning opportunities in nature and gardens as children. Their strong belief in the value of GBL led each of these practitioners to become advocate-educators, or champions as they are often referred to. As Canada's and the world's population becomes increasingly urbanized and alienated from traditional food systems (Hayden-Smith, 2006), informal and formal opportunities for outdoor education become increasingly limited. To what extent this lack of exposure to outdoor and garden-based education has on aspiring teachers remains to be seen. Future research directly questioning pre-service teachers without backgrounds in garden-based education would help to better understand the barriers preventing a wider adoption of GBL programs, than simply speaking to the converted.

When it comes to defining the success of GBL, or its fundamental purpose, the educators interviewed provided a range of motivations comprising both teacher-led and student-led goals. While the educators interviewed more commonly cited cultivating joy as their primary goal, it is fair to say that generally, these educators desired to engage their students in more meaningful ways. These educators believed that the garden could cultivate a positive emotional connection between their students, each other, and their learning environment. The GBEs interviewed all shared a belief that the garden was an exceptional approach to achieving the provincially stated purpose of education, despite many sidelining curriculum expectations for what they considered to be more important life lessons. According to the Education Act (n.d.) "the purpose of education is to provide students with the opportunity to realize their potential and develop into highly skilled, knowledgeable, caring citizens who contribute to their society." While not explicitly mentioned by most participants, this ethic of care is implied in the act of gardening, as

far as it is ostensibly about the cultivation of plant life, requiring skills, knowledge and care for other living beings in order to be successful. Fundamentally, however, GBL is about cultivating the learner. It was evident that for GBL to succeed on a larger scale and be sustained long enough for its known benefits to accrue across the whole of society, clearer consensus based, and critical outcomes need to be well established prior to the design and implementation of programs, along with procedures for continual feedback and improvement.

Participants spoke candidly about their experiences growing up as garden-based educators and the types of support they have enjoyed and that which they desire. However, only one spoke of an experience during their pre-service teacher training directly connected to GBL, most others spoke how little that training provided them for their current role. One spoke passionately about their experiences and the need for more resources and support for pre-service and experienced teachers and their work to remedy this need. It was encouraging to see others identify this gap and make significant strides to bridge it. It was my intention through this research to help consolidate gains and continue to water and fertilize the movement to continue growing and evolving. Successful and sustainable GBL initiatives can not rely on the passionate and individual expertise of a single self-taught teacher but depend on a diverse ecosystem of individuals and organizations described above. Most significantly I proposed that faculties of education, as centers for educational research and development, and the formal training ground of every new crop of teachers, are essential institutions that ought to serve as foundational pillars within GBL ecosystems. This can be achieved through the establishment of exceptional demonstration farms and gardens to teach the teachers and to support the whole community.

Chapter 6: Conclusion

This final chapter reveals the competing interests operating in this space and the need for critical food literacy and evidence-based decision making when it comes to developing policy and programs. From there, it will recapture the focus of this research and findings, pointing to the way to fertile futures for garden-based educators and learners alike.

Contested Space

Gardening can be simple and complex but initiating a series of changes to education and culture that would make space for GBL and critical food literacy, seems exhaustingly complicated. While school-based educators and their allies in community, university and elsewhere discuss the possibility and potential for GBL, some corporate-backed organizations are emerging to colonize this space. For example, AgSpace, an Ontario based charity focused on agriculture and food education for schools, and the provincial member of the national group Agriculture in the Classroom-Canada, launched a collection of free seminars in the Fall of 2022 to provide professional development opportunities for current and aspiring teachers (AgScape, 2022). Acting as an educational arm of many industry-led organizations, it is a strategic focus of the organization to normalize and justify industry practices, promote careers in, and the goals of, the agri-food industry (AgScape, 2022).

According to its website, AgSpace (n.d.) offers "factual, balanced, curriculum-linked food literacy programs and resources to Ontario's educators and students." The fact that they must preface their offerings as factual and balanced speaks to the politically contested nature of food and agricultural education in classrooms today. This contest was recently seen in the political debate surrounding the revamped and influential Canada Food Guide (CBC, 2019), which eliminated the concept of food groups, like dairy, and elevated the importance of whole

foods and plant based food and proteins over meat based proteins, to the protests of the dairy and other major industry groups. What criteria (Weldon & Parkhurst, 2022) have these organizations used to determine what is balanced and factual information? The Canada Food Guide, like resources produced by AgSpace, are infused with values and goals that are not necessarily in our best interests. Critical food literacy requires us to question the source and whether they are in the best interests of learners or are in fact evidence based. Returning to the central themes of this thesis with some urgency, it is important that educational programs are informed by critical food literacy and evidence-based practices.

Recapping Research Question & Purpose

This research set out to probe the phenomenon of GBL from the perspective of educators, asking the question, how can support for educators influence the success of garden-based learning. This question carried with it two primary inquiries: how do educators define success and how can support for them support that success?

Why this research is important

During this research study, we have witnessed significant global crises events that continue to drive interest in GBL, similar to historical waves of interest in educational gardens. These events include an ongoing global pandemic that has disrupted many systems including healthcare and education, intensifying war in Europe, a housing and affordability crisis and the highest inflation in over 40 years (including food inflation). These events are on top of existential threats posed by climate change and ecological collapse and continuing social inequalities and instability. As concern over sustainable food systems increases, so too does attention towards food and agricultural education, and by extension, garden-based learning. This increasing focus is evidenced by the addition of food literacy expectations to the Ontario k-8 science and

technology curriculum in 2022 (Ontario Education, 2022). Within this context, there is an identifiable gap in the preparedness of educators to both define and deliver successful food literacy and GBL programs for those they serve. This lack of preparedness results in conflicting goals, a potential waste of energy, resources and off putting failures. It is thought that through learning how to define success we can support successful programs that achieve their stated goals and serve as models to inspire and propagate future programs.

Research methodology and limitations

I explored the unique motivations and experiences of garden based educators across a variety of jurisdictions, and educational settings through eight semi-structured interviews. This research aimed to describe the phenomenon of garden-based learning from the perspectives of educators. In addition, I sought to critically examine the meaning of success, map out and make recommendations to transform the existing ecosystem of support for garden-based educators. Towards this end and to better understand the research participants, a series of questions were posed to them. Questions focused on their background and current practice, their conceptions of success and how they measure it, along with what supports they have and would like to have and why this additional support would be beneficial towards their success. This study was limited from its original scope due to Covid-19 restrictions, which sought to include in person and site visits to local educational gardens, along with a focus group to initiate the start of a local professional learning community. This study was further limited by a small pool of participants from diverse backgrounds, thus making generalizing difficult. Further research on this subject may hone in on more specific forms of GBL, such as that which occurs in public schools in primary grades, or other particular grade levels or settings, like Indigenous communities or postsecondary institutions. Future research may take a more expansive look involving a much larger

pool of participants, to be able to distill more essential features of what forms of support and teacher preparation make for successful programs generally.

While I had entered this research inspired and motivated by a particularly political and transformative agenda, I recognize that the overall methodological approach of this research did not allow that to flourish. Instead, the research reflected what might be called by some an uncritical and individualized approach to knowledge generation. As noted, more conventional, and perhaps, apolitical methods of inquiry were deployed, mainly individual qualitative interviews that posed relatively simple questions. Given that I relied for quality control more on the activist integrity of my interviewees than on a more complex set of questions, my inexperience as an interviewer left many threads hanging. While other perhaps more emancipatory and community-engaged methods were envisioned, they were shelved in part due to the unexpected uncertainties prompted by the pandemic, and also due to the nature and limitations of being a student-farmer and not a seasoned researcher.

Furthermore, the desire to move quickly through the thesis approval process in order to attain greater institutional legitimacy to advance the original cause, which is itself evidently transformational, motivated a more traditional and conventional research approach. (In fact, I have since qualified for entry into a Ph.D. program). Upon reflection, I believe the barriers to realizing the liberatory potential of GBL go far beyond what is presented here and that future research, if it is to inform a transformative program, must consider more ecological, community-based, democratic, and participatory approaches to knowledge building and action.

Concluding thoughts about the potential of GBL to transform education

Participants at times spoke of their strongly held beliefs in the power of GBL to transform their students into better humans. At other times, they lamented and expressed

frustration at the lack of support they've encountered from their administration and the system in general, doubting that they will see such transformations in their own lifetimes. If GBL is to be as liberatory as its proponents believe it be - freeing students from the constraints imposed upon them by the four walls of the standardized classroom - it is essential that these four walls aren't simply replaced by the borders of a raised bed garden, or a fenced in plot. Learning from an Indigenous conception of gardens and gardening, involving the cultivation of our whole environment (Stroink et al., 2010), we can see opportunity for GBL everywhere - the schoolyard, neighbourhood, backyards, lakes, rivers, forest and fields, outdoors and in, winters too.

When formulating concluding thoughts, the popular Online Writing Lab at Purdue University suggests, somewhat facetiously, that one does not "try to solve world hunger in the final sentence of your conclusion" (Purdue University, n.d.), yet here we are. In all seriousness, hunger, social instability, ecological collapse, are pressing and intersecting world issues today that demand serious attention. This thesis has taken aim at a minor yet significant component, namely, the role of garden-based education in promoting solutions to these ever-imposing multifaceted problems. Popular pedagogues throughout history have not been shy to proselytize the values and virtues of a well rounded garden-based education. According to Schwab

That the little pamphlet appeared in its second edition at the Vienna Exposition, and that a fourth is now called for, and that the author has received invitations from foreign countries to pronounce discourses upon the subject, is a proof that at present everywhere the school garden is recognized as the most important foundation of society, and that a good thought, advocated with perseverance, has not to wait long for general co-operation. (1879, p.13).

By the turn of the last century, Hemenway (1903) estimated that there were over one hundred thousand school gardens in Europe alone, as he and a growing school garden movement advocated for one at every school in America. Let's continue to imagine a school in every garden and a garden in every school.

Thesis Epilogue

Before embarking on this thesis, I did not know of the works of Schwab, or of Fröbel's first Kindergarten, or Epicurus' Garden School, the United States School Garden Army, the horrors of residential schools and forced farm labour, or of the countless others who have dug in here before. I knew that learning how to grow food and cultivate a bountiful and beautiful environment was something I felt was inherently important, essential even. The more people I shared the idea with the more I found those who wholeheartedly agreed. Yet despite the near unanimous consensus that "children learning how to grow healthy food is a good thing" we do not see nearly enough of it. In our schools, too often children go not only without this basic life knowledge, but they go without food itself, suffering immensely due to such remarkably preventable deprivation. Where teachers or others seek to intervene in this criminal enterprise, they find too many barriers that too often precipitate failure and weeds - figuratively and literally - and not necessarily the useful, edible, medicinal kind, more like the stubborn, invasive, and thorny types that makes everything else struggle to grow. Educators and learners ought not to be Garden-Sisyphuses, doomed to forever weed their gardens for that is not sustainable - they need to harvest what they have sown. By focusing on improving their foundational experiences, knowledge and skills, while cultivating a supportive policy and professional environment, we can reduce the weeds they must pull so they can enjoy the bountiful fruits of their labour. Future generations will be better off for it.

References

- Agri-Food Analytics Lab. (2020). Home Food Gardening During COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.dal.ca/sites/agri-food/research/home-food-gardening-during-covid-19.html.
- Agscape. (2022). *Business of Food for Educators*. (n.d.). Retrieved October 19, 2022, from https://agscape.ca/bof-educators
- Agscape. (n.d.). AgScape: Educate + Inspire. (n.d.). Agscape. Retrieved October 19, 2022, from https://agscape.ca
- Armstrong, A. K., Krasny, M. E., & Schuldt, J. P. (2018). *Communicating Climate Change: A Guide for Educators*. Cornell University Press. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7591/j.ctv941wjn
- Artspace. (2019). ENAWENDEWIN/RELATIONSHIPS. Retrieved from https://akimbo.ca/listings/enawendewin-relationships/.
- Austin, S. (2017). Garden-based learning in primary schools: Meeting the challenges and reaping the benefits. (Master's Thesis). St. Patrick's College, Dublin City University. Dublin. Ireland. Retrieved from http://www.tara.tcd.ie/bitstream/handle/2262/85319/MEd%20Sandra%20Austin% 202017.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Bailey, L. H. (1901, June 1). A Reverie of Gardens. *The Outlook*, 267–276. https://www.unz.com/print/Outlook-1901jun01-00267/
- Barthel, S., Parker, J., & Ernstson, H. (2015). Food and Green Space in Cities: A Resilience Lens on Gardens and Urban Environmental Movements. *Urban Studies (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, 52(7), 1321–1338. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098012472744
- Blair, D. (2009). The child in the garden: An evaluative review of the benefits of school gardening. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 40(2), 15–38.
- Bolshakova, V., Gieng, J., Vollinger, M., Gimeno, L., & Guild, J. (2018). Teens as Teachers in the Garden: Cultivating a Sustainable Model for Teaching Healthy Living. *Journal of Youth Development*, 13(3), 111–135. https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2018.621
- Bruce, H. (2013). *Gardens for the senses : gardening as therapy* (Rev. & expanded). Petals & Pages Press.
- Bryant, K. (2021, February 13th). From Michelle to Melania to Jill: At Least the White House Garden Experienced a Peaceful Transfer of Power | Vanity Fair. https://www.vanityfair.com/style/2021/02/michelle-obama-melania-trump-jill-biden-whil e-house-vegetable-garden. Accessed 21 May 2022.
- Bucher, K. (2017). Opening garden gates: Teachers making meaning of school gardens in Havana and Philadelphia. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *63*, 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.12.003
- Burns, H., & Miller, W. (2012). The Learning Gardens Laboratory: Teaching Sustainability and Developing Sustainable Food Systems Through Unique Partnerships. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*, *2*(3), 69–78. https://doi.org/10.5304/jafscd.2012.023.003
- Burt, K., Koch, P., & Contento, I. (2014). Characteristics of Active New York City School Gardens According to the School Garden Integration Framework. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior. 46. S151. 10.1016/j.jneb.2014.04.142.

- Burt, K., Koch, P., & Contento, I. (2017). Development of the GREEN (Garden Resources, Education, and Environment Nexus) Tool: An Evidence-Based Model for School Garden Integration. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 117(10), 1517–1527.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.02.008
- Burt, K. G., Burgermaster, M., & Jacquez, R. (2018). Predictors of School Garden Integration: Factors Critical to Gardening Success in New York City. *Health Education & Behavior*, 45(6), 849–854. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198118760685
- Burt, K. G., Lindel, N., Wang, J., Burgermaster, M., & Fera, J. (2019). A Nationwide Snapshot of the Predictors of and Barriers to School Garden Success. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 51(10), 1139-1149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2019.06.020
- Cairns, K. (2018) Beyond Magic Carrots: Garden Pedagogies and the Rhetoric of Effects. *Harvard Educational Review:* December 2018, Vol. 88, No. 4, pp. 516-537. https://doi.org/10.17763/1943-5045-88.4.516
- Calvet-Mir, L., & March, H. (2019). Crisis and post-crisis urban gardening initiatives from a Southern European perspective: The case of Barcelona. *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 26(1), 97–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969776417736098
- Campigotto, R., Barrett, S., & MacRae, R. (2022). Understanding and developing food pedagogies in Ontario pre-service education. *Canadian Food Studies / La Revue Canadienne Des études Sur l'alimentation*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.15353/cfs-rcea.v8i4.464
- Canada Department of Indian Affairs. (1918). *Annual report*. Ottawa: The Department. http://archive.org/details/annualreport1922canauoft
- Cangelosi, E. (2015). Reshaping Spaces and Relations: Urban Gardening in a Time of Crisis. Partecipazione e Conflitto. 8. 392-416. 10.1285/i20356609v8i2p392.
- Casey, E. M., DiCarlo, C. F., & Sheldon, K. L. (2018). Growing democratic citizenship competencies: Fostering social studies understandings through inquiry learning in the preschool garden. *The Journal of Social Studies Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssr.2018.12.001
- CBC. (2022, January 21). Advocates urge federal government to commit to a national school lunch program | CBC Radio. CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/radio/thecurrent/the-current-for-jan-20-2022-1.6321417/advocates-urge-federal-government-to-commit-to-a-national-school-lunch-program-1.6322035
- CBC. (2019). Conservatives 'declaring war on Canada Food Guide' like they did on long-form census, Trudeau says. CBC Politics. https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/scheer-trudeau-canada-food-guide-1.5216957
- Chan, C. L., Tan, P. Y., & Gong, Y. Y. (2022). Evaluating the impacts of school garden-based programmes on diet and nutrition-related knowledge, attitudes and practices among the school children: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, *22(1)*, *1251*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13587-x
- Coalition for Healthy School Food Canada. (n.d.). Retrieved October 16, 2022, from https://www.healthyschoolfood.ca
- Community Garden Council of Waterloo Region. (2016). *Gardens for Healthy Schools: A Scan of School Gardens in Waterloo Region*. Prepared by Sustainable Societies Consulting Group for Community Garden Council of Waterloo Region and Region of Waterloo. Waterloo, ON, Canada.

- Coorsh, J. (2017). *Curriculum linked garden-based education*. [PowerPoint slides]. Retrieved from https://sustainontario.com/custom/uploads/2017/04/GrowingUpOrganic_2017_GrowingLocalFoodLiteracy.pdf
- Cornell University. (n.d.). *Getting Started with Garden-Based Learning: An Introductory Guide for Program Leaders/Educators*. Cornell University, Cooperative Extension and Department of Horticulture.
- Corrochano, D., Ferrari, E., López-Luengo, M. A., & Ortega-Quevedo, V. (2022). Educational Gardens and Climate Change Education: An Analysis of Spanish Preservice Teachers' Perceptions. *Education Sciences*, *12*(4), 275. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12040275
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Fifth edition. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Crippa, M., Solazzo, E., Guizzardi, D., Monforti-Ferrario, F., Tubiello, F. N., & Leip, A. (2021). Food systems are responsible for a third of global anthropogenic GHG emissions. Nature Food, 2(3), 198–209. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00225-9
- Cross, S. M., & Kahn, S. (2018). Science in the Garden: A Qualitative Analysis of School-based Agricultural Educators' Strategies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *59*(4), 88+. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A573713841/AONE?u=ocul_lakehead&sid=bookmark-AONE&xid=a44f77fd
- Daschuk, J. W. (2013). Clearing the Plains: Disease, politics of starvation, and the loss of Aboriginal life.
- Datta, R. (2016). Community garden: A bridging program between formal and informal learning. *Cogent Education*, *3*(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2016.1177154
- De Schutter, O. (2012). Report of the Special Rapporteur on the right to food: Mission to Canada. UN Human Rights Council, 22nd Session.
- Dearness, J. (1915). Training to Teach Nature Study in Ontario. *The Nature-study review:* devoted to all phases of nature-study in elementary schools, Volume 11, 361-364.
- Desmond, D., Grieshop, J., Subramaniam, A. & UNESCO-IIEP, & FAO,. (2004). *Revisiting garden-based learning in basic education*. Retrieved from http://lst-iiep.iiep-unesco.org/cgi-bin/wwwi32.exe/[in=epidoc1.in]/?t2000=020048/(100).
- Dewey, J. 1938. Experience and Education. New York: Touchstone Press.
- Dhunna, S., & Tarasuk, V. (2021). Black-white racial disparities in household food insecurity from 2005 to 2014, Canada. *Canadian journal of public health = Revue canadienne de sante publique*, 112(5), 888–902. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-021-00539-y
- Diaz, J. M., Warner, L. A., & Webb, S. T. (2018). Outcome Framework for School Garden Program Development and Evaluation: A Delphi Approach. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *59*(2), 143+. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A573713804/AONE?u=ocul_lakehead&sid=bookmark-AONE&xid=6a423ed9
- Durham Region Health Department. (June, 2018). *A guide to school gardens*. Retrieved from https://www.durham.ca/en/health-and-wellness/resources/Documents/SchoolHealth/SchoolGardenGuide.pdf
- Dyment, J. (2004). Green(ing) schoolgrounds in the Toronto District School Board: an

- investigation of potential.
- Dyment, J. E., & Bell, A. C. (2008). "Our garden is colour blind, inclusive and warm." Reflections on green school grounds and social inclusion. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 12, 169–183.
- Eartheasy. (n.d). *How to Start a School Garden: Your Complete Guide.* https://learn.eartheasy.com/guides/how-to-start-a-school-garden-your-complete-guide/
- Eco-Ethonomics. (2019). *Simcoe County Food Security Framework*. Retrieved from https://simcoe.civicweb.net/document/62172/CCW%202019-086%20Schedule%201.pdf?handle=D0A6C437A5D643D8B8155E5F309A3107
- EcoSchools. (n.d.). 3 essential tips for vibrant summer gardens. https://ecoschools.ca/2016/06/14/3-essential-tips-for-vibrant-summer-gardens/
- Education Act. (n.d.). (Ontario). Purpose. Section 0.1(2). March 1, 2022.
- Education Act. (n.d.). (Ontario). Purpose. Section 0.1(2). March 1, 2022 https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90e02#BK1
- FAO. (2009). *Setting up and running a school garden: Teaching toolkit.* https://www.fao.org/3/i1118e/i1118e.pdf
- Farm to Cafeteria Canada. (2018). Benefits of Farm to School. Retrieved from http://www.farmtocafeteriacanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/ImpactBenefits-Sheet-2018 online EN.pdf.
- Farm to Cafeteria Canada. (2022). School Food Map. Retrieved from http://www.farmtocafeteriacanada.ca/our-work/school-food-map/
- Ferguson, B., Morales, H., Chung, K., & Nigh, R. (2019). Scaling out agroecology from the school garden: the importance of culture, food, and place. *Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems*, 43(7-8), 724–743. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683565.2019.1591565
- Field, E., Schwartzberg, P. & Berger, P. (2019). Canada, Climate Change and Education: Opportunities for Public and Formal Education (Formal Report for Learning for a Sustainable Future). Retrieved from: (http://www.LSF-LST.ca/cc-survey)
- Fifolt, M., Morgan, A. F., & Burgess, Z. R. (2018). Promoting school connectedness among minority youth through experience-based urban farming. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 41(2), 187-203.
- Finley, R. (2013, February). *A guerrilla gardener in South Central LA* [Video]. TED Conferences. https://www.ted.com/talks/ron_finley_a_guerrilla_gardener_in_south_central_la/transcrip t?language=en#t-448403
- First Nations Child and Family Caring Society. (2020). Honouring Memories, Planting Dreams https://fncaringsociety.com/honouring-memories-planting-dreams.
- Food Literacy for Students Act. (2020). Bill 216, Food Literacy for Students Act, 1st Session, 42nd Parliament, 2020. Retrieved from https://www.ola.org/en/legislative-business/bills/parliament-42/session-1/bill-216.
- Foxcroft, C. (2017, April 17th.). *Learning about the Environment in Early Ontario Schools* |.

 Retrieved May 15, 2022, from

 https://wordpress.oise.utoronto.ca/librarynews/2017/04/17/learning-about-the-environment-in-early-ontario-schools/
- Freire, P. (1970). *Pedagogy of the oppressed*. New York: The Continuum International Publishing Group Inc.
- Friesen. (2011). How to Grow a School Garden: A Complete Guide for Parents and Teachers. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 43(2), 140.e3–140.e3.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2010.12.003
- Gaylie, V. (2008). The Poetry Garden: Ecoliteracy in an Urban School. *Language & Literacy (Kingston, Ont.)*, 10(2). https://doi.org/10.20360/G2W88B
- Gordon, C. (2014) Green Thumbs at School: SPEC Food Garden Lesson Book Society Promoting Environmental Conservation (SPEC). Vancouver, BC, 91 pages.
- Graham, H., Beall, D. L., Lussier, M., McLaughlin, P., & Zidenberg-Cherr, S. (2005). Use of school gardens in academic instruction. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*, 37(3), 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1499-4046(06)60269-8
- Graham, H., Feenstra, G., Evans, A., & Zidenberg-Cherr, S. (2004). Davis school program supports life-long healthy eating habits in children. California Agriculture. 58. 200-205. 10.3733/ca.v058n04p200.
- Grant, L. (2017). *Contextualized garden-based mathematics*. (Master's thesis). Lakehead University. Retrieved from http://knowledgecommons.lakeheadu.ca:7070/handle/2453/4243
- Green, K.J. (2003). The MacDonald-Robertson Movement 1899-1909. (Doctoral Thesis). The University of British Columbia. Vancouver. Canada. Retrieved from https://open.library.ubc.ca/cIRcle/collections/ubctheses/831/items/1.0055603
- Green, M. (2007). Food gardens: cultivating a pedagogy of place. In Jeffrey, P. (Ed.), AARE 2007 International education research conference: Fremantle: papers collection: [Conference of the Australian Association for Research in Education, 26–29 November 2007]. Melbourne: Australian Association for Research in Education.
- Green, M. (2008). Learning in place: pedagogical pathways for place making. In Jeffrey, P. (Ed.), AARE 2008 International education research conference: Brisbane: papers collection: [Conference of the Australian Association for Research in Education, 30 November 4 December 2008]. Melbourne: Australian Association for Research in Education
- GreenThumb. (2009). Growing School and Youth Gardens in New York City A Guide to Resources. GreenThumb, City of New York Department of Parks & Recreation. https://www.nycgovparks.org/sub_about/partners/greenthumb/school_garden_resource_g uide.pdf
- Greenwood, D. A. (2011). Why place matters: Environment, culture, and education. In *Handbook of research in the social foundations of education* (pp. 632–640). Routledge.
- Greer, R. (2019). Opportunities for School Garden-Based Health Education in a Lower-Income, Diverse, Urban School District. *American Journal of Health Education*, 50(4), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2019.1616010.
- Growing Orillia's Food Future. (2013). Growing Orillia's Food Future Report. https://orilliacommunitygardens.wordpress.com/orillia-food-council/food-policy-resources/
- Gruenewald, D. (2003). The Best of Both Worlds: A Critical Pedagogy of Place. Educational Researcher 32:4, 3-12.
- Guerrero, A. (2017). *Increasing Inclusion in the School Garden: A resource packet for garden educators*. School Garden Project. https://www.schoolgardenproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Increasing-Inclusion-in-the-School-Garden.pdf.
- Guthman, J. (2008). Bringing good food to others: Investigating the subjects of

- alternative food practice. Cultural geographies, 15(4), 431-447.
- Haase, J. (2020). THE CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR SCHOOL GARDEN PROGRAMS IN ONTARIO [Thesis].
 - https://qspace.library.queensu.ca/handle/1974/28164
- Hall, C., & Knuth, M. (2019). An Update of the Literature Supporting the Well-Being Benefits of Plants: A Review of the Emotional and Mental Health Benefits of Plants. *Journal of Environmental Horticulture*, 37(1), 30–38. https://doi.org/10.24266/0738-2898-37.1.30
- Harrison-Vickars, M.S. (2014). *Kids growing: Implementing school-community gardens in Ontario*. (Master's Major Paper). York University. Toronto. Ontario. Canada. Retrieved from http://agardenineveryschool.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Kids-Growing-Imple menting-School-Community-Gardens-in-Ontario.pdf
- Hassanein, N. (2003). Practicing food democracy: A pragmatic politics of transformation. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 19(1), 77–86. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0743-0167(02)00041-4
- Hayden-Smith, R. (2006). Soldiers of the soil: A historical review of the United States School Garden Army. 4H Center for Youth Development Monograph. University of California.
- Hayes-Conroy, J. (2010). School Gardens and "Actually Existing" Neoliberalism. *Humboldt Journal of Social Relations*, 33(1/2), 64–96. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23263227
- Hazzard, E. L., Moreno, E., Beall, D. L., & Zidenberg-Cherr, S. (2012). An evaluation of the California Instructional School Garden Program. *Public Health Nutrition*, *15*(2), 285–290. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980011001248
- Hebert, T., Martin, D., & Slattery, T. (2014). Growing gardens growing minds: a garden project introduces plants and healthy eating. *Science and Children*, *51*(7), 52+. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A363012397/AONE?u=ocul_lakehead&sid=bookmark-AONE&xid=b6c2219a
- Heinrichs, J. (2018). School Leadership Based in a Philosophy and Pedagogy of Parent Engagement. *School Leadership & Management*, *38*(2), 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2017.1406905
- Hemenway, H. D. (1903). How to make school gardens: a manual for teachers and pupils. Doubleday, Page & co. https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/001505368
- Hervé-Gruyer, P., Hervé-Gruyer, C., & Reynolds, J. F. (2016). *Miraculous abundance: one quarter acre, two French farmers, and enough food to feed the world*. White River Junction, Vermont, Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Hirschi. J. (2015). *Ripe for change : garden-based learning in schools*. Harvard Education Press.
- Hoover, A., Vandyousefi, S., Martin, B., Nikah, K., Cooper, M. H., Muller, A., Marty, E., Duswalt-Epstein, M., Burgermaster, M., Waugh, L., Linkenhoker, B., & Davis, J. N. (2021). Barriers, Strategies, and Resources to Thriving School Gardens. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, *53*(7), 591–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneb.2021.02.011
- Huelskamp, A. C. (2018). Enhancing the Health of School Garden Programs and Youth: A Systematic Review. *Health Educator*, 50(1), 11–23.
- Hung, R. (2017). Towards Ecopedagogy: An Education Embracing "Ecophilia." *Educational Studies in Japan: International Yearbook*, (11), 43–56. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1147531&site=eds-

- live&scope=site
- Inwood, H. (2006). Growing art in school gardens: using the school garden as inspiration, supply cupboard, and exhibition space for students' art. Green Teacher (Toronto), 80, 39–.
- Ippolito, J. 2012. "What Works? Research into Practice." ttps://www.education-leadership-ontario.ca/application/files/2814/9875/9282/Bringing_Marginalized Parents and Caregivers Into Their Childrens Schooling.pdf
- Isaac, M., Isakson, S.R., Dale, B., Levkoe, C., Hargreaves, S., Méndez, V., Wittman, H., Hammelman, C., Langill, J., Martin, A., Nelson, E., Ekers, M., Borden, K., Gagliardi, S., Buchanan, S., Archibald, S., & Ciani, A. (2018). Agroecology in Canada: Towards an Integration of Agroecological Practice, Movement, and Science. *Sustainability*. 10. 3299. 10.3390/su10093299.
- Jarvis, C. D. (1916). *Gardening in Elementary City Schools. Bulletin, 1916, No. 40.* Bureau of Education, Department of the Interior. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED542636
- Jagger, S. Sperling, E., & Inwood, H. (2016). What's growing on here? Garden-based pedagogy in a concrete jungle. *Environmental Education Research*, 22(2), 271–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2014.997195
- Johnston, J.D. (2014). Starting a school garden summer camp. *Green Teacher (Toronto)*, 103, 11–.
- Johnson-Jennings, M., Koushik, P., Olson, D., LaBeau, M., & Jennings, D. (2020). Ode'imin Giizis: Proposing and Piloting Gardening as an Indigenous Childhood Health Intervention. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 31*(2), 871-888. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lakeheadu.ca/10.1353/hpu.2020.0066
- Jon Schneller, A., Schofield, C. A., Frank, J., Hollister, E., & Mamuszka, L. (2015). A Case Study of Indoor Garden-Based Learning with Hydroponics and Aquaponics: Evaluating Pro-Environmental Knowledge, Perception, and Behavior Change. *Applied Environmental Education and Communication*, 14(4), 256–265. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1084540&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Jorgenson, S. (2013). The Logic of School Gardens: A Phenomenological Study of Teacher Rationales. *Australian Journal of Environmental Education*, 29(2), 121–135. https://doi.org/10.1017/aee.2014.1
- Joyce, A. (1915). The School Garden A Laboratory for Industrial Education. *The Nature-study review:devoted to all phases of nature-study in elementary schools, Volume 11*, 361-364.
- Kahn, R. (2010). *Critical Pedagogy, Ecoliteracy, and Planetary Crisis: The Ecopedagogy Movement*. New York: Peter Lang.
- Kelly, R. K., & Nash, R. (2021). Food Literacy Interventions in Elementary Schools: A Systematic Scoping Review*. *Journal of School Health*, 91(8), 660–669. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.13053
- Kimmerer, R. W. (2015). Braiding sweetgrass: Indigenous wisdom, scientific knowledge and the teachings of plants. Minneapolis: Milkweed Editions.
- Klein, N. (2013). Dancing the world into being: A conversation with Idle No More's Leanne Simpson. *Yes Magazine. Klein with Simpson*
- Klemmer, C.D., Waliczek, T.M., & Zajicek, J.M. (2005). Growing Minds: The Effect of a School Gardening Program on the Science Achievement of Elementary Students, *HortTechnology horttech*, *15*(3), 448-452. Retrieved Jun 19, 2022, from https://journals.ashs.org/horttech/view/journals/horttech/15/3/article-p448.xml

- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall. Accessed June 8. http://academic.regis.edu/ed205/kolb.pdf [Google Scholar]
- Laforge, J. & Levkoe, C.Z. (2018). Seeding agroecology through new farmer training in Canada: knowledge, practice, and relational identities. *Local Environment*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2018.1515901
- Landry, V., Asselin, H., & Lévesque, C. (2019). Link to the Land and Mino-Pimatisiwin (Comprehensive Health) of Indigenous People Living in Urban Areas in Eastern Canada. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(23), 4782. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16234782
- Laycock Pedersen, R., Robinson, Z. P., & Surman, E. (2019). Understanding Transience and Participation in University Student-Led Food Gardens. *Sustainability*, 11(10), 2788. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11102788
- Lebo, N., & Eames, C. (2015). Cultivating attitudes and trellising learning: a permaculture approach to science and sustainability education. *Australian Journal of Environmental Education*, (1), 46. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl.460447629 &site=eds-live&scope=site
- Lee, M. (2010). Every bite counts: climate justice and BC's food system. BC Office.
- Levy-Mclaughlin, R. (n.d.). Farming and child labour at Mount Elgin Residential School | David McKie. Retrieved October 16, 2022, from
- http://www.davidmckie.com/farming-and-child-labour-at-mount-elgin-residential-school/Levkoe, C.Z. (2006). Learning democracy through food justice movements, *Agric Hum Values*. March 2006, Volume 23, Issue 1, pp 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-005-5871-5.
- Levkoe, C. Z., Schiff, R., Arnold, K., Wilkinson, A., & Kerk, K. (2021). Mapping Food Policy Groups: Understanding Cross-Sectoral Network Building through Social Network Analysis. Canadian Food Studies / La Revue Canadienne Des études Sur l'alimentation, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.15353/cfs-rcea.v8i2.443
- Levkoe, C. Z., Erlich, S., & Archibald, S. (2019). Campus Food Movements and Community Service-Learning: Mobilizing Partnerships through the Good Food Challenge in Canada. *Engaged Scholar Journal: Community-Engaged Research, Teaching, and Learning*, [S.l.], v. 5, n. 1, p. 57-76, ISSN 2368-416X. Available at: https://journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/esj/article/view/67849/51714.
- Life Lab. (n.d.) *Life Lab » About Life Lab*. Retrieved June 5, 2022, from https://lifelab.org/about/Life Lab. (n.d.). *Life Lab » Educator Certification Program*. Retrieved August 8, 2022, from https://lifelab.org/educator-certification-program/
- Limestone District School Board. (2021). Administrative Procedure 531, Development and Maintenance of School Food Gardens. https://www.limestone.on.ca/common/pages/DisplayFile.aspx?itemId=32598537
- Louv, R. (2008). Last child in the woods: saving our children from nature-deficit disorder (Updated and Expanded.). Algonquin Books of Chapel Hill.
- Ma Rhea, Z. (2018). Towards an Indigenist, Gaian pedagogy of food: Deimperializing foodScapes in the classroom. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 49(2), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2017.1417220
- MacRae, R., & Welsh, J. (1998). Food Citizenship and Community Food Security: Lessons from

- Toronto, Canada, Canadian Journal of Development Studies / Revue canadienne d'études du développement, 19:4, 237-255, DOI: 10.1080/02255189.1998.9669786
- Malberg Dyg, P., & Wistoft, K. (2018). Wellbeing in school gardens the case of the Gardens for Bellies food and environmental education program. *Environmental Education Research*, 24(8), 1177–1191. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2018.1434869
- Manuel, A. (2017, January 18th). Until Canada gives Indigenous peoples their land back, there can never be reconciliation. *Rabble.ca*. https://rabble.ca/blogs/bloggers/views-expressed/2017/01/until-canada-gives-indigenous-people-their-land-back-there-ca.
- Matys, F. (2015, June 3rd). *Orillia's Lakehead plants seed as gesture of reconciliation*. Orillia Today, Retrieved from https://www.simcoe.com/news-story/5659100-orillia-s-lakehead-plants-seed-as-gesture-o
- McCallum, C. (2015, June 5th). Planting the Seeds of Citizenship. *Planting the Seeds of Citizenship*. Active History. http://activehistory.ca/2015/06/planting-the-seeds-of-citizenship/
- McCarty, J. (2013). REAL School Gardens Program: Learning Gardens and Teacher Training to Improve Student Engagement and Academic Performance in Low-Performing Elementary Schools. *The Journal of Applied Research on Children*, 4(2).
- Nathan McClintock (2018) Cultivating (a) Sustainability Capital: Urban Agriculture, Ecogentrification, and the Uneven Valorization of Social Reproduction, *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, 108:2, 579-590, DOI: 10.1080/24694452.2017.1365582
- McCready, S. B. (1915). Care of school gardens during summer vacation by Prof. S.B. McCready, OAC Review, v.27, no. 10, July 1915, p.452-454.
- McCready, S.B. (1915). Elementary Agriculture and Horticulture in Rural and Village Schools of Ontario, Canada. *The Nature-Study Review*. Volume 11, Number 5. 217- 229. Retrieved from https://ia800300.us.archive.org/2/items/naturestudyrevie11amer/naturestudyrevie11amer. pdf.
- Mcmillen, J., Swick, S., Frazier, L., Bishop, M., & Goodell, L. (2019). Teachers' perceptions of sustainable integration of garden education into Head Start classrooms: A grounded theory approach. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, *17*(4), 392–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X19856378
- Minton, T. G. (1980). The history of the nature-study movement and its role in the development of environmental education. *Doctoral Dissertations* 1896 February 2014. https://scholarworks.umass.edu/dissertations 1/3600
- Mollison B. C. & Slay R. M. (1994). *Introduction to permaculture (2nd ed.)*. Tagari Publications.
- Monaghan, K., Swisher, M., Koenig, R. L., & Rodriguez, J. C. (2017). Education for sustainable agriculture: A typology of the role of teaching farms in achieving learning goals and objectives. *Environmental Education Research*, 23(6), 749-772. Retrieved from http://eds.a.ebscohost.com/eds/detail/detail?vid=0&sid=f78135bf-f670-40d3-a80a-43f5ca43f850@sdc-v-sessmgr01&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWRzLWxpdmUmc2NvcGU9c2l0ZQ==#db=8gh&AN=1 23325695
- Moore, S. S. (2017). Organize or die: Farm school pedagogy and the political ecology of the

- agroecological transition in rural Haiti. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 48(4), 248–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2017.1336977
- Nakagawa, Y. (2017). WWOOF Ecopedagogy: Linking "Doing" to "Learning." *Australian Journal of Environmental Education*, 33(1), 1–17. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ1131335&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Newman, J. (2001). Seedy Saturdays 2001 across Canada. *Prairie Garden*, 132–134.

 Retrieved from https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=03156850&v=2.1&it=r&id=GALE%7CA94078508&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=abs
- Norat, M. de los Á. V., Herrería, A. F., & Rodríguez, F. M. M. (2016). Ecopedagogy: A Movement between Critical Dialogue and Complexity: Proposal for a Categories System. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 10(1), 178–195. https://doi.org/10.1177/0973408215625552
- Nury, E., Sarti, A., Dijkstra, C., Seidell, J. C., & Dedding, C. (2017). Sowing Seeds for Healthier Diets: Children's Perspectives on School Gardening. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(7), 688. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14070688
- Nutrients For Life. (2022). *Learning Gardens: A Guide for Canadian educators, 2022 Edition*. https://nutrientsforlife.ca/pdf/learning-gardens-manual.pdf
- Ohly, H., Gentry, S., Wigglesworth, R., Bethel, A., Lovell, R., & Garside, R. (2016). A systematic review of the health and well-being impacts of school gardening: synthesis of quantitative and qualitative evidence. *BMC Public Health* 16, 1051 (2016) doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3736-z
- Ontario Department of Agriculture and Food. (1915). Annual Report of the Department of Agriculture and Food. The Department of Agriculture and Food.
- Ontario Education. (2022). *The Ontario Curriculum, Grades 1–8: Science and Technology*. Retrieved from https://assets-us-01.kc-usercontent.com/fbd574c4-da36-0066-a0c5-849ffb2de96e/a6136d61-3120-43f0-94a3-5859e0319382/The%20Ontario%20Curriculum%20Grades%201%E2%80%938%20%E2
- %80%93%20Science%20and%20Technology%202022.pdf Ontario Ministry of Education. (2014). *Achieving Excellence: A Renewed Vision for Education*
- in Ontario, Queen's Printer for Ontario.

 Ontario Ministry of Education. (2014). Foundations for a Healthy School: A companion resource to the K-12 School Effectiveness Framework. Queen's Printer for Ontario.
- Ostertag, J. K. (2015). School gardening, teaching, and a pedagogy of enclosures: threads of an arts-based métissage (T). University of British Columbia. Retrieved from https://open.library.ubc.ca/collections/ubctheses/24/items/1.0166199
- Ostertag, J. (2018). Solitary spider stories of "Becoming Teachers Together": Knots spun from an Arts-Based Research Project with a garden. *Issues in Teacher Education*, 27(2), 96–117.
- Owen, J. (2015, July 30). Food as a Weapon in the Residential School System. Food Secure Canada. https://foodsecurecanada.org/residential-schools-and-using-food-weapon
- Paradigm Pictures. (2019, January 7). *Gitigaan Spotted Earth* [Video]. Vimeo. https://vimeo.com/309902519

- Parameswaran, U. D., Ozawa-Kirk, J. L., & Latendresse, G. (2020). To live (code) or to not: A new method for coding in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 19(4), 630–644. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325019840394
- Parsons, H.G. (1910). *Children's gardens: for pleasure, health and education.* New York, NY: Sturgis & Walton Company.
- Pascoe, J., & Wyatt-Smith, C. (2013). Curriculum literacies and the school garden. *Literacy Learning: The Middle Years*, 21(1), 34–47. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=85229426&site=ehos t-live
- Pedretti, E., Nazir, J., Tan, M.K., Bellomo, K., & Ayyavoo, G.R. (2012). A Baseline Study of Ontario Teachers' Views of Environmental and Outdoor Education. *Pathways: The Ontario Journal of Outdoor Education*, 24, 4-12.
- Penniman, L. (2018). Farming while black: Soul fire farm's practical guide to liberation on the land. Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Potts, R.B. (1914). "School Children and Horticulture," 8th Annual Report of the Horticultural Societies for the Year 1913 (Toronto: Department of Agriculture, 1914), 54.
- Purdue University. (n.d.). Conclusions // Purdue Writing Lab. Purdue Writing Lab. Retrieved October 19, 2022, from https://owl.purdue.edu/owl/general_writing/common_writing_assignments/argument_papers/conclusions.html
- Queen's University. (2022). Supporting employee wellness through gardening. https://www.queensu.ca/gazette/stories/supporting-employee-wellness-through-gardening
- Rahm, J. & Grimes, K. (2005). Embedding seeds for better learning: Sneaking up on education in a youth gardening program. *Afterschool Matters*, 4, 33-41.
- Reynolds, K. (2017). Designing urban agriculture education for social justice: Radical innovation through Farm School NYC. *International Journal of Food Design*, (1), 45. https://doi.org/10.1386/ijfd.2.1.45 1
- Roberts, W. (2014). Food for City Building: A Field Guide for Planners, Actionists & Entrepreneurs (1st edition). Hypenotic Inc.
- Ruiz-Gallardo, J.R., Verde, A., & Valdés, A. (2013). Garden-Based learning: An experience with "at risk" secondary education students. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 44(4), 252–270.
- Rye, J. A., Selmer, S. J., Pennington, S., Vanhorn, L., Fox, S., & Kane, S. (2012). Elementary School Garden Programs Enhance Science Education for All Learners. TEACHING Exceptional Children, 44(6), 58–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/004005991204400606
- Ryerson, E. (1870). First lessons on agriculture for Canadian farmers and their families . Toronto: Copp, Clark.
- Saldaña, J. (2009). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. Sage Publications Ltd. Sandler, L., Vandegrift, J., & VerBrugghen, C. (1995). From desert to garden: Reconnecting
- Sandler, L., Vandegrift, J., & VerBrugghen, C. (1995). From desert to garden: Reconnecting disconnected youth. *Educational Leadership*, 52(8), 14-16.
- Sayre, L., & Clark, S. (2011). Fields of Learning: The Student Farm Movement in North America. University Press of Kentucky.
- Schreinemachers, Baliki, G., Shrestha, R. M., Bhattarai, D. R., Gautam, I. P., Ghimire, P. L., Subedi, B. P., & Brück, T. (2020). Nudging children toward healthier food choices: An experiment combining school and home gardens. *Global Food Security*, *26*, 100454–100454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100454

- Schwab, E. (1879). The school garden: Being a practical contribution to the subject of education. M.L. Holbrook & Co. New York.
- Seidman, I. (2006). *Interviewing as qualitative research: a guide for researchers in education and the social sciences*. 3rd ed. New York, Teachers College Press.
- Sellmann, D., & Bogner, F. X. (2013). Climate change education: Quantitatively assessing the impact of a botanical garden as an informal learning environment. Environmental Education Research, 19(4), 415-429. doi:10.1080/13504622.2012.700696
- Selmer, Valentine, K., Luna, M., Rummel, S., & Rye, J. (2016). How can we best use our school garden space?: Exploring the concepts of area and perimeter in an authentic learning context. *Australian Primary Mathematics Classroom*, 21(4), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.468766735139392
- Sensoy, Ö., & DiAngelo, R. (2017). *Is everyone really equal?: An introduction to key concepts in social justice education* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Settee, P., & Shukla, S. (2020). *Indigenous food systems: concepts, cases, and conversations*. (Settee & S. Shukla, Eds.). Canadian Scholars.
- Shiva, V. (1993). Monocultures of the mind: Perspectives on Biodiversity and Biotechnology London: Zed Books
- Simcoe County Food Council. (n.d.). CONSTELLATION MODEL FOR COLLABORATION. https://www.scfoodcouncil.com/governance
- Simpson, L. (2014). Land as Pedagogy: Nishnaabeg intelligence and rebellious transformation. *Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society.* Vol. 3, No. 3, 2014, pp. 1-25.
- Skinner, E., Chi, U., & The Learning-Gardens Educational Assessment Group 1. (2012). Intrinsic Motivation and Engagement as "Active Ingredients" in Garden-Based Education: Examining Models and Measures Derived From Self-Determination Theory. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 43(1), 16–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2011.596856
- Slotnick, J. (2010). Starting a farm at your school. Ometeca, 225+. Retrieved from https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A293351689/AONE?u=ocul_lakehead&sid=AONE&xid=2b633378
- Sobel, D. (2014). Place-Based Education: Connecting Classrooms and Communities. Closing the Achievement Gap: The SEER Report. *NAMTA Journal*. ttps://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1183171
- Spencer, J.B. (1916). *The school garden: As regarded and carried on in the different provinces*. Pamphlet No. 4. Ottawa. Canada: Government Printing Bureau.
- Stangor, C. (2011). Research methods for the behavioral sciences (4th ed.). Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Stevenson, R., Nicholls, J., & Whitehouse, H. (2017). What Is Climate Change Education? *Curriculum Perspectives*, *37*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41297-017-0015-9
- Stroink, M., Nelson, C., & McLaren, B. (2010). The Learning Garden: Place-based Learning for Holistic First Nations' Community Health.
- Subramanium, A. (2002). Garden-based learning in basic education: a historical review. 4H Centre for Youth Development Monograph. University of California.
- Sustain Ontario (n.d.). *Food Initiatives Greenhouse*. Retrieved October 16, 2022, from https://sustainontario.com/greenhouse/resource-database/
- Tarasuk V. (2001). A critical examination of community-based responses to household food insecurity in Canada. *Health education & behavior : the official publication of the Society for Public Health Education*, 28(4), 487–499.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810102800408
- Tarasuk, V., Li, N., Dachner, N., & Mitchell, A. (2019). Household food Insecurity in Ontario during a Period of Poverty reduction, 2005–2014. *Canadian Public Policy / Analyse de Politiques*, 45(1), 93–104. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26732981
- Taylor, J.A. (1914). Annual Report of the Horticultural Societies of Ontario. Ontario Department of Agriculture.
- The University of British Columbia. (n.d.). *Learning Modules*. Retrieved from https://justfood.landfood.ubc.ca/modules/.
- The University of British Columbia. (n.d.). *Xwcicosom Garden*. Retrieved from https://lfs-iherg.sites.olt.ubc.ca/the-garden/.
- The University of British Columbia. (n.d.). LEARNING GARDEN UBC OKANAGAN SCHOOL OF EDUCATION.

 https://education.ok.ubc.ca/student-resources/bachelor-of-education-resources/community-field-experience/partners-list/learning-garden-ubc-okanagan-school-of-education/
- The University of British Columbia. (n.d.). Faculty of Education Cultivating Learning Network. https://cultivatinglearningnetwork.edcp.educ.ubc.ca/
- Toronto Metropolitan University. (n.d.). *Truth Telling: gardens, farming and food experiences at the Mohawk Institute Indian Residential School*. Retrieved October 16, 2022, from https://www.torontomu.ca/foodsecurity/projects/activity_mohawk_institute/
- Toronto Region Conservation Authority. (N.D.). *Digging it: A guide for greening school grounds in Peel region*. Retrieved from http://www.trca.on.ca/dotAsset/221054.pdf .
- Toronto Youth Food Policy Council. (n.d.). Who we are: Youth Food Movement. https://tyfpc.ca/whoweare/youthfoodmovement/
- Town, D. (2016) *Orillia's Civil War 1832-1836*. Orillia, Ontario: Self Published at Impression House.
- Trelstad, B. (1997). Little Machines in Their Gardens: A History of School Gardens in America, 1891 to 1920. *Landscape Journal*, 16, 161 173.
- Trent University. (n.d.). The Learning Garden.
 - https://www.trentu.ca/education/alternative-settings-placement/learning-garden
- Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015). Honouring the Truth, Reconciling for the Future: Summary of the Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Canada: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Tuck, E., & Yang, K. W. (2012). Decolonization is not a metaphor. *Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society, 1*(1). http://resolver.scholarsportal.info/resolve/19298692/v01i0001/nfp_dinam.xml
- University of Toronto. (n.d.). Welcome to the OISE Community Learning Garden!. https://www.oise.utoronto.ca/ese/OISE Learning Garden/
- Ürey, M., Çepný, S., Köðce, D. & Yildiz. C. (2013). An Investigation on the Effects of the Interdisciplinary School Garden Program Developed Within the Scope of Free Activities Course on Mathematics Objectives. *Journal of Turkish Science Education*, 10(3).
- UT Nutrition Institute. (n.d.). SproUTing Teachers is bringing their classrooms outdoors with sustainable school gardening. UT Nutrition Institute. Retrieved August 8, 2022, from https://utnutritioninstitute.org/whats-fresh/sprouting-teachers-bringing-their-classrooms-outdoors-sustainable-school-gardening
- Vancouver School District. (2018). DISTRICT GARDENS PROCESS. Administrative

- Procedure 209 Appendix.
- https://www.vsb.bc.ca/District/Departments/Office_of_the_Superintendent/Administrative-Procedures-
- Manual/Administrative%20Procedures%20Manual%20Library/Section%20200/AP_209_zAppendix District Gardens Process.pdf
- VanDusen. (n.d.). *Teacher Professional Development*. VanDusen Botanical Garden. https://vandusengarden.org/learn/teacher-pro-d/
- Waite, R. (1915). How I became interested in agriculture. OAC Review, v.27, no. 10, July 1915, p.452-454.
- Waite, S. (2011). Teaching and learning outside the classroom: personal values, alternative pedagogies and standards. *Education 3-13, 39(1), 65–82.* https://doi.org/10.1080/03004270903206141
- Wake, S. (2008). 'In the best interests of the child': Juggling the geography of children's gardens (between adult agendas and children's needs). *Children's Geographies*. 6. 423-435. 10.1080/14733280802338122.
- Walter, P. (2013). Theorising community gardens as pedagogical sites in the food movement. *Environmental Education Research*, 19(4), 521–539. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2012.709824
- Webb, S., Diaz, J., & Campbell, C. (2018). *Understanding the barriers for school garden success: Expert consensus to guide extension programming* (WC135). Gainesville: University of Florida Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences. Retrieved October 30th, 2019, from https://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/wc315
- Weldon, I., & Parkhurst, J. (2022). Governing evidence use in the nutrition policy process: evidence and lessons from the 2020 Canada food guide. Nutrition Reviews, 80(3), 467–478. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuab105
- Wells, N., Myers, B., & Henderson, C. (2014). Study protocol: effects of school gardens on children's physical activity. *Archives of Public Health*, 72(1), 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-3258-72-43
- White, M. M. (2018). Freedom farmers: Agricultural resistance and the Black freedom movement. UNC Press Books.
- White, R. (2018, March 19). *Indigenous Seed Sovereignty*. Retrieved from http://sierraseeds.org/seed-rematriation/).
- Williams, D. (2015). Regenerative Hope: Pedagogy of Action and Agency in the Learning Gardens. *Journal of Sustainability Education*, 1. Retrieved from http://www.jsedimensions.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/Williams-JSE-Nov-2015-Hope-Issue-PDF.pdf
- Williams, D.R., & Dixon, P.S. (2013). Impact of garden-based learning on academic outcomes in schools. *Review of Educational Research*, 83, 211-235.
- Wiseman, F. (2018). Seven Sisters and the Heritage Food Systems of the Wabanaki People and of the Chesapeake Bay Region. Thomasburg, Ontario. Earth Haven Learning Centre.
- Wolsey, & Lapp, D. (2014). School Gardens: Situating Students Within a Global Context. *Journal of Education (Boston, Mass.)*, 194(3), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/002205741419400306
- Wright, W., & Rowell, L. (2010). Examining the effect of gardening on vegetable consumption among youth in kindergarten through fifth grade. *WMJ*: official publication of the State Medical Society of Wisconsin, 109(3), 125–129.

- Yu, F. (2012). School garden sustainability: major challenges to the long-term maintenance and success of school garden programs. (Master's thesis). University of Delaware. Newark. United States of America.
- Zandvliet, D. (2019). Ecological education via "islands of discourse": teacher education at the intersection of culture and environment. *Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education*. 22. 1-13. 10.1007/s42322-019-00037-3.
- Zhai, J., & Dillon, J. (2014). Communicating science to students: Investigating professional botanic garden educators' talk during guided school visits. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 51(4), 407–429. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21143

List of Tables

Table 1.

Who taught the teachers?

GBE	Parent (s)	Grandparent (s) / Other	<u>Job</u>	Informal Learning	<u>Certification</u>
В	Mom, Dad.	•	•	Inspired by west- coast gardening author Linda Gilkeson.	Master Gardener Certificate
С	-	-	Worked & volunteered on organic farms and community gardens.	Self-taught as a child / Garden as teacher. Inspired by Phoebe Dunbar, local community food organizer.	Permaculture Design Course (through Oregon State University).
D	Mom	Grandparents / Aunt	Worked on organic farms.	Inspired by popular market gardener/farmers/ authors: Jean-Martin Fortier & Curtis Stone. Influenced by books (Hervé-Gruyer, 2016; Mollison, 1994).	-
Е	Parents, Dad	-	-	-	Horticulture Certificate
F	Mom, Family Farm	-	-	As an adult - learning on the internet	-
G	Mom	-	-	Professional Learning Community of Garden-Based Educators, "The Land."	Master Gardener Certificate
Н	-	Grandmother	Started landscaping company, worked on CSA farms	-	-

J	-	Grandmother	-	-	Master Gardener Certificate (via US Master Gardener
					program)

Table 2.

Current Role as Garden-Based Educator.

GBE	Educator (Public)	Garden-Educator (Public)	Non Profit	Educator (Private School)
В	-	Outdoor Classroom and School Gardening Teacher (Elementary)	-	-
С	-	-	-	Independent School Educator (Pre-K to Gr.8)
D	Classroom teacher (Elementary)	-	-	-
Е	-	-	Executive Director	-
F	Experiential Teacher / Vice Principal (Elementary)	-	-	-
G	-	Part-time Outdoor Classroom and School Gardening Teacher (Elementary) / Educational Consultant/Research	-	-
Н	Classroom teacher (Elementary)	-	-	-
J	-	-	Program Coordinator	-

Table 3.

GBL Primary/Secondary Goals.

GBE	Joy	Nature Connection & Steward - ship	Horti - cultural Skills	Academic/ Curriculum	Health & Well Being	Other	
В	1	2	-	-	2	-	
С	-	2	2	2	2	1: "Student Engagement & Curiosity"	
D	1	2	2	-	2	2: "Economic Self Sufficiency"	
Е	2	1	2	2	2	2: Teamwork. "Fostering empathy/ caring"."tremendous impact on their sense of agency."	
F	2	2	2	-	2	1: "Student-Centered Goals"	
G	1	2	1	2	2	2: Building healthy relationships to place, each other. Gardens well utilized by all teachers.	
Н	1	-	-	2	2	2: Successful program is "Sustainable"	
J	-	-	1	-	-	2: Self-confidence, Relationship building between participants (Indigenous / Non Indigenous), the Land/Gardens/Community	

Note. 1= Main, 2=Secondary.

Table 4.

What does success look like and how do you measure it?

GBE	Student Feedback (Verbal/ Written)	Parent Feedback	Food Production	Other
В	Students attentive, having fun, laughing, smiling, happy, talking about it afterwards.	-	•	Photos and Video. Feedback from other teachers.
С	Student engagement. Establishing benchmarks based on Ontario curriculum (social studies, environmental citizenship streams.)	_	-	Programs engage full cycle: planting, harvesting, cooking.
D	Student engagement. Happiness Survey for students (does not exist but proposed it).	"parents say they really love it"	"people feeding themselves, their communities"	Food Behavioural changes at home and in the community (with policy changes), Carbon/Environmental Impacts
Е	Students of the program returning to work for the organization in the future.	-	Depends on goals. Food produced "actually" feeds students/families.	Students more likely to try new foods. "Repeat customers" - teachers return to the program.
F	Students preparing learning goals ahead of time, checking when complete. Likert Scale 1-5 based on self-assessment, teacher observations.	Heard from parents how it impacted children.	If that's the need/goal set by students.	-
G	Garden is joyfully utilized by students and teachers.	-	Explicitly not a measure of success.	-
Н	Verbal questions for students, Written assessments, drawings.	-	-	Triangulate data, successful programs have all the resources they need. Support is success.

GBE	Student Feedback (Verbal/ Written)	Parent Feedback	Food Production	Other
J	Student feedback, expressed throughout program duration including outgoing surveys, quantitative (lbs produced, \$ income) qualitative (experiences of participants).	-	"we track the amount of food that we grew by weight."	-

Table 5.

Existing Avenues of Support.

GBE	Formal Teacher Training (B.Ed.)	Ongoing Professional Development (PD) (Workshops, PD Days, Professional Learning Community (PLC), etc)	Trial & Error (TE) / In Person Community	Online	Internal Org. Support	External Funding / Other
В	B. Ed., not relevant.	PLC. Master Gardener Course.	TE (via gardening clubs; Botanical Gardens, ecology groups)	-	Supportive colleagues, principal, policy.	Funding, Kits
С	No B.Ed. Degree in Env. Studies	Permaculture Design, Food and Environment Course	TE, Community gardens.	Curriculum resources.	-	Funds for infrastructure
D	B.Ed., not relevant.	PLC (google group)	TE, books, local community garden groups.	-	Noted lack of support, except small boxes.	
Е	No B.Ed.	Facilitated Teacher Training. See "Resources" for list of affiliated working groups.	TE, networking with other Toronto groups.	"SGSO" - Google Group, archived webinars.	Very supportive board of directors.	Canada Summer Jobs. Aboriginal education center @ TDSB
F	B.Ed., M.Ed. exp. ed. applied to GBL.	Partnership with a local GBE/Farmer.	TE.	GBL resources online	Student Success program for at risk youth, exp. farm trips. Unpredictable support.	Grants for exp. education through school board. Green Apple Grant.
G	B.Ed., not	Master Gardener training. PLC.	TE.	Extensive network of	District piloted fully	Grants for infrastructure

GBE	Formal Teacher Training (B.Ed.)	Ongoing Professional Development (PD) (Workshops, PD Days, Professional Learning Community (PLC), etc)	Trial & Error (TE) / In Person Community	Online	Internal Org. Support	External Funding / Other
	relevant. PhD student in Ed.	Offers professional GBL training and resources for teachers. Job-share with fellow GBE.		online links (web & twitter).	outdoor garden - teacher position. PAC funding.	, resources. See "Resources" section for list of funders.
Н	B.Ed., not relevant.	Doesn't attend on weekends, suggesting they are not valued by the School Board.	TE. As a consultant & landscaper, from parents and private businesses, it is easier in a small town.	-	Admin. could be more supportive. School board out of touch.	Grants easy to access.
J	B.Ed. special garden project.	Attended two conferences on Land-Based Learning, GBE. University of Saskatoon's Master Gardener Program.	TE. Backyard garden, tours, community gardens. City-wide gardening/urban space committee. Local food bank, seed companies. Seeds of Diversity. U of S programs.	Facebook groups (see Resources for list).	Support with admin, HR, PR, funding.	Canada Summer Jobs grant

Note: See "Resources" section for a listing of these and other resources.

Table 6.
Support Desired.

GBE	Dedicated Garden Educators	Funding/Resources	Kits	Professional Development	Admin/ Staff/ Community Support
В	Designated school garden teacher / consultant (districtwide).	School garden start- up fund. Funding for ongoing GBL supplies.	Learning kits for related subjects, outdoor learning.	PD days focused on GBL/outdoor education.	Garden at every school.
С	-	Bursary for training Garden-based educators. More paid hours in gardens, capital funding for building projects.	-	Special training for GBE and nutrition training.	-
D	Partnering with local farmers and gardeners to host field trips/support teachers.	Prov. funds to share knowledge between farmers/ gardeners and local schools/communities including field trips at local farms. Make land more accessible for these programs.	A bank / booklet of curriculum inspired lesson plans.	An active and local professional learning community.	Protocol/ Policy in place to support school gardens, simple garden application form.
Е	School garden teacher / consultant (district-wide). "Itinerant Garden Educator". Having low GBE - Student ratios so every child can experience the garden (not waiting in line).	Funding for transportation to farms/off school gardens. Funding from the school board to scale the program. Relationship building and then funding for Indigenous Elders. Publicly (Municipal) funded GBL programs.	-	More Indigenous and climate change content.	Garden at every school.
F	School garden teacher / consultant	Grants to support exp. GBL (especially	Curriculum based GBL	Gardening logistics (crop	More partnership

GBE	Dedicated Garden Educators	Funding/Resources	Kits	Professional Development	Admin/ Staff/ Community Support
	(district-wide).	for field trips to inspiring farms/gardens).	kits to support teacher adoption of programming.	planning) for successful harvests (don't want kids to only exp. loss). More engaged colleagues.	opportunities.
G	School garden teacher / consultant (district-wide).	Irrigation (especially for summer).	Kits coordinated by a district resource person.	Better understanding risky play (ex. through risk- benefit analyses).	Community support for summer - takes time to build an ethic of care.
Н	Integrate GBL through roles such as a planning time / health teacher.	Sturdy shed that can't be vandalized.	-	PD during school hours (teachers compensated - not out of pocket).	Admin should be more interested in the educational aspects (if not interested in gardening).
J	-	-	Curriculum based garden education kits.	Focus on building confidence/ not necessarily garden-related knowledge.	Inter-prov. networking, virtual knowledge exchange. Dedicated core group of at least 4 people.

Resources

NOTE: This is not an exhaustive list of resources - merely a list of resources, loosely organized, uncovered during interviews and additional research.

Funding Sources

- TD Friends of the Environment
- Whole Kids Foundation
- Learning for a Sustainable Future Action Project Funding
- West Coast Seeds Seed Donation Program
- Canada Summer Jobs
- Green Apple Grant (Metro)
- Nutrients For Life

School Garden Resources, How to Guides, Best Practices, Activities and Lesson Plans

- Educational Food Landscapes: <u>Developing Design Guidelines for School Gardens</u> Elizabeth Nowatschin's Master of Landscape Architecture thesis (2014)
- Nutrients For Life. (2022). *Learning Gardens: A Guide for Canadian educators, 2022 Edition*. https://nutrientsforlife.ca/pdf/learning-gardens-manual.pdf
- Agriculture in the Classroom Canada Curriculum Linked Resources
- Community Garden Council of Waterloo Region Scan and Overview of School Gardens
- <u>Just Food: An open-access educational resource for integrating agriculture, food systems, and anti-oppression into K--12 curriculum</u> (via BC Teachers Federation)
- Just Food Educational Resource https://justfood.landfood.ubc.ca/
- Ontario Edible Education Network Action Plan (Sustain Ontario)
- FAO Setting up and running a school garden: A <u>MANUAL</u> FOR TEACHERS, PARENTS AND COMMUNITIES
- Eartheasy. (n.d). *How to Start a School Garden: Your Complete Guide*.
- <u>SPEC'S School Garden Start-up Guide</u> (Society Promoting Environmental Conservation, BC)

- A year of school food garden activities via Evergreen
- Curated list of school garden resources by the Vancouver School Board
- A Guide to School Gardens Durham Region Health Department
- Getting Started with Garden-Based Learning: <u>An Introductory Guide</u> for Program Leaders/Educators (Cornell University)
- Life Lab An Extensive Collection of School Garden Resources etc.
- Growing School and Youth Gardens in New York City: A Guide to Resources (2009)
- Start A School Food Garden via Healthy Eating at School
- GARDENING ACTIVITY GUIDE Natural Learning Initiative, NC State University
- Virtual Programs Michigan State University
- Example of a 4-acre Children's Garden
- Growing Schools LifeCyles, Victoria BC
- Edible Schoolyard Project
- <u>The Greenhouse</u> is your one stop shop for school garden activities & curriculum from Big Green, our partners, & beyond.
- Kids Gardening (Vermont) Lesson Plans, Activities
- Food, Mathematics, and Science Teaching Enhancement Resource
- Collective School Garden Network (CSGN) <u>Curriculum Resources</u>
- <u>The Food Project</u> <u>Collection of Manuals</u> for Youth Agriculture Programs
- FoodShare Toronto Youth Written Curriculum (Webinar Series), Sample raised bed designs and budget
- Planting Charts, Activities
- Online Groups, Social Media accounts/influencers with free content
 - Vegetable Academy (Facebook)
 - o Needs and Yields (Facebook)
 - o Peer to Peer Support
 - o https://www.teacherspayteachers.com/

- o https://community.kidsgardening.org/home
- Garden Science Tech
 - o https://foldscope.com/
- Collections of Historical Literature
 - <u>Library</u> of historical school garden texts >100 years old (University of Pennsylvania)
 - School Garden Collection of Resources >100 years old (Michigan State University)

Formal Teacher Training (B.Ed.)

- Programs / Courses
 - UBC Farm
 - OISE Community Learning Garden (UofT)
 - •

Ongoing Professional Development

- Other Certifications
 - Master Gardeners
 - Master Gardeners of Ontario
 - Master Gardeners Association of British Columbia
 - Master Gardener Certificate from University of Saskatchewan
- Conferences / Workshops / Modules / Events
 - Life Lab PD for Garden-Based Educators
- Professional Learning Communities
- Formal (membership)
 - Teachers Associations
 - Council of Outdoor Educators of Ontario (COEO)
 - Ontario Society for Environmental Educators (OSEE),
 - Columbia Basin Environmental Network (CBEEN)
 - Environmental Educators Provincial Specialist Association (EEPSA)
 - Cornell Garden-Based Learning
 - School Garden Support Organization Network (SGSO Network)
- Informal
 - Online Communities
 - Facebook Groups

Community Organizations & Networks (Canada)

• City-wide/Neighbourhood Community Non-Profit Groups

- GTA- https://www.greenthumbsto.org/
- Ottawa -Growing Up Organic is a garden based educational program for children and youth, delivered by COG OSO in the City of Ottawa. A part of the Ottawa School Food Network.
- Kingston Loving Spoonful's GROW Project
- Victoria https://lifecyclesproject.ca/our-projects/growing-schools/
- Provincial Groups
 - Ontario
 - Ontario Edible Education Network
 - BC
 - https://spec.bc.ca/school-gardens/
- National (Canadian)
 - Coalition for Healthy School Food
 - Seeds of Diversity
- Indigenous
 - https://www.tdsb.on.ca/Community/Indigenous-Education
 - Indigenous affiliated
 - https://earthtotables.org/about/
- International
 - USA, West Coast
 - "Collective School Garden Network" http://www.csgn.org/steps
 - Life Labs
 - City Sprouts Boston
- Parent Council Groups
- Institutional Partnerships
 - Health Units, Municipalities
 - Saskatoon Compost Coaches
- Support (For-Profit)
 - GBL Educational Consultants
 - https://theclassroomgardener.com/
 - Edible / Landscape designers

Policy Statements

- Board policies
 - SCDSB Policy 2325 Environmental Policy.
 - Development and Maintenance of School Food Gardens <u>Procedure</u> Limestone School Board
 - DISTRICT GARDENS PROCESS Vancouver School Board
- Board Guidelines
 - Richmond BC "Grounds Greening Guidelines"
 - School Food Garden Checklist West Vancouver

- Board Statements
- SCDSB <u>"Environmental Initiatives"</u>
 Provincial Policy/Statements
- - o Nova Scotia
- National Food Policy Statements
 - o Resetting the Table: A People's Food Policy for Canada (Food Secure Canada)

Appendices

Appendix A: Certificate of Completion for the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans Course on Research Ethics (TCPS 2: CORE)



Appendix B: Invitation and informed consent form for interview

Jacob Kearey-Moreland, M.Ed. Candidate, Lakehead University, Orillia

Title of Research: Growing Garden-Based Educators

Information and Consent Letter for Educators

Hello,

My name is Jacob Kearey-Moreland and I am a Masters of Education student at Lakehead University (Orillia). I am currently engaged in my thesis research project looking at the influence of educator-supports on the success of garden-based learning (GBL). Of particular interest to me is your experience and perspective as a garden-based educator. In this context I invite you to participate in an in depth, semi-structured phone interview. Specifically, I want to know what kinds of support you have found (or wish to find) at all stages of your professional development and how these supports have defined and prepared you for success.

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. Before agreeing to participate or not please carefully review this letter. If you have any study-related questions please let me know.

The purpose of this study is threefold:

- 1. As a requirement of the Master of Education program within the Social Justice specialization, I am compelled to conduct primary research and complete a thesis demonstrating my understanding and grasp of educational research, theory, and practice specifically relating to and advancing social justice.
- 2. To connect with, listen to and learn from local garden-based educators to illuminate and improve upon existing support systems to cultivate successful garden-based learning initiatives.
- 3. To produce research that is relevant, empowering and of benefit to participants and the wider community.

Method of Data Collection

The primary method for the collection of data is an in depth semi-structured phone interview. Participation Details

Participation in the individual interview is expected to last approximately one hour. I plan to record the individual interviews so that I will be able to revisit all of the responses for analysis.

There is no financial incentive to participate in this research, however, I expect that you would see critical discussion of your practice and participation in a community of practice as a valuable incentive. I do not foresee any physical, financial, legal, or major social risks associated with your participation in this research. However, it is possible that there may be emotional or psychological risks involved with an in depth reflection of your role as a garden-based educator. Should you experience emotional or psychological injury during the interview I will be available afterwards if you would like to debrief further. If you would prefer to speak with someone else I would recommend you to the Catholic Family Services of Simcoe County, for a free single session, non-denominational counselling service in Orillia which you can contact at 705-726-2503.

I will not be using or asking to use participant names in the final presentations. Where necessary, pseudonyms may be used in place of actual names. Only myself and my supervisor will have access to the primary data gathered for this study, and I aim to provide confidentiality

at all times to the best of my ability. It is expected that identifying information shared within the context of the interview remains confidential.

I will store all original data including consent forms and transcripts I collect in a USB in a locked box, within the office of my supervisor, Dr. Michael Hoechsmann. The data will be stored for a minimum of 5 years following completion of the project. I plan to use this data for a research project that may enable future academic publications and presentations. Your identity will not align with any of the perspectives you provide for this research for any ensuing publications and/or presentations.

You do not have to participate, and are free to withdraw whenever without prejudice. You will face no negative consequences if you do not participate, or for providing negative responses. If you do not feel comfortable with a question during the interview, you do not have to answer it. If you would like to withdraw from this study at any time you may let me know in person, by email, or by phone (see below).

Dissemination of findings

Upon completion of the research I will gladly email a copy of the final paper and any related production that includes your contributions, and invite you to a virtual presentation of the results, or depending upon public health restrictions, an in person presentation. The final paper will also be available digitally, for free public access through Lakehead University's Knowledge Commons.

This research is being supervised by Dr. Michael Hoechsmann who can be reached at mhoechsm@lakeheadu.ca or 1 (705) 330-4008 ext. 2640. This study has been reviewed and approved by the Lakehead University Research Ethics Board. If you have any questions related to the ethics of the research and would like to speak to someone other than me, please contact Sue Wright at the Research Ethics Board at 807-343-8283 or research@lakeheadu.ca.

Please contact me if you have any further questions.

If you would like to confirm your participation in this study, please complete the attached Consent form and send it to me at kearey-morelandj@lakeheadu.ca.

Thanks for considering participating in this study, and for your on-growing work! Jacob Kearey-Moreland,

M.Ed. Student, Faculty of Education Lakehead University, Orillia 1 Colborne Street West Orillia, ON L3V 7X5 705-309-9669

kearey-morelandj@lakeheadu.ca

I agree to the following:

- I have read and understand the Information and Consent Letter
- I agree to participate
- I understand the risks and benefits to the study
- That I am a volunteer and can withdraw from the study at any time and may choose not to answer any question
- The data will be securely stored in the researcher's private laptop and/or a password protected google drive for at least 5 years following completion of the research project
- I understand that the research findings will be made available to me upon request
- The data I provide will be known to the researcher, but my identity will remain anonymous in any subsequent publications or presentations
- All of my questions have been answered

By consenting to participate, I have not waived any rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm.

Consent for individual interview:

I have read and agreed to the above information and by completing this form, I agree	to
participate in the individual interview portion of this research including the use of au	dio taping.

Name:	 	
Signature:		
Date:		

Appendix C: Interview questionnaire template

Interview Questions for Garden-Based Educators

Interviewer: Jacob Kearey-Moreland

Note: (time in minutes) is listed in red font next to each section to give the interviewer a guide for how long each should take to cover all sections while keeping within the planned time frame.

Set up: On the date of the interview prepare a half hour early to ensure a private and quiet location for the phone interview. Test the microphone and audio recorder(s) ahead of time and before the interview to ensure they are working. Once the interviewee is ready, move to the

"Introduction Script".

Introduction Script (< 5): Hello and thank you for agreeing to participate in this interview! As outlined in the invitation, this interview is part of my Master of Education Research looking into what ways can support for educators influence the success of garden-based learning (GBL)? This interview discussion should last less than 1 hour. You are free to take a break whenever you like or at any time end your participation. This interview will be recorded and transcribed for analysis. You are encouraged to answer honestly and fully and whichever questions you feel comfortable answering. Everything you say is meaningful for the purpose of this research. Do you have any questions before we begin?

Part 1. Context of Garden-based learning (15).

- 1. Do you consider yourself a garden-based educator?
 - a. Why not?
 - b. If so, how did you first begin to see yourself as such?
- 2. How would you describe your gardening experiences?
 - a. As a learner?
 - b. Who were your garden teachers?
 - c. And as an educator?
- 3. Can you describe any other examples of GBL you are familiar with?
 - a. How have these examples influenced your practice?
- 4. Describe your current role and responsibilities as a garden-based educator?
 - a. What is the garden like?
 - b. What are the students like?
 - c. What types of activities do you do with them in the garden?
 - d. How do you think the garden affects them?

Part 2. Defining Success? (15).

- 1. What do you consider to be your main goals as a garden-based educator?
 - a. What are some of your other goals?
- 2. What does success look like?
 - a. How do you measure success?

Part 3. Documenting Supports for Educators (20):

- 1. Describe the kinds of support you have received as a garden-based educator.
 - a. In formal teacher training?
 - b. Professional development?
 - c. Personal experience?
 - d. Community support?
 - e. Support from your organization?
 - f. Any other types of support you can think of?
- 2. How would you like to improve your practice as a garden-based educator?
 - a. What are your main challenges?
- 3. What kinds of support would you like access to as a garden-based educator?
 - a. Why would this support improve your success?
- 4. Do you have anything else you'd like to add?

Conclusion Script (< 5 minutes): Thank you for your participation in this interview. Your time is appreciated! You will be receiving a follow up invitation to join fellow participants in a focus group discussion to build upon the questions and insights gathered today. I will let you know when the study has concluded and if you'd like, I can share with you a copy of it.

Appendix D: Email Invitation

Hello,

My name is Jacob Kearey-Moreland and I am a Masters of Education student at Lakehead University (Orillia). I am currently engaged in my thesis research project looking at the influence of educator-supports on the success of garden-based learning (GBL). Of particular interest to me is your experience and perspective as a garden-based educator. In this context I invite you to join me for an in depth, semi-structured phone or virtual interview. Specifically, I want to know what kinds of support you have found (or wish to find) at all stages of your professional development and how these supports have defined and prepared you for success.

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. Before agreeing to participate or not please carefully review the attached information and consent letter. If you have any study-related questions, please let me know. I can be reached via email at kearey-morelandj@lakeheadu.ca or by phone at 705 309 9669.

Thank you for your time and consideration, Jacob Kearey-Moreland

Appendix E: Social Media Interview Invitation

Attention garden-based educators!

My name is Jacob Kearey-Moreland and I am a Masters of Education student at Lakehead University (Orillia). I am currently engaged in my thesis research project looking at the influence of educator-supports on the success of garden-based learning (GBL). Of particular interest to me is your experience and perspective as a garden-based educator. In this context I invite you to participate in an in depth, semi-structured phone interview. Specifically, I want to know what kinds of support you have found (or wish to find) at all stages of your professional development and how these supports have defined and prepared you for success.

If you are interested in participating please send me an email at <u>kearey-morelandj@lakeheadu.ca</u> to learn more!

Image attached to social media posting for visual appeal. Image title "Lakehead Volunteer Sunflower" photo credit: Jacob Kearey-Moreland

